Agenda

3

aa a

OXFORD
CITY
COUNCIL

www.oxford.gov.uk

Planning - Oxford City Planning

Committee

This meeting will be held on:

Date: Tuesday 18 November 2025
Time: 6.00 pm
Place: Long Room - Oxford Town Hall

For further information please contact:

Uswah Khan, Committee and Member Services Officer, Committee
Services Officer

@ 01865529117 >4 DemocraticServices@oxford.gov.uk

Members of the public can attend to observe this meeting and.

e may register in advance to speak to the committee in accordance with the
committee’s rules

e may record all or part of the meeting in accordance with the Council’s protocol
Information about speaking and recording is set out in the agenda and on the website

Please contact the Committee Services Officer to register to speak; to discuss
recording the meeting; or with any other queries.

View or subscribe to updates for agendas, reports and minutes at
mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk.
All public papers are available from the calendar link to this meeting once published



https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20169/council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20236/getting_involved_at_council_meetings

Committee Membership
Councillors: Membership 11: Quorum 5: substitutes are permitted.

Councillor Mary Clarkson Marston;
Councillor Laurence Fouweather Cutteslowe & Sunnymead;
Councillor Mohammed Altaf-Khan Headington;
Councillor David Henwood Rose Hill & Iffley;
Councillor Alex Hollingsworth Carfax & Jericho;
Councillor Jemima Hunt St Clement's;
Councillor Dianne Regisford Holywell;
Councillor Anna Railton Hinksey Park;
Councillor Louise Upton Walton Manor;
Councillor Ajaz Rehman Lye Valley;
Councillor Emily Kerr St Mary's;

Apologies and notification of substitutes received before the publication are shown
under Apologies for absence in the agenda. Those sent after publication will be
reported at the meeting. Substitutes for the Chair and Vice-chair do not take on these
roles.

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Agenda

Pages

Planning applications - background papers and
additional information

To see representations, full plans, and supplementary information
relating to applications on the agenda, please click here and enter the
relevant Planning Reference number in the box.

Any additional information received following the publication of this
agenda will be reported and summarised at the meeting.

Apologies for absence
Declarations of interest

Minutes 15-20

Recommendation: to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 7
October 2025 as a true and accurate record.

24/02890/FUL Hertford and Exeter College Playing Fields | 21-84

Site address: Hertford And Exeter College Sports Grounds, Edgeway
Road, Oxford, Oxfordshire

Proposal: The upgrade of existing pitches and addition of new sports
facilities including a light weight canopy and enclosure housing padel
tennis courts, outdoor padel courts, cricket nets and the creation of a
new basketball and netball hard surface court together with associated
fencing. The refurbishment of Exeter Cricket Pavilion and Hertford
Cricket Pavilion. Alterations to Exeter squash courts for use as a golf
simulator and the change of use of Hertford squash courts to café,
changing facilities, sports hub reception area and community facilities

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX


http://public.oxford.gov.uk/online-applications/

with associated access, parking, cycle parking, refuse and recycling,
new footpaths and landscape.

Reason at Committee: Major development
RECOMMENDATION
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1. Refuse the application for the reasons given in paragraph 2 of
this report and to delegate authority to the Director of Planning
and Regulation to:

« finalise the reasons for refusal including such refinements,
amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

2. The recommended reasons for refusal are as follows:

* The proposed padel enclosure would fail to preserve the
openness of the Green Belt and would conflict with the
purpose of including land within it. The proposals amount
to inappropriate development in the Green Belt where no
exceptions apply. There are no very special
circumstances to allow such inappropriate development in
the Green Belt. As such the proposals are contrary to
Policies G1 and G3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and
Chapter 13 of the NPPF.

« The application site includes extensive areas of Flood
Zone 3b (the functional floodplain) in which only water-
compatible development is permitted. The proposed car
park, golf simulator and ‘hall’ in the Exeter Pavillion are
not deemed water compatible under Annex 3 of the NPPF
and therefore these uses are inappropriate. The proposed
padel enclosure fails to comply with the sequential test,
the Flood Risk Assessment fails to consider how people
will be kept safe from the identified flood hazards, and it
also fails to take the impacts of climate change into
account. The proposals are contrary to Policy RE3 of the
Oxford Local Plan 2036, Chapter 14 of the NPPF, and the
Flood Risk and Coastal Change Planning Practice
Guidance.

» The proposed drainage strategy fails to clarify whether the
design incorporates lining to all detention/attenuation

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



features which is required to avoid a reduction in storage
volume due to high groundwater levels. There are vague
suggestions of bunding proposed to protect attenuation
features in flood risk areas, however they have not been
fully detailed. In addition the submission fails to confirm
that the Applicant is the riparian owner of the land where
two headwalls are proposed to discharge into the
Peasmoor Brook, and insufficient detail has been provided
to demonstrate how this would operate in times of flooding
with reference to levels. Overall the submission fails to
demonstrate that the drainage strategy proposed complies
with Policy RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

* Due to the size, mass and height of the padel enclosure,
and the height of the proposed lighting and fencing
structures associated with the intensification of use, the
proposed development would detract from the setting of
the existing building group on the site and their
significance as Local Heritage Assets, the remote and
peaceful character of the sports fields, the surrounding
green spine and neighbouring Local Heritage Asset
known as New Marston Meadows. The proposals would
cause a high level of less than substantial harm to the
setting of the identified heritage assets. The cumulative
moderate level of public benefits derived from the
proposed development would not outweigh the harm
caused, and as such the proposals conflict with Policies
RE2, DH1 and DHS5 of the Local Plan and Chapter 16 of
the NPPF.

« The application site is located on the edge of the River
Cherwell floodplain, adjacent to the relict channel of the
Peasmoor Brook, where there is potential for prehistoric
and Roman activity. Given the site on which development
is proposed includes or has the potential to include
heritage assets with archaeological interest, the Local
Planning Authority require the developer to submit an
appropriate field evaluation. In the absence of an
archaeological evaluation, insufficient information has
been submitted with the application to establish the
significance of the heritage assets at this site, and as such
the submission fails to demonstrate compliance with

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Paragraph 207 of the NPPF and Policy DH4 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036.

* The energy statement submitted claims that the proposed
padel enclosure would be exempt from Part L Building
Regulations and therefore claim the proposed padel
enclosure would not need to achieve at least a 40%
reduction in the carbon emissions compared with a 2013
building regulations compliance base case in accordance
with the requirements of Policy RE1. No evidence has
been submitted with the application however to confirm
this from a building control inspector and therefore in the
absence of such the submission fails to demonstrate that
the proposals comply with Policy RE1 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

» The acoustic assessment fails to consider the noise which
would be emitted from the proposed air source heat
pumps on sensitive receptors and local amenity. In the
absence of any assessment, the submission fails to
demonstrate how the air source heat pumps would not
result in any detrimental impacts in relation to noise and
disturbance and therefore fails to demonstrate compliance
with Policies RE7 and RES8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

25/02197/FUL 15 Halliday Hill 85 - 106

Site address: 15 Halliday Hill, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX3 9PY

Proposal: Sub-division of existing dwelling to create 2 x 1 bed flats
(Use Class C3). Alterations to fenestration. Provision of private amenity
space, bin and bike stores. (amended description and plans).

Reason at Committee: Applicant is a Councillor
RECOMMENDATION
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and
subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12
of this report and grant planning permission.

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



7

Regulation to:

+ finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this
report including such refinements, amendments, additions
and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and
Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

25/00823/FUL 11 Glebelands

Site address: 11 Glebelands, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX3 7EL

Proposal: Demolition of existing detached garage and existing rear
extension. Erection of a part single, part two storey rear extension.
Erection of a two storey side extension. (Amended description and
amended plans).

Reason at Committee: Delegated Application called in by Councillors
Rehman, Miles, Harley, Stares, Azad and Henwood for reasons of
potential impact on the Lye Valley nature reserve, over development
and massing of site, change of street scene and loss of semidetached
appearance.

RECOMMENDATION
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and
subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12
of this report and grant planning permission; and

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and
Regulation to:

« finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this
report including such refinements, amendments, additions
and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and
Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

* and issue the planning permission.

25/01749/FUL 8 Dunstan Road

Site address: 8 Dunstan Road, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX3 9BY

Services has issued the formal decision notice.
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX

107 -
124

125 -
134

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory



Proposal: Provision of cycle storage (part-retrospective).

Reason at Committee: The application has been submitted by a
Councillor.

RECOMMENDATION
Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and
subject to the required planning conditions set out in section 12
of this report and grant planning permission; and

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and
Regulation to:

+ finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this
report including such refinements, amendments, additions
and/or deletions as the Head Director of Planning and
Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

Forthcoming applications

Items currently expected to be considered by the committee at future
meetings are listed for information. This is not a definitive list and
applications may be added or removed at any point. These are not for
discussion at this meeting.

22/03078/FUL: Land Bounded by Meadow Lane and Major
Church Way, Oxford

23/00988/FUL.: Bertie Place Recreation Ground and Major
Land South West of Wytham Street, Oxford

23/01001/CT3: Tumbling Bay, Head of Bulstake Stream, |Called in
Botley Road, Oxford

24/01104/FUL: 35 Ash Grove, Oxford OX3 9JN Called in

25/01859/OUTFUL: Warneford Hospital, Warneford Major
Lane, Oxford, OX3 7JX

25/00813/0OUT: Land Adjacent The Iffley Academy, IffleyMajor
Turn, Oxford, OX4 4DU

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



25/01053/FUL: Oxfam, 2700 John Smith Drive, Oxford, [Major
OX4 2JY

24/02361/FUL: New Barclay House, 234 Botley Road, [Major
Oxford, OX2 OHP

25/00307/FUL: Oxford Sports Park, Oxford Road, Major
Horspath, Oxford, OX33 1RT

25/01588/FUL: Ozone Leisure Park, Grenoble Road Major

24/00318/FUL - Land To The North Of Goose Green Major
Lane, Oxford, Oxfordshire

23/01198/FUL - Unit 1, Ozone Leisure Park, Grenoble |[Major
Road, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX4 4XP

25/01126/FUL - Land Adjacent To Ivy Lane Oxford Called in
Oxfordshire OX3 9BN

25/01518/FUL - 54 Rose Hill Called in

25/02358/FUL - 11 Broadhead Place, OX3 9RE Called in — Clirs
Chapman,
Munkonge,
Ottino, Fry,
Pressel, Turner

25/02702/FUL - St Thomas's Nursery Called in — Clirs
Pressel, Brown,
Ottino, Taylor,
Railton, Smith

25/01788/FUL - Summertown House 369 Banbury Road|Called in — Clirs
Oxford Oxfordshire Fouweather,
Sandelson,
Goddard,
Smowton,
Miles, Gant

Dates of future meetings

Future meetings of the Committee are scheduled at 6.00pm on:
9 December 2025

20 January 2026

24 February 2026

Decisions come into effect after the post-meeting councillor call in period expires, or
after a called-in decision is reconsidered, and the Head of Planning and Regulatory
Services has issued the formal decision notice.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Information for those attending

Recording and reporting on meetings held in public

Members of public and press can record, or report in other ways, the parts of the meeting
open to the public. You are not required to indicate in advance but it helps if you notify the
Committee Services Officer prior to the meeting so that they can inform the Chair and
direct you to the best place to record.

The Council asks those recording the meeting:

e To follow the protocol which can be found on the Council’'s website

e Not to disturb or disrupt the meeting

¢ Not to edit the recording in a way that could lead to misinterpretation of the
proceedings. This includes not editing an image or views expressed in a way that may
ridicule or show a lack of respect towards those being recorded.

e To avoid recording members of the public present, even inadvertently, unless they are
addressing the meeting.

Please be aware that you may be recorded during your speech and any follow-up. If you
are attending please be aware that recording may take place and that you may be
inadvertently included in these.

The Chair of the meeting has absolute discretion to suspend or terminate any activities
that in his or her opinion are disruptive.

Councillors declaring interests
General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item
on the agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your® employment; sponsorship (ie payment for
expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your
election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s
area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be recorded in each
councillor's Register of Interests which is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting,
you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature as well as
the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having
declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and
must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of
Conduct says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never
improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and
that “you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be
questioned”. The matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a
whole and regard should continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

Members’ Code — Other Registrable Interests

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or
wellbeing** of one of your Other Registerable Interests*** then you must declare an

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX


https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1100/protocol_for_recording_at_public_meetings

interest. You must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and you must
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.

Members’ Code — Non Registrable Interests

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or
wellbeing (and does not fall under disclosable pecuniary interests), or the financial interest
or wellbeing of a relative or close associate, you must declare the interest.

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects your own financial interest or wellbeing,
a financial interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate or a financial interest or
wellbeing of a body included under Other Registrable Interests, then you must declare the
interest.

You must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the
room, if you answer in the affirmative to this test:

“Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being:

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of
inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it
would affect your view of the wider public interest You may speak on the matter
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting.”

Otherwise, you may stay in the room, take part in the discussion and vote.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member
her or himself but also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with
as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners.

** Wellbeing can be described as a condition of contentedness, healthiness and
happiness; anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, either positively
or negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing.

*** Other Registrable Interests: a) any unpaid directorships b) any Body of which you are a
member or are in a position of general control or management and to which you are
nominated or appointed by your authority ¢) any Body (i) exercising functions of a public
nature (ii) directed to charitable purposes or (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes
the influence of public opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of
which you are a member or in a position of general control or management.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Procedure for dealing with planning applications at the Oxford City
Planning Committee and Planning Review Committee

Planning controls the development and use of land in the public interest. Applications must
be determined in accordance with the Council’s adopted policies, unless material planning
considerations indicate otherwise. The Committee must be conducted in an orderly, fair
and impartial manner. Advice on bias, predetermination and declarations of interests is
available from the Monitoring Officer.

The following minimum standards of practice will be followed:

1. All members of the Committee will have pre-read the officers’ report. Committee
members are also encouraged to view any supporting material and to visit the site if
they feel that would be helpful. (In accordance with the guidance at 24.15 (Planning
Code of Practice) in the Council’'s Constitution).

2. At the meeting the Chair may draw attention to this procedure. The Chair may also
explain who is entitled to vote.

3. The sequence for each application discussed at Committee shall be as follows:
(a) the planning officer will introduce it with a short presentation;
(b) any objectors may speak for up to 5 minutes in total;
(c) any supporters may speak for up to 5 minutes in total;

(d) speaking times may be extended by the Chair, provided that equal time is given to
both sides. Any non-voting City Councillors and/or Parish and County Councillors
who may wish to speak for or against the application will have to do so as part of
the two 5-minute slots mentioned above;

(e) voting members of the Committee may raise questions (which shall be directed via
the Chair to the lead officer presenting the application, who may pass them to other
relevant officers and/or other speakers); and

(f) voting members will debate and determine the application.

4. In determining an application Committee members should not:
(a) rely on considerations which are not material planning considerations in law;
(b) question the personal integrity or professionalism of officers in public;

(c) proceed to a vote if minded to determine an application against officer’s
recommendation until the reasons for overturning the officer's recommendation
have been formulated including the reasons for refusal or the wording of any
planning conditions; or

(d) seek to re-design, or negotiate amendments to, an application. The Committee
must determine applications as they stand and may impose appropriate conditions.

Public requests to speak

Members of the public wishing to speak must notify the Committee Services Officer
by noon on the working day before the meeting, giving their name, the
application/agenda item they wish to speak on and whether they are objecting to or
supporting the application. Notifications can be made via e-mail or telephone, to the
Committee Services Officer (details are on the front of the Committee agenda).

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Written statements from the public

Any written statement that members of the public or Councillors wish to be
considered should be sent to the planning officer by noon two working days before
the day of the meeting. The planning officer will report these at the meeting. Material
received from the public at the meeting will not be accepted or circulated, as Councillors
are unable to give proper consideration to the new information and officers may not be
able to check for accuracy or provide considered advice on any material consideration
arising. Any such material will not be displayed or shown at the meeting.

Exhibiting model and displays at the meeting

Applicants or members of the public can exhibit models or displays of photos and/or
pictures at the meeting or a room provided for that purpose as long as they notify the
Committee Services Officer of their intention by noon two working days before the start of
the meeting so that members can be notified. Applicants or members of the public are not
permitted to exhibit photos and/or pictures in any electronic format.

Recording meetings
This is covered in the general information above.

Meeting Etiquette

All representations should be heard in silence and without interruption. The Chair will not
permit disruptive behaviour. Members of the public are reminded that if the meeting is not
allowed to proceed in an orderly manner then the Chair will withdraw the opportunity to

address the Committee. The Committee is a meeting held in public, not a public meeting.

This procedure is detailed in the Annex to part 24 of the Council’s Constitution as
agreed at Council in March 2023.

Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Iltem 3

&5
Minutes of a meeting of the : %
. . . . E | ARA
Planning - Oxford City Planning Committee | oo
S
on Tuesday 7 October 2025 g camy
Committee members present:
Councillor Clarkson Councillor Fouweather
Councillor Altaf-Khan Councillor Henwood
Councillor Hunt Councillor Regisford
Councillor Railton Councillor Rehman
Councillor Kerr Councillor Taylor (For Councillor
Councillor Fry (For Councillor Upton) Hollingsworth)

Officers present for all or part of the meeting:

Uswah Khan, Committee and Member Services Officer

Andrew Murdoch, Development Management Service Manager
Robert Fowler, Development Management Team Leader (West)
Emma Granger, Planning Lawyer

Felicity Byrne, Development Management Team Leader (East)

Tracy Harvey, Principal Planning Officer

20. Apologies for absence
Councillor Hollingsworth and Upton sent apologies.
Substitutes are shown above.

21. Declarations of interest
General

For 24/00585/VAR, Councillor Kerr stated that she was part of the call-in for the
application but declared that she would keep a fair and open mind during the meeting.

For 25/01489/FUL, Councillor Rehman stated that he was part of the call-in for the
application but declared that he would keep a fair and open mind during the meeting.

For 25/00799/FUL, Councillor Taylor stated that he had made a public comment on
the previous application but had been advised by officers that he could participate in
the meeting with a fair and open mind.

15



For 24/00585/VAR, Councillor Henwood stated that he was a previous member of the
Falcon Rowing Club but declared that he would keep a fair and open mind during the
meeting.

For 24/00585/VAR, Councillor Railton stated that she was a current member of the
Falcon Rowing Club and would leave the meeting for this item and return after.

22. Minutes

The Committee resolved to approve the minutes of the meeting held on 16 September
2025 as a true and accurate record.

23. 24/00585/VAR Car Park, Meadow Lane, Oxford, Oxfordshire

The Committee considered a variation of condition 6 (Management of Car Park) of
planning permission 21/01271/CT3 (Resurfacing of car park with new drainage system
and provision bicycle stands (Retrospective) (Amended Plans)) to allow improved
public access by converting it into a public suburban car park operated by Oxford City
Council.

The Planning Officer gave a presentation outlining the details of the location and the
proposal. This included site photos and existing and proposed elevations and plans:

e The application proposed a variation to Condition 6 of a 2021 planning
permission to allow the previously private Falcons Rowing Club car park to
operate as a public car park managed by Oxford City Council.

¢ Due to significant local interest and objection from the highway authority, the
applicant provided additional information, including a revised layout, proposed
parking changes to deter commuter use and policy justification.

e Officers considered the proposal to be finely balanced in terms of principle,
amenity and transport impacts.

¢ It was recommended that the variation be approved, subject to conditions
ensuring continued restriction of commuter parking, adequate access for local
groups and layout changes to address highway safety concerns.

Nick Barnett spoke against the application.
Emma Gubbins spoke in favour of the application.

The Committee asked questions about the details of the application which were
responded to by officers and the applicant. The Committee’s discussions included, but
were not limited to:

e Concerns were raised about the need to convert the car park into a public
facility. The Development Management Team Leader responded that the original
planning condition requires it to be locked outside of the Falcon Rowing Club’s
hours and limited to their exclusive use.

16
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Questions were raised about the key planning considerations. The Development
Management Team Leader confirmed that amenity and highway safety were
central concerns, with amenity relating to increased activity in the area.
Concerns were raised around the lack of current disabled parking and bicycle
facilities. The Development Management Team Leader noted that two disabled
spaces were proposed as part of the application, assessed on a case-by-case
basis rather than a fixed percentage, and that no changes were planned for
cycle parking, with approximately four spaces available.

Questions were raised around fair access to the car park, with some members
emphasising its long-standing public use and expressing reservations about
prioritising certain groups over others.

On being proposed, seconded, and put to the vote, the Committee agreed with the
officer's recommendation to approve the application for the reasons listed on the report

The Oxford City Planning Committee resolved to:

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to
the required planning conditions set out in section 9 of this report and grant
planning permission; and

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regulation to
finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

24. 25/00799/FUL 152 London Road, Headington, Oxford, OX3 9ED

The Committee considered an application for the demolition of existing retail store (Use
Class E). Erection of new building at 2 to 3 storeys (with basement) to provide Use
Class E floorspace comprising use for research and development and offices. Service
area, landscaping (including low walls to London Road and Stile Road), cycle parking,
bin stores, and alterations to access off Stile Road.

The Planning Officer gave a presentation outlining the details of the location and the
proposal. This included site photos and existing and proposed elevations and plans:

The application sought planning permission for the redevelopment of a Class E
site which is currently a Co-Op and post office, on the corner of London Road
and Stile Road, proposing a 2 to 3 storey building with basement for research
and office use. While there was local objection over the loss of community
facilities, both the existing and proposed uses fell within Class E, therefore
planning controls could not prevent the closure.

The proposal followed a previously refused hotel scheme, with the new design
reducing the buildings height and bulk. Officers considered the revised scheme
to be more appropriate and not harmful to the setting of the adjacent
Conservation Area, listed structures or St Andrews Primary School.

Children’s Services and the adjoining primary school raised concerns,
particularly around demolition timing and potential amenity impacts. These were
addressed through proposed planning conditions, including restrictions during

17
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



term time. Officers concluded there would be no unacceptable harm to the
school, residents or local environment. Highway, drainage, sustainability and
design issues were reviewed, with four outstanding technical matters identified
as resolvable by condition.

¢ The Planning Officer concluded that subject to these conditions and a Section
106 agreement, the application was considered acceptable and recommended
for approval.

Councillor Smowton spoke against the application.
Nik Lyzba and Chris Hale spoke in favour of the application.

The Committee asked questions about the details of the application which were
responded to by officers and the applicant. The Committee’s discussions included, but
were not limited to:

e Concerns were raised about the impact of the noise during demolition and
construction, particularly on the adjacent school. The Principal Planning Officer
confirmed that a bespoke condition had been agreed with the applicant to
prevent noisy works during school hours and term time. Weekend and evening
construction times were also discussed.

e Questions were raised about the County Council’s objections, including
concerns over cycle parking design and whether the development met the
requirements for a car-free scheme. The Principal Planning Officer confirmed
the development remained policy-compliant and noted the County Council’s
position on specific cycle storage types.

e Concerns were raised about overlooking and safeguarding, including the use of
air source heat pumps. The Principal Planning Officer confirmed these were
addressed through conditions, including long-term safeguarding strategies and
monitoring of any potential noise impact post occupation.

¢ Questions were raised regarding the impact on nearby residential properties,
including the height and proximity of the proposed building. The Principal
Planning Officer clarified distances and building heights and confirmed that
these matters were assessed in the report and addressed through the schemes
design.

On being proposed, seconded, and put to the vote, the Committee agreed with the
officer’'s recommendation to approve the application for the reasons listed on the report.

The Oxford City Planning Committee resolved to:

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the
required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant
planning permission; and subject to:

» the satisfactory completion of a legal agreement under section.106 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and other enabling powers to

18
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



secure the planning obligations set out in the recommended heads of
terms which are set out in this report; and

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning & Regulation to:

¢ finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including
such refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director
of Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary; and

o finalise the recommended legal agreement under section 106 of the Town
and County Planning Act and other enabling powers as set out in this
report, including refining, adding to, amending and/or deleting the
obligations detailed in the heads of terms set out in this report (including
to dovetail with and where appropriate, reinforce the final conditions and
informatives to be attached to the planning permission) as the Director of
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary; and

e Complete the section 106 legal agreement referred to above and issue
the planning permission.

25. 25/01489/FUL 86 Temple Road, Oxford, OX4 2EZ

The Committee considered an application for the demolition of existing garage, existing
rear extension and conservatory. Subdivision of existing dwellinghouse to create 2 x 7
bed large houses in multiple occupation (Sui Generis). Erection or a two-storey side
and rear extension. Erection of a single storey front extension. Alterations to roof and
insertion of 5no. rooflights in association with a loft conversion. Alterations to
fenestration. Provision of bin, cycle storage and private amenity space.

The Planning Officer gave a presentation outlining the details of the location and the
proposal. This included site photos and existing and proposed elevations and plans:

The application sought planning permission to extend the existing dwelling,
subdivide the site to create two residential units and change the use from Use
Class C3 dwelling houses to Sui Generis large Houses in Multiple Occupation.
The proposed development was considered to make efficient use of the site,
deliver high-quality and sustainable accommodation, preserve the character and
appearance of the Temple Cowley Conservation Area and would not cause
harm to the setting of the listed building nearby.

The site was situated within Flood Zone 1, where the proposed use was deemed
acceptable. Appropriate flood mitigation and sustainable drainage measures
were proposed, and no significant land contamination was identified.

The development was assessed to have no unacceptable impact on residential
amenity, highway safety, existing protected trees, or European protected species
and it demonstrated compliance with relevant planning policies, including
guidance on privacy, daylight and overshadowing.

An additional condition, which was referred to in the report, to secure cycle and
bin storage should be added to the list of recommended conditions.

Councillor Harley spoke against the application.

Tom Rourke spoke in favour of the application.

19
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



The Committee asked questions about the details of the application which were
responded to by the officer and the applicant.

On being proposed, seconded, and put to the vote, the Committee agreed with the
officer’'s recommendation to approve the application for the reasons listed in the report
together with the additional condition to secure details of proposed bin and cycle stores.

The Oxford City Planning Committee resolved to:

1. Approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the
required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant
planning permission; and

2. Agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning & Regulation to:

¢ finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including
such refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as requested
by the Lead Local Flood Authority and as the Director of Planning and
Regulation considers reasonably necessary; and

e Issue the planning permission.

¢ Additional condition to secure details of proposed bin and cycle stores

26. Forthcoming applications

The Committee noted the list of forthcoming applications.

27. Dates of future meetings

The Committee noted the dates of future meetings.

The meeting started at 6pm and ended at 8.30pm.

L0d 4 T- T S Date: Tuesday 18 November 2025

When decisions take effect:

Cabinet: after the call-in and review period has expired

Planning Committees: after the call-in and review period has expired and the formal
decision notice is issued

All other committees: immediately.

Details are in the Council’s Constitution.

20
Oxford City Council, Town Hall, St Aldate’s Oxford OX1 1BX



Agenda ltem 4

Oxford City Planning Committee 18th November 2025
Application number: 24/02890/FUL

Decision due by 24th March 2025

Proposal The upgrade of existing pitches and addition of new

sports facilities including a light weight canopy and
enclosure housing padel tennis courts, outdoor padel
courts, cricket nets and the creation of a new basketball
and netball hard surface court together with associated
fencing. The refurbishment of Exeter Cricket Pavilion and
Hertford Cricket Pavilion. Alterations to Exeter squash
courts for use as a golf simulator and the change of use
of Hertford squash courts to café, changing facilities,
sports hub reception area and community facilities with
associated access, parking, cycle parking, refuse and
recycling, new footpaths and landscape.

Site address Hertford And Exeter College Sports Grounds, Edgeway
Road, Oxford, Oxfordshire — see Appendix 1 for site plan
Ward Marston Ward
Case officer Nia George
Agent: Miss Catherine Applicant: C/O Agent
Preston

Reason at Committee Major development

1. RECOMMENDATION
1.1. Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1.1.1. refuse the application for the reasons given in paragraph 1.1.2 of this report
and to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regulation to:

e finalise the reasons for refusal including such refinements, amendments,
additions and/or deletions as the Director of Planning and Regulation
considers reasonably necessary.

1.1.2. The recommended reasons for refusal are as follows:

e The proposed padel enclosure would fail to preserve the openness of the Green
Belt and would conflict with the purpose of including land within it. The proposals
amount to inappropriate development in the Green Belt where no exceptions
apply. There are no very special circumstances to allow such inappropriate
development in the Green Belt. As such the proposals are contrary to Policies G1
and G3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and Chapter 13 of the NPPF.

21 1



The application site includes extensive areas of Flood Zone 3b (the functional
floodplain) in which only water-compatible development is permitted. The
proposed car park, golf simulator and ‘hall’ in the Exeter Pavillion are not
deemed water compatible under Annex 3 of the NPPF and therefore these
uses are inappropriate. The proposed padel enclosure fails to comply with the
sequential test, the Flood Risk Assessment fails to consider how people will be
kept safe from the identified flood hazards, and it also fails to take the impacts
of climate change into account. The proposals are contrary to Policy RE3 of
the Oxford Local Plan 2036, Chapter 14 of the NPPF, and the Flood Risk and
Coastal Change Planning Practice Guidance.

The proposed drainage strategy fails to clarify whether the design incorporates
lining to all detention/attenuation features which is required to avoid a reduction in
storage volume due to high groundwater levels. There are vague suggestions of
bunding proposed to protect attenuation features in flood risk areas, however they
have not been fully detailed. In addition the submission fails to confirm that the
Applicant is the riparian owner of the land where two headwalls are proposed to
discharge into the Peasmoor Brook, and insufficient detail has been provided to
demonstrate how this would operate in times of flooding with reference to levels.
Overall the submission fails to demonstrate that the drainage strategy proposed
complies with Policy RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Due to the size, mass and height of the padel enclosure, and the height of the
proposed lighting and fencing structures associated with the intensification of use,
the proposed development would detract from the setting of the existing building
group on the site and their significance as Local Heritage Assets, the remote and
peaceful character of the sports fields, the surrounding green spine and
neighbouring Local Heritage Asset known as New Marston Meadows. The
proposals would cause a high level of less than substantial harm to the setting of
the identified heritage assets. The cumulative moderate level of public benefits
derived from the proposed development would not outweigh the harm caused,
and as such the proposals conflict with Policies RE2, DH1 and DH5 of the Local
Plan and Chapter 16 of the NPPF.

The application site is located on the edge of the River Cherwell floodplain,
adjacent to the relict channel of the Peasmoor Brook, where there is potential
for prehistoric and Roman activity. Given the site on which development is
proposed includes or has the potential to include heritage assets with
archaeological interest, the Local Planning Authority require the developer to
submit an appropriate field evaluation. In the absence of an archaeological
evaluation, insufficient information has been submitted with the application to
establish the significance of the heritage assets at this site, and as such the
submission fails to demonstrate compliance with Paragraph 207 of the NPPF
and Policy DH4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

The energy statement submitted claims that the proposed padel enclosure would
be exempt from Part L Building Regulations and therefore claim the proposed
padel enclosure would not need to achieve at least a 40% reduction in the carbon
emissions compared with a 2013 building regulations compliance base case in
accordance with the requirements of Policy RE1. No evidence has been

22 2



4.

4.1

4.2.

4.3

4.4

submitted with the application however to confirm this from a building control
inspector and therefore in the absence of such the submission fails to
demonstrate that the proposals comply with Policy RE1 of the Oxford Local Plan
2036.

The acoustic assessment fails to consider the noise which would be emitted from
the proposed air source heat pumps on sensitive receptors and local amenity. In
the absence of any assessment, the submission fails to demonstrate how the air
source heat pumps would not result in any detrimental impacts in relation to noise
and disturbance and therefore fails to demonstrate compliance with Policies RE7
and RES8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

. This report considers the proposed upgrade of existing pitches and addition of

new sports facilities including a light weight enclosure housing padel tennis
courts, outdoor padel courts, cricket nets and the creation of a new basketball
and netball hard surface court together with associated fencing. It also considers
the refurbishment of Exeter Cricket Pavilion and Hertford Cricket Pavilion,
alterations to Exeter squash courts for use as a golf simulator, and the change of
use of Hertford squash courts to café, changing facilities, sports hub, reception
area and community facilities. In addition it considers the proposed associated
access, parking, cycle parking, refuse and recycling, new footpaths and
landscaping.

The application site comprises two recreation grounds which are owned by
Hertford and Exeter Colleges. They currently comprise two cricket pavilions, two
squash court buildings, as well as outdoor football pitches, cricket squares and
tennis courts. The site is accessed from Edgeway Road in Marston where
residential dwellings are located to the north and east of the site, and to the south
and west the site lies adjacent to undeveloped land. The site is located within the
green belt, within the setting of the Central Conservation Area and the New
Marston Meadows and is located within the Elsfield View Cone. The site is
located within Flood Zones 1, 2, 3a and 3b, and lies adjacent to the New Marston
Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest. In addition the existing pavilions and
squash court buildings are considered as Local Heritage Assets.

.Subject to conditions, the proposed development would be considered

acceptable in relation to the following material considerations: highways safety
and parking, biodiversity; trees and landscaping; health, wellbeing and safety; air
quality; land quality and utilities.

. The proposed padel enclosure would however fail to preserve the openness of

the Green Belt and would amount to inappropriate development in the Green
Belt. The proposed car park, golf simulator and hall in the Exeter Pavillion are not
deemed water compatible under Annex 3 of the NPPF and therefore these uses
are incompatible with their location within flood zone 3b. The proposed padel
enclosure fails to comply with the sequential test, the Flood Risk Assessment
fails to consider how people will be kept safe from the identified flood hazards,
and it also fails to take the impacts of climate change into account. In addition the
drainage strategy is insufficient for Officers to be able to establish if the strategy

23 3



is acceptable. The padel enclosure and the proposed lighting and fencing
structures would detract from the setting of the existing building group on the site
and their significance as Local Heritage Assets, the remote and peaceful
character of the sports fields, the surrounding green spine and neighbouring
Local Heritage Asset known as New Marston Meadows. Insufficient information
has been submitted with the application to establish the significance of the
heritage assets at this site. In addition the acoustic assessment fails to consider
the potential impact of the proposed air source heat pump in relation to noise,
and the energy statement fails to provide sufficient evidence to justify why the
padel enclosure would be exempt from Part L Building Regulations.

4.5. Having assessed all material planning considerations, it is concluded overall that
the development is unacceptable.

5. LEGAL AGREEMENT

5.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement. Had Officers recommended
approval, contributions would have been required in respect of travel plan
monitoring and a review of the Marston South Controlled Parking Zone as
requested by Oxfordshire County Council as Local Highways Authority.

6. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

6.1.The proposal is liable for CIL. An amount of £57,152.21 would have been
requested had Officers recommended for approval.

7. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

7.1.The application site comprises of Hertford College Recreation Ground and Exeter
College Recreation Ground which are located in the Marston Ward of Oxford
City. The two recreation grounds are situated to the south and west of residential
dwellings in Marston, and to the north and east of undeveloped fields which
surround the River Cherwell, including the New Marston Meadows. The grounds
are located to the south of Fairfax Avenue and Croft Road Playground, to the
west of Purcell Road, and to the north of Edgeway Road.

7.2.The recreation grounds currently comprise of two cricket pavilions, two squash
courts and a storage building, as well as tennis courts, football pitches, and
cricket squares. The existing cricket pavilions and squash courts are considered
to be local heritage assets for social and architectural reasons.

7.3.Vehicle and pedestrian access to the site is currently via Edgeway Road to the
south of the site, however there is also a footpath running to the east of the site
allowing pedestrian access in the southeast corner behind Purcell Road. The two
recreation grounds are physically separated by the Peasmoor Brook which runs
north to south, however there is a bridge to the south of the site where users can
cross over between both grounds.

7.4.The site is located within the Green Belt, within the Elsfield View Cone, within the
setting of the Central Conservation Area, and to the north of the New Marston
Meadows Site of Scientific Interest. The New Marston Meadows are also a local
heritage asset in which the application site is located within its setting.

24 4



7.5. See block plan below:

8. PROPOSAL

8.1.The application proposes the upgrade of existing pitches and addition of new
sports facilities including a padel enclosure, outdoor padel courts, cricket nets
and the creation of a new basketball and netball hard surface court together with
associated fencing. Permission is also sought for the refurbishment of Exeter
Cricket Pavilion and Hertford Cricket Pavilion, alterations to Exeter squash courts
for use as a golf simulator, and the change of use of Hertford squash courts to
café, changing facilities, sports hub, reception area and community facilities. In
addition permission is sought for the associated access, parking, cycle parking,
refuse and recycling, new footpaths and landscaping.

8.2. The Exeter pavilion is proposed to be refurbished with no alterations proposed to
the internal layout and use of the building other than the storage rooms being
used for ground staff. Ramps and steps are proposed to the north and south of
the building to improve access and the existing fenestration would be restored.

8.3. The Hertford pavilion is proposed to be refurbished with no alterations proposed
to the internal layout and use of the building. Ramps and steps are proposed to
the east and west of the building to improve access and the existing fenestration
would be restored.

8.4.The Hertford squash courts building are proposed to be refurbished with the
squash courts removed and replaced with a café, changing facilities, sports hub
reception area and community space. To facilitate this, steps and ramps are
proposed to upgrade access to the building to both the north and south of the
building, and additional windows are proposed at both ground and first floor. An
air source heat pump is also proposed externally to the east of the building.

25 >



8.5. The Exeter squash courts building is proposed to be refurbished with the squash
courts removed and replaced with a golf simulator. To facilitate this, steps and a
ramp are proposed to upgrade access to the building to the east and south of the
building, and additional louvres are proposed to sit just under the eaves on the
north and south elevations, and alterations are proposed to the fenestration.

8.6. A padel tennis enclosure is proposed approximately measuring 59.2m in length,
25.4m in width, with a curved roof with a maximum height of approximately
10.5m. The walls and roof of the enclosure would be clad in in green
polycarbonate sheets. It would be situated to the northeast of the Hertford
Squash Courts.

8.7.Three outdoor padel tennis courts are proposed just to the north of the Hertford
squash courts building. Two basketball and netball courts are proposed to the
west of the Exeter pavilion as well as six cricket nets. The outdoor courts and
nets as well as the padel enclosure would be surrounded by security fencing
measuring approximately 2.4m high. In addition external lighting is proposed on
the outdoor padel and basketball/netball courts.

8.8.The two existing cricket squares and the four existing football pitches would be
retained on the site although the layout reconfigured. The football pitches would
also be able to be marked out for rugby and hockey pitches. The existing outdoor
tennis courts would be removed.

8.9.A new footpath is proposed at the eastern side of the site leading from the
existing pedestrian gate next to Hertford pavilion. The footpath would extend
along the eastern boundary of the recreation ground and would extend along the
south boundary of the recreation ground, terminating at the existing hardstanding
which runs to the south of the Hertford squash courts building. The footpath
would measure approximately 1.5m in width.

8.10. A cycle store is proposed directly to the west of Exeter squash courts building,
and a bin store is proposed to next to the entrance to the site from Edgeway
Road within the car park.

8.11. Sheffield stands are also proposed to the east of the new cricket nets, to the
south of Exeter pavilion, to the west of the Hertford squash courts building, and
to the west of Hertford pavilion. In each location 5 Sheffield stands are proposed
which would be able to accommodate 10 bicycles.

8.12. Landscaping is proposed across the site including the provision of additional
trees and hedgerows, and an infiltration basin is proposed to the east of the
padel enclosure.

8.13. It must be noted that during the course of the application revised plans were
received by the Agent which provided clarification to concerns raised by Sport
England. This clarification included showing the ramps and steps and the internal
layout proposed on the floor plans for each of the buildings, site layout drawings
showing the existing and proposed sports pitch layouts as well as existing site
topography. In addition amended plans were received to remove the meeting
room within the Exeter pavilion. Additional plans and documentation were also

26 6



received during the course of the application to address comments received
relating to flooding and drainage, heritage, air quality, and highways and parking.
Given the minor nature of the revisions there was no need to readvertise the
amended plans/documentation.

9. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

9.1. The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site:

Exeter College Sports Ground

60/01100/M_H - Squash racquet court, addition to sports pavilion. Approved 9th
November 1960.

Hertford College Sports Ground

82/00606/NFH - Two squash courts and changing facilities (Amended Plans:
revised location). Approved 1st December 1982.

82/00912/NF - Two groundsmen's flats (Revised Location). Refused 21st April
1983.

10. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

10.1. The following policies are relevant to the application:

National Local Plan Other
Planning planning

Policy documents
Framework
131-141

DH1: High
quality design
and
placemaking

DH7: External
servicing
features and
stores
Conservation/ " EArLyyvil DH2: Views
Heritage and building
heights

DH3:
Designated
heritage assets

DH4:
Archaeological
remains




Housing

Natural
environment

Social and
community

DH5: Local
Heritage
Assets

61-84

H14: Privacy,
daylight, and
sunlight

142-160, 161-
186, 187-201

RE3: Flood risk
management

RE4:
Sustainable
and foul
drainage,
surface and
groundwater
flow

RE9: Land
quality

G1: Protection
of Green and
Blue
Infrastructure
Network

G2: Protection
of biodiversity
and geo-
diversity

G3: Green Belt

G7: Protection
of existing
Green
Infrastructure
features

G8: New and
enhanced
Green and
Blue
Infrastructure
Network
features

96-108

RES5: Health,
wellbeing, and
Health Impact
Assessments

Gb5: Existing
open space,
indoor and
outdoor sports
and recreation
facilities

28




Transport

Environmental

Miscellaneous

V7.
Infrastructure
and cultural
and community
facilities

109-118

M1: Prioritising
walking,
cycling, and
public transport

M2: Assessing
and managing
development

M3: Motor
vehicle parking

M5: Bicycle
Parking

Parking
Standards SPD

124-130,
186

161-

RE1:
Sustainable
design and
construction

REZ2: Efficient
use of land

RE®6: Air quality
RE7: Managing
the impact of

development

RES8: Noise
and vibration

Energy
Statement TAN

7-14,

S1:
Sustainable
development

S2:
Development
Contributions
V8: Utilities

V9: Digital
Infrastructure

10.2. Other relevant documents:

Planning Practice Guidance

29

Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990




e Historic England’s Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning:
2

e Sport England Playing Fields Policy and Guidance
e Oxford’s Playing Pitch Strategy 2022-2036
11. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

11.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 15th January 2025
and an advertisement was published in The Oxford Times newspaper on 16th
January 2025.

Statutory consultees

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

11.2. No objection, subject to conditions and contributions - The proposals
constitute a significant intensification on the site. The facilities will be used by the
general public as well as students. Bollards will be located on Edgeway Road
towards the junction with Ferry Road and there will be a remote-operated
system. Improvements at the Edgeway Road junction with the Marston Cycle
Path are required to mitigate the intensification of use of Edgeway Road. No
increase in parking is proposed, the applicant proposes that the increase in
parking demand will be met on adjacent local residential roads. The proposed
development could potentially lead to a parking stress of 82% which could lead to
congestion and highway safety issues. A contribution for a review of the Marston
South Residents Parking Zone is therefore required.

Lead Local Flood Authority

11.3. Objection received - Permeable geotextiles are proposed for attenuation
features in high groundwater areas which is not appropriate. Vague suggestions
of bunding to protect attenuation features in flood risk areas have not been fully
detailed, or the flood risk properly assessed. Compensatory flood storage area
has a connecting pipe shown to the watercourse, however there is insufficient
detail on how well it would operate in times of flooding.

Environment Agency

11.4. Objection received - The submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) does not
comply with the requirements for site-specific flood risk assessments, as set out
in paragraphs 20 to 21 of the Flood Risk and Coastal Change planning practice
guidance and its site-specific flood risk assessment checklist. The FRA does not
therefore adequately assess the flood risks posed by the development.

Natural England

11.5. No objection — consider that the proposed development would not have
significant adverse impacts on statutory designated sites including the New
Marston Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest.

30 10



Thames Water Utilities Limited

11.6. No comments — offered no advice on this case.

Sport England

11.7. No objection, subject to conditions — The proposed development of new
floodlit netball courts, a golf simulator, new padel courts and 6 cricket nets
(outdoor) would all provide benefit to sport and the wider community and would
be supported meeting exception 5 of Playing Fields Policy. As the existing
pavilions are intended to be re-used, it is not possible for the changing facilities to
comply with current guidance but it is welcomed that the applicant has made
amendments to the design. Sport England further welcomes the intention to
improve the playing fields at the site. The England and Wales Cricket Board has
offered to provide further guidance with implementing the proposed playing field
improvements/moving and re-establishing the cricket square and reviewing the
design of the proposed cricket nets.

Active Travel England

11.8. No comments — standing advice should be considered by the Local Planning
Authority.

Historic England

11.9. No comments — offered no advice on this case.

Oxfordshire County Council (Fire and Rescue)

11.10. It is taken that these works will be subject to a Building Regulations application
and subsequent statutory consultation with the fire service where applicable, to
ensure compliance with the functional requirements of The Building Regulations
2010.

Thames Valley Police (TVP)

11.11. Secured By Design offers numerous crime prevention design guides for
varying applications including residential developments. TVP would strongly
advise that the applicant reviews Commercial 2023 and incorporates the general
principles of the scheme.

Public representations

11.12. Public comments were received on this application from addresses in Purcell
Road, Hugh Allen Crescent, Weldon Road, Parry Close, Edgeway Road, Lynn
Close, Croft Road, Goodson Walk, Park Farm, and Ferry Road. In addition
comments were received by Oxford Preservation Trust, New Marston (South)
Residents’ Association, and Cyclox.

11.13. In summary, the main points of objection were:

e Access

31 11



Amount of development on site

Effect on adjoining properties

Effect on character of area

Effect on existing community facilities

Effect on pollution

Effect on privacy

Effect on traffic

Flooding risk

Height of proposal

Information missing from plans

Light - daylight/sunlight

Local ecology, biodiversity

Local plan policies

Noise and disturbance

Not enough information given on application

On-street parking

Parking provision

Public transport provision/accessibility

Transport Assessment fails to consider key aspects of site usage
Increased risk of collisions with cyclists at end of Edgeway Road

Flood Risk Assessment does not consider all available evidence of flood
events

Noise will be introduced at unsociable times of the day impact nearby
residents

Padel building will be dominant, high, and does not fit in with the
surroundings which is traditional in style

Padel building will impact light available to neighbouring dwellings
Additional hardstanding will make flooding worse

Number of padel courts should be reduced

Will increase traffic in the area which is already high

Lighting and noise of padel will impact local residents and wildlife

Development could promote more understanding of the meadows as a
SSSI

Venue should be car free

Development is intended as a commercial sports and leisure site and

32 12



suitability in terms of access, transport, in-keeping with the local area and
impact on the local community should be considered in terms of this
material change of use

Padel court would obstruct views of the dreaming spires from the Croft
Road Recreation Ground

Noise survey conducted insufficient
Underestimates visitors coming by car

Edgeway road unsuitable for construction traffic and a retractable bollard is
needed at the end of the lane

Lighting until 11pm will impact local properties

11pm is too late in a residential area to operate

Padel is currently a fashionable sport but may not be in 20-30 years time
Potential impact of oil pollution to the Peasmoor Brook

Not convinced SuDS will mitigate land being taken out of floodplain
Intensification of site will disrupt enjoyment of the space as a natural area
Queries over whether the proposed facilities would be affordable to use
Noise of padel would impact wildlife

Developers have not made it clear that the intention is for the padel centre
to host international competitions.

Opening hours should be revised
Impact upon New Marston Meadows and SSSI

New footpath should be open towards the existing path and there should
be frequent entrance and exit points

Noise from construction and comings and goings

Proposals should entail for adjacent streets to be only resident parking on
weekends

Edgeway Road not sufficient for buses
Lighting models not accurate
Risk of flooding severely underestimated

Parking survey underestimates trips being carried out in July, on weekdays
at 19:00hrs

Proposals do not align with broader goal of reducing neighbourhood traffic
levels

Intensification of use from the current site would significantly impact local
area

CPZ should be extended to weekends and evenings

Gravel car park is a recent addition to the site which may require planning

33 13



permission, 20 spaces is overestimated

Air quality assessment is insufficient

Padel tennis should be located further away from houses

Exacerbate local sewage system problems

Not clear if proposals will reduce crime and anti-social behaviour in area
Not clear if feedback from public consultation has influenced proposals
Drainage plans not credible

Opportunity for Applicant to upgrade cycle track between Pavilion and Croft
Road Recreation Ground

No drinking water taps except for toilets

No umpires’ rooms

Lockers unnecessary

Pavilion changing rooms small

No kitchen facilities nor showers in the pavilions

Proposals represent significant increase in urbanisation in relation to built
form and activity

Proposals undermine the open nature of the rural landscape, and the
character and quality of the landscape

Located in green belt and no special circumstance to justify the
development, contrary to its openness and permanence

Consider area of the site is valued landscape under paragraph 187 (a) of
NPPF

Cycle parking needs to be accessible without dismounting

Car parking should be reduced by 25% in line with the County Council’s
car trip reduction targets

Increased light, noise and hardstanding across the site will harm the wider
rural character of the area

Padel enclosure would have an industrial scale and would dominate
surroundings

Lighting would impact the heritage and ecological character of the area as
well as the green belt

Impact of traffic upon operation of Park Farm
Parking within the immediate vicinity will damage the rural character

Conditions should be imposed to constrain the level and times of activity
being envisaged by the applicants

Shared use of track by vehicles and pedestrians and cycles

34 14



11.13.1.

In summary, the main points of support were:

Brings new sports facilities to the area
Encourages active travel

Becomes a new hub for the community
Padel will appeal to multi generations

Proposed footpath that will run parallel to cycle path will relive pedestrian
traffic

Lighting along the footpath is much needed which is currently dark and
dangerous at night

Café facilities and community room will encourage more people to use the
development

Sports fields are underused

Social facilities are severely lacking in Marston

Sports, meeting rooms and cade can impact wellbeing and mental health
Currently the site is unused with vandalised buildings

Proposal will hopefully eradicate anti-social behaviour

Additional footpath is welcomed

Officer response

11.14. Each of the material planning considerations raised have been addressed
within the relevant sections of the report.

12.

12.1.

PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Officers consider the determining issues to be:

Principle of development
Green belt

Design, views and impact upon heritage assets
Neighbouring amenity
Flooding and drainage
Highways safety and parking
Archaeology

Sustainability

Biodiversity

Trees and landscaping
Health, wellbeing and safety

Air quality

35 15



e Land quality
e Ultilities

a. Principle of development

12.2. Policy V7 states that the City Council will seek to protect and retain existing
cultural and community facilities. Planning permission will not be granted for
development that results in the loss of such facilities unless new or improved
facilities can be provided at a location equally or more accessible by walking,
cycling and public transport. In principle, applications to extend capacity, improve
access and make more intensive cultural/community use of existing sites will be
supported.

12.3. Policy G1 states that green and open spaces and waterways of the Green and
Blue Infrastructure Network are protected for their social, environmental and
economic functions and are defined on the Policies Map. It notes that planning
permission will not be granted for development that would result in harm to the
Green and Blue Infrastructure network, except where it is in accordance with
Policies G2-G8.

12.4. Policy G5 states that the City Council will seek to protect existing open space,
sports and recreational buildings and land. It notes that existing open space,
indoor and outdoor sports and recreational facilities should not be lost unless:

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open
space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable
location; or

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the
benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

12.5. Policy G5 also states that consideration will be given to the need for different
types of sports pitches as identified in the Playing Pitch Study. Any replacement
provision should be provided in a suitable location equally or more accessible by
walking, cycling and public transport, and accessible to local users of the existing
site where relevant.

12.6. Policy RE2 states that planning permission will only be granted where
development proposals make efficient use of land. It also notes that development
proposals must make best use of site capacity, in a manner compatible with the
site itself, the surrounding area and broader considerations of the needs of
Oxford, as well as addressing the following criteria:

a) the density must be appropriate for the use proposed,;

b) the scale of development, including building heights and massing, should
conform to other policies in the plan. It is expected that sites at transportation
hubs and within the city and district centres in particular will be capable of

36 16



accommodating development at an increased scale and density, although this
will also be encouraged in all other appropriate locations where the impact of
so doing is shown to be acceptable;

c) opportunities for developing at the maximum appropriate density must be
fully explored; and

d) built form and site layout must be appropriate for the capacity of the site.

12.7. Paragraph 104 of the NPPF states that existing open space, sports and
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields and formal play spaces,
should not be built on unless:

a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open
space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or

b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable
location; or

c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the
benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

12.8. In relation to Policy V7, the proposals involve the upgrade and refurbishment
of the existing facilities as well as the introduction of additional facilities at the
site. The existing four football pitches and two cricket squares on the site would
be retained as part of the proposals, and the existing pavilions would be
refurbished. Whilst the existing outdoor tennis courts and squash courts would be
lost, additional sports facilities would be introduced to compensate for this
including padel courts, basketball and netball courts, cricket nets, as well as a
golf simulator. In addition, a café and community space would be introduced, and
therefore overall the proposals would extend capacity, improve access as well as
make a more intensive use of the current site which is wholly supported.

12.9. In relation to Policy G1, the application site is a green and open space which
is protected for its social, environmental and economic functions, as confirmed
on the Policies Map for the Oxford Local Plan 2036. Policy G1 outlines that
planning permission will not be granted for development that would result in
harm, except where it is in accordance with Policies G2-G8. Officers have
assessed the proposals against these policies where relevant, in which it is noted
that Policies G4 (Allotments and community food growing) and G6 (Residential
garden land) do not apply. It is considered that the proposal would accord with all
of the Policies except Policy G3 (Green Belt). As discussed within the following
section of the report, it is considered that the padel enclosure is inappropriate
development in which its scale and massing would cause harm to the openness
of the green belt. In addition it is considered that there are no exemptions that
apply for allowing the inappropriate development, nor any very special
circumstances. As such the proposals by virtue of failing to comply with Policy
G3 fail to comply with Policy G1 too.

12.9.1. In relation to Policy G5, the existing outdoor sports facilities on the site

37 17



comprising of four football pitches and two cricket squares would be retained
as part of the proposals. In addition the existing cricket pavilions would be
retained and refurbished. The existing squash courts and tennis courts would
however be lost as it is proposed to refurbish the squash court buildings and
convert them into different sports and community facilities, and to replace the
tennis courts with padel courts. The squash courts are proposed to be used
as a golf simulator, café as well as community centre with ancillary facilities.
Whilst existing sports facilities would be lost, it is noted Policy G5 allows for
this if the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision,
where the benefits of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former
use.

12.9.2. Linked to the requirements of G5, the NPPF, similarly states that
existing open space and playing fields should not be built on unless the
development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits of
which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use. The proposed
padel enclosure would be built on the existing open space and therefore is
only acceptable if it meets the exemption in the NPPF. The Applicant has
highlighted that additional facilities are proposed including padel tennis which
is a rapidly growing sport popular with all age groups. Officers also note that
whilst a building is proposed on the recreation ground, the building would
provide four padel courts which is an alternative sports provision. Sport
England were consulted on the application and they noted that whilst the
proposed development does involve the loss of playing fields, that the
proposals overall meets exception 5 of their Playing Field Policy. This notes
the following:

The proposed development is for an indoor or outdoor facility for sport, the
provision of which would be of sufficient benefit to the development of sport as
to outweigh the detriment caused by the loss, or prejudice to the use, of the
area of playing field.

12.10. It is noted that within Sport England’s response they note that The Council’s
Playing Pitch Strategy (published in 2022) has limited information about the site
and records only cricket and rugby pitches on the site. Having regard to the
limited information in the Council’s own strategy, coupled with no objection being
raised by Sport England, as well as the significant increase in sports facilities
being proposed on the site overall, it is considered that the proposals would
comply with Policy G5 and paragraph 104 of the NPPF.

12.11.In relation to Policy RE2, the proposals would make efficient use of the
existing recreation ground by upgrading and increasing the number of sports
facilities on the site. The policy does however require that proposals must be
compatible with the site itself and the surrounding area. Whilst the majority of the
proposed development would be considered to accord with this, the padel
enclosure is considered to be of a scale and massing that fails to conform to
other policies in the plan. The proposed padel court at approximately 59.2m in
length, 25.4m in width, and 10.5m in height is considered due to its scale and
massing to cause harm to the openness of the Green Belt as well as the setting
of local heritage assets on the site as well as the New Marston Meadows. In
addition the height of the proposed lighting and fencing structures associated

38 18



with the intensification of use would detract from the setting of the existing
building group and their significance as local heritage assets, and the remote and
peaceful character of the sports fields, the surrounding green spine and
neighbouring local heritage asset known as New Marston Meadows. It is
therefore considered that the proposed padel enclosure does not conform to
Policies G3, DH1 and DH5 of the Oxford Local Plan.

12.12. As such the proposals fail to comply with Policies G1 and RE2 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036.

b. Green Belt

12.13. Policy G3 states that proposals for development in the Green Belt will be
determined in accordance with national policy. Planning permission will not be
granted for inappropriate development within the Green Belt, in accordance with
national policy.

12.14. Paragraph 143 of the NPPF states that the green Belt serves five purposes:
a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and

e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.

12.15. Paragraph 153 states that when considering any planning application, local
planning authorities should ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to
the Green Belt, including harm to its openness (other than in the case of
development on previously developed land or grey belt land, where development
is not inappropriate). Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the
Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
‘Very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green
Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the
proposal, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.

12.16. Previously developed land is defined within the NPPF as follows:

Land which has been lawfully developed and is or was occupied by a permanent
structure and any fixed surface infrastructure associated with it, including the
curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the whole
of the curtilage should be developed). It also includes land comprising large
areas of fixed surface infrastructure such as large areas of hardstanding which
have been lawfully developed. Previously developed land excludes: land that is
or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry buildings; land that has been
developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by landfill, where provision
for restoration has been made through development management procedures;
land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds and

39 19



allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the remains of the
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape.

12.17. Grey belt is defined within the NPPF as follows:

For the purposes of plan-making and decision-making, ‘grey belt’ is defined as
land in the Green Belt comprising previously developed land and/or any other
land that, in either case, does not strongly contribute to any of purposes (a), (b),
or (d) in paragraph 143. ‘Grey belt’ excludes land where the application of the
policies relating to the areas or assets in footnote 7 (other than Green Belt) would
provide a strong reason for refusing or restricting development.

12.18. The Planning Practice Guidance outlines that when making judgements as to
whether land is grey belt, authorities should consider the contribution that
assessment areas make to Green Belt purposes a, b, and d. The Government
has also outlined how to consider whether the land makes a ‘strong’, ‘moderate’
or ‘weak’ contribution.

12.19. Paragraph 154 outlines that development in the Green Belt is inappropriate
unless one of the following exceptions applies:

a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;

b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of
land or a change of use), including buildings, for outdoor sport, outdoor
recreation, cemeteries and burial grounds and allotments; as long as the
facilities preserve the openness of the Green Belt and do not conflict with the
purposes of including land within it;

c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;

d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use
and not materially larger than the one it replaces;

e) limited infilling in villages;

f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out
in the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously
developed land (including a material change of use to residential or mixed use
including residential), whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding
temporary buildings), which would not cause substantial harm to the openness
of the Green Belt.

h) Other forms of development provided they preserve its openness and do
not conflict with the purposes of including land within it. These are:

i. mineral extraction;

ii. engineering operations;

40 20



iii. local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a
Green Belt location;

iv. the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and
substantial construction;

v. material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor
sport or recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and

vi. development, including buildings, brought forward under a Community
Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.

12.20. The PPG outlines that assessing the impact of a proposal on the openness of
the Green Belt, where it is relevant to do so, requires a judgement based on the
circumstances of the case. By way of example, the courts have identified a
number of matters which may need to be taken into account in making this
assessment. These include, but are not limited to:

e openness is capable of having both spatial and visual aspects — in other
words, the visual impact of the proposal may be relevant, as could its
volume

e the duration of the development, and its remediability — taking into account
any provisions to return land to its original state or to an equivalent (or
improved) state of openness

e the degree of activity likely to be generated, such as traffic generation

12.21. Paragraph 155 of the NPPF notes that the development of homes, commercial
and other development in the Green Belt should also not be regarded as
inappropriate where all the following apply:

a. The development would utilise grey belt land and would not fundamentally
undermine the purposes (taken together) of the remaining Green Belt across the
area of the plan;

b. There is a demonstrable unmet need for the type of development proposed,;

c. The development would be in a sustainable location, with particular reference
to paragraphs 110 and 115 of this Framework; and

d. Where applicable the development proposed meets the ‘Golden Rules’
requirements set out in paragraphs 156-157 below.

12.22. Paragraph 156 states that where major development involving the provision of
housing is proposed on land released from the Green Belt through plan
preparation or review, or on sites in the Green Belt subject to a planning
application, the following contributions (‘Golden Rules’) should be made:

a. affordable housing which reflects either: (i) development plan policies
produced in accordance with paragraphs 67-68 of this Framework; or (ii) until
such policies are in place, the policy set out in paragraph 157 below;

41 21



b. necessary improvements to local or national infrastructure; and

c. the provision of new, or improvements to existing, green spaces that are
accessible to the public. New residents should be able to access good quality
green spaces within a short walk of their home, whether through onsite provision
or through access to offsite spaces.

12.23. The proposed development includes the refurbishment of the existing cricket
pavilions and alterations to the squash court buildings which do not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original buildings, and
as such this element of the proposals would meet exemption ¢ of paragraph 154
of the NPPF.

12.24. It is noted that the provision of facilities in connection with the existing use of
land for outdoor sport including buildings is allowed under exemption b. This is
only allowed for however as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it.

12.25. The proposed new facilities on site would all be in connection with the existing
use of the land for outdoor sport. The majority of the facilities proposed would be
considered to preserve the openness of the Green Belt. The upgrade of the
existing pitches, outdoor padel courts, cricket nets, basketball and netball courts,
parking areas, waste stores, footpaths and landscaping, are all considered to
retain the openness of the site. The hard surfacing and small storage areas when
considered in the context of the overall site area would be minimal additions
which would preserve the openness of the site as recreation grounds.

12.26. The proposed padel tennis enclosure would however be a considerably large
facility which would approximately measure 59.2m in length, 25.4m in width, and
would have a curved roof with a maximum height of approximately 10.5m. Whilst
the walls and roof of the enclosure have been chosen to be clad in in translucent
green polycarbonate sheeting to mitigate its visual impact, it is considered that
the low quality of the material coupled with the significant volume of the building
would fail to preserve the openness of the green belt as it would result in both
spatial and visual impacts. Although the Applicant has justified that the material
chosen would be translucent and would appear as a background element and
not draw attention to itself, Officers consider that the low quality of the proposed
material when coupled with the scale of the building would have a detrimental
impact upon the character and openness of the area. Officers also note that the
padel enclosure is proposed on a permanent basis and the canopy would be in
situ all year round, and as such there is no intention for the land to return to its
original state. Officers also must acknowledge that whilst there are four buildings
existing on the recreation grounds at present; the two pavilions and the two
squash court buildings, the proposed padel enclosure would be substantially
bigger when compared to these buildings. For comparison the largest existing
building is Herford squash courts building which has an approximate footprint of
217sgm, whereas the padel enclosure has an approximate footprint of 1,503sgm.

12.27. As discussed in more detail within the design section of this report, it is
considered that the padel enclosure would cause less than substantial harm to
the setting of designated and non-designated heritage assets. It is also

42 22



considered that the proposed padel enclosure would not preserve the setting of
the Elsfield View Cone nor the Central Conservation Area, and as such the
proposal would impact upon the setting and special character of the historic city
of Oxford. This therefore contradicts purpose (b) of the Green Belt, and as such
the proposals are considered to be inappropriate development.

12.28. Officers have also had regard to whether the development would be sited on
previously developed land or grey belt land. The proposed padel courts would be
located on the existing recreation ground in a grassed area which has not been
developed upon before. Within the definition of previously developed land in the
NPPF it notes that this excludes recreation grounds. Therefore the site is not
previously developed land.

12.29. In relation to grey belt land, Officers consider that the land in question does
strongly contribute to preserving the setting and special character of Oxford
which is a historic town. Within the PPG it outlines that in relation to purpose (d),
assessment areas that contribute strongly are likely be free of existing
development and to include all of the following features:

e form part of the setting of the historic town

e make a considerable contribution to the special character of a historic
town. This could be (but is not limited to) as a result of being within,
adjacent to, or of significant visual importance to the historic aspects of the
town

12.30. In this case the land is free of existing development and is considered to meet
both of the above criteria. The application site lies adjacent to the undeveloped
floodplain to the east of the River Cherwell which surrounds the north and east of
the historic town centre. The Oxford Central Conservation Area Appraisal
emphasises the importance of this flood plain and the meadows as they are
important for panoramas of the famed towers and spires rising above the
meadows, as well as views looking outwards towards the green space.

12.31. Various vantage points surrounding the application site allow for views across
the undeveloped land within the green belt towards the historic centre of Oxford
where the ‘dreaming spires’ can be appreciated. As such it is considered that the
land makes a strong contribution to purpose (d) in paragraph 143 of the NPPF,
and that the land is not grey belt.

12.32. In relation to paragraph 155, the development would not utilise grey belt land
and as such criteria a does not apply. In relation to criteria b and unmet need,
North Oxford Lawn Tennis Club have one outside court and Oxford Sports Lawn
Tennis Club have three outdoor courts. Outside of Oxford, Bicester Hotel Golf
and Spa there are three padel courts, of which two have canopies to allow for
play in all weather conditions. As such Officers consider that there is not a
demonstrable unmet need for this type of development. In relation to criteria ¢
and a sustainable location, bus stops are located 600m from the edge of the site
on the Marston Road which are served by the X3 service with a frequency of 20
minutes, and the Marston Cycle Path which is a well-used cycle track linking
central Oxford to Marston and Headington is located to the south-east of the site.
In addition there is a public right of way footpath located along the eastern

43 23



boundary of the site. As such on balance it is considered that the site is located
in a sustainable location. Regard has been given to paragraphs 110 and 115 of
the NPPF in which it is noted within the highways safety and vehicle parking
section of this report that the Local Highways Authority have raised no objection
to the scheme subject to conditions. In relation to criteria d, the proposals do not
involve the provision of housing. As such the proposals do not meet each criteria
a, b, ¢, and d, and as such are not exempt from being considered inappropriate
development.

12.33. As noted in paragraph 153 inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful
to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances. It goes onto say that ‘very special circumstances’ will not exist
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and
any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly outweighed by other
considerations.

12.34. The Applicant has noted that should Officers consider the lightweight
enclosure as inappropriate development in the Green Belt, that they consider the
very special circumstances in association with the many public benefits tip the
balance in favour of the proposals. The Applicant has listed the public benefits in
their planning statement which Officers have set out below and provided
commentary on each:

e Bringing back into meaningful use buildings that have fallen into a state of
disrepair for use as supporting infrastructure for the wider sports facilities.

- Officers give moderate weight to this. Officers consider the existing
pavilions and squash courts to be local heritage assets and as such
restoring these buildings from their current poor state and bringing back
into use is welcomed. Officers note however that this benefit could be
achieved without the padel tennis enclosure.

e The landscape scheme will result in enhancements to the existing natural
landscape and provide extensive new planting which will achieve a
biodiversity net gain in grassland habitat and hedgerow habitat, exceeding
the mandatory 10% requirement.

- Officers give low weight to this. Whilst the scheme does provide
biodiversity benefits, these could be achieved without the padel
enclosure. In addition the padel enclosure occupies a large footprint
approximately 59.2m in length by 25.4m in width and therefore without
this element of the scheme there would be less enhancements
required.

e In response to both the applicant’s and neighbours’ requests, the proposal
will improve public access throughout the site through the provision of new
pathways connecting with the wider highway network. The sports hub, in
combination with the associated new access paths, will bring about an
improvement in health and wellbeing of its future users.

- Officers give low weight to this. Whilst the additional footpaths are
welcomed and will improve connectivity, Officers note that this benefit
could be achieved without the padel tennis enclosure.



The new sports pitches and sensitive lighting at the site will address
historic issues of antisocial behaviour and vandalism which is known to the
applicants and neighbours as a long-standing issue which has resulted in
the underuse of this site.

- Officers give moderate weight to this. The increased use and activity on
the site when coupled with the lighting would help prevent anti-social
behaviour. Officers note however that this benefit could be achieved
without the padel tennis enclosure.

The active use of the site for the duration of the year is further considered
to reduce the opportunity for undesirable behaviours at and around the
site.

- Officers give moderate weight to this. The increased use and activity on
the site for the duration of the year would help prevent anti-social
behaviour. Whilst Officers note the padel enclosure would be in use all
year around and would actively contribute to this benefit, it is noted that
the indoor café, community space and golf simulator are all indoor
spaces which would also contribute to this benefit.

The facilities will be fully inclusive providing facilities for the use of all ages
and abilities. The proposals will improve accessibility to all existing
buildings and new facilities will be DDA compliant.

- Officers give low weight to this. The facilities proposed would
encourage exercise and movement to a wide audience. Officers note
however that this would take place without the padel enclosure too.

The transport strategy for the site promotes sustainable transport modes
for future users.

- Officers give low weight to this. Whilst bicycle parking spaces would be
increased and no additional car parking spaces are proposed, it is
considered that a number of visitors would travel by car. As highlighted
by the Local Highways Authority, the proposed development could
potentially lead to a parking stress of 82% which could lead to
congestion and highway safety issues. Therefore they recommended
for a contribution towards a review of the Marston South Residents
Parking Zone.

The development will provide jobs through the construction phase of the
development and will increase opportunities for employment in its
operational phase.

- Officers give low weight to this. The jobs during the construction phase
would be temporary and within the application form it has been
confirmed that there would be three full time employees which is only
an increase in one job from the current level.

The proposals include a café and new community space for hire. These
community facilities are generally lacking within the local neighbourhood.

- Officers give moderate weight to this. These facilities would create
social benefits in the area, however it is noted that padel enclosure is
not relevant to this.

45 25



12.35. Having had regard to each of the public benefits outlined by the Applicant,
Officers consider that none of these alone nor cumulatively amount to very
special circumstances for the development to be allowed on green belt land.

12.36. As such the proposals are contrary to Policy G3 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036
and Chapter 13 of the NPPF.

c. Design, views and heritage assets

12.37. Policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will
only be granted for development of high quality design that creates or enhances
local distinctiveness, and where proposals are designed to meet the key design
objectives and principles for delivering high quality development as set out in
Appendix 6.1.

12.38. Policy DH2 states that the City Council will seek to retain significant views both
within Oxford and from outside, in particular to and from the historic skyline.
Planning permission will not be granted for any building or structure that would
harm the special significance of Oxford’s historic skyline. It also notes that
planning permission will not be granted for development proposed within a View
Cone or the setting of a View Cone if it would harm the special significance of the
view.

12.39. Policy DH3 outlines that for all planning decisions for planning permission or
listed building consent affecting the significance of designated heritage assets,
great weight will be given to the conservation of that asset and to the setting of
the asset where it contributes to that significance or appreciation of that
significance. It also outlines that where a development proposal will lead to less
than substantial harm to a designated heritage asset, this harm must be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal. Clear and extensive justification for
this harm should be set out in full in the heritage assessment.

12.40. Policy DH5 states that planning permission will only be granted for
development affecting a local heritage asset or its setting if it is demonstrated
that due regard has been given to the impact on the asset’s significance and its
setting and that it is demonstrated that the significance of the asset and its
conservation has informed the design of the proposed development. In
determining whether planning permission should be granted for a development
proposal, which affects a local heritage asset, consideration will be given to the
significance of the asset, the extent of impact on its significance, as well as the
scale of any harm or loss to the asset as balanced against the public benefits
that may result from the development proposals.

12.41. Policy DH7 states bike and bin stores and external servicing features should
be considered from the start of the design process. Planning permission will be
granted where it can be demonstrated that:

a) bin and bike storage is provided in a way that does not detract from the
overall design of the scheme or the surrounding area, whilst meeting practical
needs including the provision of electric charging points where appropriate;
and

46 26



b) external servicing features have been designed as an integrated part of the
overall design, or are positioned to minimise their impact; and

c) materials used for detailed elements such as for stores or rainwater goods
are of high quality so they enhance the overall design and will not degrade in a
way that detracts from the overall design

12.42. Policy RE2 states that planning permission will only be granted where
development proposals make efficient use of land. It outlines that development
proposals must make best use of site capacity, in a manner compatible with the
site itself, the surrounding area and broader considerations of the needs of
Oxford, as well as addressing the following criteria:

a) the density must be appropriate for the use proposed;

b) the scale of development, including building heights and massing, should
conform to other policies in the plan. It is expected that sites at transportation
hubs and within the city and district centres in particular will be capable of
accommodating development at an increased scale and density, although this
will also be encouraged in all other appropriate locations where the impact of
so doing is shown to be acceptable;

c) opportunities for developing at the maximum appropriate density must be
fully explored; and

d) built form and site layout must be appropriate for the capacity of the site.

12.43. Paragraph 212 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great
weight should be given to the asset’s conservation (and the more important the
asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial
harm to its significance.

12.44. Paragraph 213 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a
designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development
within its setting), should require clear and convincing justification.

12.45. Paragraph 215 states that where a development proposal will lead to less than
substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm
should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where
appropriate, securing its optimum viable use.

12.46. Paragraph 216 states that the effect of an application on the significance of a
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the
application. In weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-
designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having regard
to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset.

12.47. Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990 require Local Planning Authorities to have special regard to preserving or

A7 21



enhancing the character and appearance of the Conservation Area and which it
is accepted is a higher duty.

Significance: Elsfield View Cone and setting of the Central Conservation Area

12.48. The site lies within the Elsfield View Cone and within the setting of the Central
Conservation Area. From the Elsfield viewing point, views of Oxford are seen in
an extensive rural landscape setting contained within an amphitheatre of hills that
has remained relatively unchanged since the 18th century. The city centre is
seen indistinctly as a mass of rooftops with the historic spires and domes rising
above as a distant cluster indicating the city’s historic character as a centre of
religion, learning and prestigious architecture. The Elsfield view cone is
significant for the survival of the rural foreground and spread of green up to the
walls of the historic city.

12.49. The site is part of the Cherwell valley flood plain, which has a peaceful and
remote character despite its proximity to the city centre and surrounding suburbs.
This green spine of the Cherwell flood plain runs along the eastern edge of the
city centre, separating it from its outlying suburbs and plays a crucial role in the
green setting of the Central Conservation Area.

12.50. The presence of the undeveloped flood plain meadows results in views being
possible towards the historic city centre and its dreaming spires from the
application site and locations surrounding it. This includes the Croft Road
Playground to the north and from Edgeway Road to the south.

Significance: Sports pavilions (local heritage assets)

12.51. Both the Exeter and Hertford cricket pavilions comprise local heritage interest
for social and architectural reasons. They are relatively modest structures
contributing to the designed landscape of these sports fields and represent the
quintessential image of English national identity at the time of their construction,
and the colleges commitment to provide leisure facilities for their students. The
modest scale and size of the pavilions ensures the remote rural and peaceful
character of this area of the Cherwell Valley is maintained.

12.52. The Exeter cricket pavilion was constructed circa 1920s, designed by T.Harold
Hughes and comprises an architectural elegance with verandas, a raised viewing
platform and clock tower. Despite suffering vandalism, it appears to retain a
substantial amount of original/ early architectural features and materials.

12.53. The Hertford cricket pavilion, likely to have been constructed in the early 20th
century, is of a vernacular Arts and Crafts design, appearing to have been
modelled on the typical Indian bungalow design featuring a timber frame on brick
plinth. Similarly to the Exeter pavilion, it appears to retain a good amount of
original/ early architectural features and materials.

12.54. The Exeter squash court building is fairly modest in size and could date from
the first half of the 20th century, whilst the Hertford squash court building dates
from the mid-late 20th century and is of a more substantial footprint, size and
massing. Both have an austere architectural character and appearance which is

48 28



representative of their function. They comprise a degree of local heritage interest
as together with the cricket pavilions, they hold group value representative of the
historic development of English and specifically Oxford college sporting culture.
The building group do not detract from the rural and peaceful character of this
green spine.

Significance: New Marston Meadows (local heritage assets)

12.55. The New Marston Meadows was added to the Oxford Heritage Asset Register
in May 2025. It comprises of the riverside meadows on the eastern side of the
River Cherwell to the south west of the application site. The historical
significance of New Marston Meadows lies primarily in its “untouched” nature
since the 11th Century, when the meadow would have played a vital role in the
livelihoods of townspeople and agricultural labourers living within and around
Oxford. This is evidenced by the surviving “ridge and furrow” formations which
hold archaeological, historic and evidential interest and which has the potential to
be used as an educational tool.

12.56. Whilst evidence of ridge and furrow exists elsewhere within Oxford, the
meadows are a remarkable survival so close to Oxford City Centre, resisting
development whilst the city has expanded around them. They also form part of
the green setting to the Central and North Oxford Conservation Areas as well as
contributing to the character of Marston. They are also considered a valuable
local asset promoting biodiversity, health and wellbeing and open space close to
the city centre. This is recognised in the site’s designation as an SSSI.

Impact assessment: Elsfield View Cone and the setting of the Central
Conservation Area

12.57. The site lies directly below the principal cluster of spires and domes, within the
middle ground of the view which is characterised by the dense mass of trees
which surround the city centre formed by the Cherwell Valley, Headington Hill,
Northway and New Marston suburbs and Old Marston village.

12.58. As shown by the verified photography of the LVIA (view 1), the new padel
court canopy would sit directly below the Radcliffe Camera dome, New College
tower, the spire of St Mary’s, and the Old Bodleian tower, amongst the dense
tree cover of the Cherwell Valley. At this mid-ground point directly below the main
cluster of spires and domes, the only existing structures visible through the
dense tree cover are a telecommunication mast, and a couple of roof/chimney
tops. These elements appear as small narrow features poking above/through the
trees.

12.59. The top portion of the padel court canopy roof would be visible through the
trees, fairly close to the base of the spire cluster, with more of the structure
showing in the winter months. The roof structure would appear as a flat
horizontal line with green-blue infill, which due to the horizontal design form and
colour, would contrast with the colour and appearance of the tree cover
surrounding it and the city centres’ stone buildings which are sited directly above
it, appearing an incongruous feature interrupting this band of dense tree cover to
the detriment of the setting of the city centre and significance of the view cone.

49 29



Similarly, a degree of light pollution would be emitted from the site (the padel
courts and basketball/netball courts) at night, which would highlight the suburbs
in the middle ground of the view, detracting from the role of the city centre as the
focus of the view. Arguably, the lighting of the football stadium is significantly
more prominent and visually distracting from the spires, together with the safety
lighting of construction cranes to the right of the spires and the JR Hospital to left.
Nevertheless the illumination of the site in question, contributes to the
cumulatively harmful impact of the existing illumination, and for that reason
causes a degree of harm to the view.

12.60. The agent has stated that “This visibility (of the padel court in the local and
long-range views) is minimal at all times of the year and does not materially
affect the ability to appreciate the highly-graded listed buildings which define the
character of the city centre skyline." Although the padel court would be a fairly
small additional to what is a wide-ranging long distant view from the Elsfield
viewpoint, due to its siting, size, design form and appearance and the impact that
it would have on the heritage significance of the view and the setting of the
spires, it would cause heritage harm.

12.61. It is considered that due to the siting, size, design form and appearance of the
proposed padel court canopy and the associated illumination of the proposed
uses, a low level of less than substantial harm would be caused to the Elsfield
view cone and the setting of the Central Conservation Area.

Impact assessment: Sports pavilions and New Marston Meadows

12.62. The proposed interventions to both cricket pavilions, as shown on the
proposed plans, are relatively light touch comprising internal and external
refurbishment works. At Exeter Pavilion ‘fixed timber and steel security covers’
are proposed however these security covers are not detailed on the proposed
drawings. Details of these would have been requested via condition.

12.63. External access ramps and additional steps are proposed for both buildings.
Whilst these would have a negative impact on the character and appearance of
the buildings, their need is justified and would constitute a public benefit. Further
design details of the ramps, steps and handrails would have been required to
ensure they are of an appropriately high quality to help mitigate the proposed
harm.

12.64. Reference is made for an Air Source Heat Pump to be potentially located on
the viewing balcony of the Exeter pavilion, however no details of the proposed
size and appearance have been provided. As such it has not been possible for
Officers to assess the potential impact. Further details would have been
requested via condition.

12.65. To ensure the refurbishment works are carried out in an appropriately
sympathetic manner that respects the local heritage interest of the buildings, all
existing original features should be retained and restored/ repaired insofar as
practical, and the following details would have also been required via condition:

e External material samples and details

50 30



e large scale joinery and drawn details, including sections, material and
finish details, of replacement windows and doors

e Drawn details of proposed external security shutters including materials
and finished appearance

e Large scale drawn details of new access ramps and steps including details
of external materials and finishes, and handrails

e Details of ASHPs including size, siting and finished appearance

12.66. The external changes to the Exeter squash court building involve fenestration
alterations, including the removal and infilling of the patent glazed rooflight, the
infilling and widening of existing doorways and the creation of new high level
louvre openings. These changes, providing they are carried out using matching
and appropriate materials and are of high quality design, would not impact
heritage significance. Air source heat pumps are proposed to power the
buildings, however again no details have been provided.

12.67. The proposed changes to Hertford squash court building include the
introduction of fenestration to the western half of the building to serve the
proposed café and community room use and access ramps. These works would
result in the loss of the buildings symmetry, a key feature of its architectural
character and appearance. Whilst these changes would have minimal impact on
heritage interest, they do not represent high design quality and would conflict
with the principles of good design.

12.68. A high level of less than substantial harm would be caused to the setting of the
existing building group and the New Marston Meadows, as a result of the size,
mass and height of the padel enclosure, and the height of the proposed lighting
and fencing structures associated with the intensification of use which would
detract from the remote and peaceful character of the sports fields and the
contribution they make to this green spine. As noted previously, the existing
pavilions on the site are relatively modest structures contributing to the designed
landscape of these sports fields and represent the quintessential image of
English national identity at the time of their construction, and the colleges
commitment to provide leisure facilities for their students. The introduction of a
substantially large building with a footprint of approximately 1,500 sgm which
would be of a low quality design in such proximity to these buildings would be
considered to detract from their pleasant character they contribute to the sports
fields. The whole of the building would be clad in translucent green
polycarbonate sheeting which is considered to be of a poor quality, and would
appear as an alien and jarring addition in the setting of the local heritage assets
with their traditional and quintessential character. By virtue of the significant scale
of the building, it is considered that the padel enclosure would detract from the
character and appearance of the existing building group and the natural
character and landscape of the recreation grounds.

12.69. The reconfiguration of the outdoor sports pitches would be a minor alteration
to the site which would be considered wholly acceptable in design terms. The
landscaping proposed would also be considered positive for the site, enhancing
the existing natural landscape.



12.70. It is considered that the footpath would be a welcomed addition to the site
which would allow for suitable access by pedestrians using the current entrance
next to Hertford Pavillion. The footpath due to its limited width and fairly minor
scale when compared to the size of the site as a whole would have a limited
visual impact upon the character and appearance of the site. Nevertheless in this
area where outdoor recreation and sports are located, the proposed footpath
would not appear out of keeping with this.

12.71. The Sheffield stands are considered to be minor additions to the site which
would have a very limited visual impact upon the character and appearance of
the site. Although no elevations or detailed designs of the proposed bicycle and
bin stores have been provided with the application, it is considered that their
locations would be acceptable in principle, subject to high quality materials being
used. Had the overriding reasons for refusal not applied, details of these stores
could have been requested via conditions.

Justification and public benefits

12.72. In accordance with Paragraph 213 of the NPPF and Policy DH3 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036, any harm to heritage assets needs to be clearly and
convincingly justified. Officers note that the number of padel courts proposed is
extensive with seven overall: four indoors and three outdoors. The number of
courts proposed has a direct link to the size of the padel enclosure proposed as
well as the area to be fenced and lit. The Applicant has noted that the height of
the padel canopy has been specified to accommodate the ‘lob shot’, an important
element of the game and the clearance height above the courts is therefore
required to facilitate this. As such the Applicant has stated that the height of the
building could not be reduced. The Applicant has highlighted that they wish the
site to be a year-round sporting ‘hub’, and that the inclusion of padel tennis would
provide a source of revenue to repay over time the investment needed to
rejuvenate the sports grounds. The Applicant has stressed that padel is an
increasingly popular sport and that the covered courts allow the sport to be
played in all weather conditions enhancing its accessibility to the new facilities
throughout the year. In economic terms the Applicant has noted the enclosure
will attract sporting events, tournaments, and padel enthusiasts. The Applicant
has also stressed that the proposals have been developed to limit the footprint of
the new enclosure whist accommodating the game requirements and anticipated
demand.

12.73. Having considered the justification provided by the Applicant for the padel
enclosure and its scale and massing coupled with the aims of the scheme, it is
considered that on balance the padel enclosure has been justified. To allow for
all year play of padel an indoor enclosure is required, and it is clear that the
height of the building could not be reduced without impacting its functionality. In
terms of the number of courts proposed, this has been justified due to anticipated
demand and to ensure that the site attracts sporting events and tournaments.

12.74. In accordance with Paragraph 215 of the NPPF, the less than substantial
harm identified to the significance of the heritage assets must be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal. The Applicant has listed the public

52 32



benefits of the development in their planning statement which Officers have set
out below and provided commentary on each:

Bringing back into meaningful use buildings that have fallen into a state of
disrepair for use as supporting infrastructure for the wider sports facilities.

- Officers give moderate weight to this.

The landscape scheme would result in enhancements to the existing
natural landscape and provide extensive new planting which would achieve
a biodiversity net gain in grassland habitat and hedgerow habitat,
exceeding the mandatory 10% requirement.

- Officers give low weight to this.

In response to both the applicant’s and neighbours’ requests, the proposal
would improve public access throughout the site through the provision of
new pathways connecting with the wider highway network. The sports hub,
in combination with the associated new access paths, would bring about an
improvement in health and wellbeing of its future users.

- Officers give low weight to this.

The new sports pitches and sensitive lighting at the site would address
historic issues of antisocial behaviour and vandalism which is known to the
applicants and neighbours as a long-standing issue which has resulted in
the underuse of this site.

- Officers give moderate weight to this.

The active use of the site for the duration of the year is further considered
to reduce the opportunity for undesirable behaviours at and around the
site.

- Officers give moderate weight to this.

The facilities would be fully inclusive providing facilities for the use of all
ages and abilities. The proposals would improve accessibility to all existing
buildings and new facilities will be DDA compliant.

- Officers give low weight to this.

The transport strategy for the site promotes sustainable transport modes
for future users.

- Officers give low weight to this.

The development would provide jobs through the construction phase of the
development and would increase opportunities for employment in its
operational phase.

- Officers give low weight to this.

The proposals include a café and new community space for hire. These
community facilities are generally lacking within the local neighbourhood.

- Officers give moderate weight to this.

12.75. On balance it is considered that cumulatively the public benefits identified
above would outweigh the low level of less than substantial harm caused to the

53 33



Elsfield view cone and the setting of the Central Conservation Area, however it is
considered that they would not outweigh the high level of less than substantial
harm caused to the setting of the existing building group on the site, nor the New
Marston Meadows as local heritage assets.

12.76. Overall the high level of less than substantial harm caused to the setting of the
local heritage assets is considered not to be outweighed by the moderate level of
public benefits that would result. As such the development fails to accord with
Chapter 16 of the NPPF and Policies RE2, DH1, and DH5 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

d. Neighbouring amenity

12.77. Policy H14 states that planning permission will only be granted for new
development that provides reasonable privacy, daylight and sunlight for
occupants of both existing and new homes, and does not have an overbearing
effect on existing homes. Appendix 3.7 of the Oxford Local Plan sets out
guidelines for assessing the loss of sunlight and daylight using the 45/25 degree
code.

12.78. Policy RE7 states that planning permission will only be granted for
development that ensures that the amenity of communities, occupiers and
neighbours is protected.

12.79. Policy RE8 states that planning permission will not be granted for
development proposals that will generate unacceptable noise and vibration
impacts.

12.80. To the east and north of the recreation grounds there are residential dwellings
on Purcell Road and Fairfax Avenue, and to the south of the site lies Park Farm
as well as Oak Barn which are both accessed from Edgeway Road.

12.81. 1t is considered that the proposed upgrade of the sports pitches, the
alterations to the pavilions and the squash courts, the outdoor courts and cricket
nets, the bin and cycle storage, the footpaths and the alterations to the
landscaping would all be elements of the scheme which when considering their
scale and their distance away from neighbouring occupiers, would not
detrimentally impact upon any neighbouring occupiers in regards to daylight
access, outlook, privacy, and nor would they be overbearing features.

12.82. The proposed padel tennis enclosure would approximately measure 59.2m in
length, 25.4m in width, and would have a curved roof with a maximum height of
approximately 10.5m. The walls and roof of the enclosure would be clad in in
green polycarbonate sheets and it is noted that the enclosure would include
lighting. The closest dwellings to this structure would be Park Farm located
approximately 16.5m to the south, however the dwellinghouse on the farm is
located approximately over 60m away. Dwellings on Purcell Road would be
located approximately 75m to the east. Whilst the size of the building is
considerable, given the distance it will be located away from the closest
dwellings, when coupled with its relatively low maximum height at 10.5m, it is

54 34



considered on balance not to detrimentally impact upon the daylight afforded to
the neighbouring occupiers, nor would it impact their outlook or be overbearing.

12.83. Lighting is proposed as part of the proposals including lighting of the footpaths
as well as the outdoor padel courts, the basketball and netball courts.

12.84. The footpaths would be lit with 1m high bollards which would be spaced out
every 12m. the same 1m high bollards would be used to light the site entrance
from Edgeway Road. Given the low height of these lights, their spacing, and the
presence of vegetation surrounding the site, it is considered that these lights
would not detrimentally impact the neighbouring occupiers of Park Farm to the
south nor on Purcell Road to the east.

12.85. Lighting is proposed for the outdoor padel courts as well as the
netball/basketball/football courts, which would comprise of vertical column lights.
Given the outdoor padel courts are located to the west of the indoor padel courts
which would help block the light, it is considered that the dwellings located to the
east on Purcell Close would not be detrimentally impacted. In addition the
netball/basketball/football courts are also located further to the west and would
emit less light than the padel courts, and as such it is considered again that the
lighting would not detrimentally impact the occupiers of dwellings on Purcell
Road.

12.86. The dwelling on Park Farm is located to the south and east of the outdoor
courts and would be closest to the lights proposed. Officers note however that
the existing Hertford Squash building would be an intervening feature between
the house and the outdoor padel courts, and the Exeter Pavilion and Squash
courts would also be intervening features between the house and the
netball/basketball/football courts. For these reasons, on balance it is considered
again that the lighting would not detrimentally impact the occupiers of Park Farm.

12.87. In relation to the indoor padel enclosure, whilst the translucent nature of the
cladding means the proposed building would emit light, it is considered that the
light would not be significantly bright so as to detrimentally impact neighbouring
occupiers.

12.88. An acoustic assessment has been submitted to satisfy National Planning
Policy Framework, the Noise Policy Statement for England and Planning Policy
Guidance, World Health Organisation (WHO) Guidelines for Community Noise
guidance and Policy RE8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036. Having assessed the
technical assessment, Officers consider that noise from the new sports activity is
expected to be below both existing ambient noise levels and Sports England
targets at the nearest noise-sensitive receptors.

12.89. The acoustic assessment does not however include the air source heat pumps
proposed and whether they would have any detrimental impact upon the nearest
sensitive noise receptors. As such in the absence of such assessment, Officers
cannot be certain that the proposed installation of air source heat pumps would
be acceptable with regards to neighbouring amenity and noise.



12.90. As such the proposals fail to demonstrate compliance with Policies RE7 and
RES8 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Flooding

12.91. Policy RE3 states that planning permission will not be granted for
development in Flood zone 3b except where it is for water-compatible uses or
essential infrastructure; or where it is on previously developed land and it will
represent an improvement for the existing situation in terms of flood risk. All of
the following criteria must be met:

a) it will not lead to a net increase in the built footprint of the existing building
and where possible lead to a decrease; and

b) it will not lead to a reduction in flood storage (through the use of flood
compensation measures) and where possible increase flood storage; and

c) it will not lead to an increased risk of flooding elsewhere; and
d) it will not put any future occupants of the development at risk.

12.92. It notes that new development will be directed towards areas of low flood risk
(Flood Zone 1), and that in considering proposals elsewhere, the sequential and
exception tests will be applied.

12.93. It goes onto say that planning applications for development within Flood Zone
2, 3, on sites larger than 1 ha in Flood Zone 1 and, in areas identified as Critical
Drainage Areas, must be accompanied by a Site Specific Flood Risk Assessment
(FRA) to align with National Policy. The FRA must be undertaken in accordance
with up to date flood data, national and local guidance on flooding and consider
flooding from all sources. The suitability of developments proposed will be
assessed according to the sequential approach and exceptions test as set out in
Planning Practice Guidance. Planning permission will only be granted where the
FRA demonstrates that:

e) the proposed development will not increase flood risk on site or off site; and
f) safe access and egress in the event of a flood can be provided; and

g) details of the necessary mitigation measures to be implemented have been
provided

12.94. Paragraph 173 of the NPPF outlines that a sequential risk-based approach
should be taken to individual applications in areas known to be at risk now or in
future from any form of flooding.

12.95. Paragraph 174 of the NPPF notes that within this context the aim of the
sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the lowest risk of
flooding from any source. Development should not be allocated or permitted if
there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed development in
areas with a lower risk of flooding. The strategic flood risk assessment will
provide the basis for applying this test.

56 36



12.96. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF outlines that the sequential test should be used in
areas known to be at risk now or in the future from any form of flooding, except in
situations where a site-specific flood risk assessment demonstrates that no built
development within the site boundary, including access or escape routes, land
raising or other potentially vulnerable elements, would be located on an area that
would be at risk of flooding from any source, now and in the future (having regard
to potential changes in flood risk).

12.97. Paragraph 177 of the NPPF notes that having applied the sequential test, if it
is not possible for development to be located in areas with a lower risk of flooding
(taking into account wider sustainable development objectives), the exception
test may have to be applied. The need for the exception test will depend on the
potential vulnerability of the site and of the development proposed, in line with
the Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification set out in Annex 3.

12.98. The site contains areas of flood zones 1, 2 and 3 within the red line boundary,
including extensive areas of flood zone 3b - the functional floodplain - in which
only water-compatible development is permitted. Flood Zones 2 and 3 are
defined by the NPPF and associated Flood risk and coastal change Planning
Policy Guidance (PPG) as having a medium and high probability of flooding.

12.99. As highlighted in the PPG, the sequential test should be applied to ‘Major’ and
‘Non-major’ development proposed in areas at risk of flooding, as set out in
paragraphs 173 to 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. Paragraphs
175, 176 and 180 set out exemptions from the sequential test. It also notes that
in applying paragraph 175 a proportionate approach should be taken. Where a
site-specific flood risk assessment demonstrates clearly that the proposed layout,
design, and mitigation measures would ensure that occupiers and users would
remain safe from current and future surface water flood risk for the lifetime of the
development (therefore addressing the risks identified e.g. by Environment
Agency flood risk mapping), without increasing flood risk elsewhere, then the
sequential test need not be applied.

12.100. The proposals comprise a major development proposed in an area at
risk of flooding. The site comprises of areas of Flood Zone 1, 2, 3a and 3b and as
such the sequential test is applicable.

12.101. In relation to whether the proposals are exempt from the sequential
test, the exemption outlined in paragraph 175 would not be applicable as the
proposals involve built development located in an area that would be at risk of
flooding. Paragraph 176 notes that applications for change of use should not be
subject to the sequential test, and therefore the change of use of Hertford squash
courts to café, changing facilities, sports hub reception area and community
facilities would be exempt. Paragraph 180 would not be appliable as the site is
not allocated in the development plan through the sequential test.

12.102. It is noted that the PPG guidance in relation to the exemption outlined
under paragraph 175, notes that where a site-specific flood risk assessment
demonstrates clearly that the proposed layout, design, and mitigation measures
would ensure that occupiers and users would remain safe from current and future
surface water flood risk for the lifetime of the development (therefore addressing

57 37



the risks identified e.g. by Environment Agency flood risk mapping), without
increasing flood risk elsewhere, then the sequential test need not be applied.

12.103. In considering the above, Officers note that the proposed football and
cricket pitches, outdoor padel courts, outdoor basketball/netball/football courts
and cricket nets would all be floodable. The Applicant has also stated that the
padel enclosure would be floodable, however the Applicant has not
demonstrated that the padel enclosure would allow for safe access and egress
and therefore the FRA fails to ensure that the occupiers and users would remain
safe from current,future surface water flood risk and flood risk from rivers. In
addition the Applicant has not demonstrated that the padel enclosure would be
acceptable in relation to floodplain compensation and therefore the FRA fails to
demonstrate that the proposals would not increase flood risk elsewhere.

12.104. As such the sequential test must be applied to the location of the padel
enclosure. The proposed padel enclosure would be located within Flood Zone
3b at the western end, passing through Zone 3a to Zone 2 at its eastern end. It is
considered that there is sufficient space on the site for the padel enclosure to be
located within an area with a lower risk of flooding as the whole padel enclosure
could be located outside of Flood Zone 3b as well as 3a. As such the proposals
fail to comply with the sequential test.The Flood risk vulnerability and flood zone
compatibility table outlines when development is appropriate, when development
is not appropriate, and when the exception test is required. Sections 6.7 and 6.8
of the Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) contain a review of the uses of the
proposed scheme, fitting the proposals either into 'car parks', with a ‘less
vulnerable' classification, which is not allowed within FZ3b, or ‘amenity open
space, nature conservation and biodiversity, outdoor sports and recreation and
essential facilities such as changing rooms' - all of which are deemed by the
NPPF as 'water compatible' development, and hence acceptable in these terms
within FZ3b. These sections of the FRA also offer justification regarding the
proposed uses. Officers’ response to this justification is outlined below:

Exeter Pavilion

12.105. The Exeter Pavilion building is located wholly within FZ3b - the
functional floodplain - in which development is not usually permitted. The
existing use is for changing rooms, toilets, stores, a meeting space, veranda and
first floor balcony. The use is not changed by the proposals. The finished floor
levels would also remain unchanged, at 57.41mAQOD internally, and 57.35mAOD
on the external veranda - all of which sits above the design flood level of
57.09mAOD. New/enlarged access stairs and ramps are proposed, and these
would also fall within FZ3b. There is therefore an objection in principle to the
proposals given the addition of stairs and ramps within the functional floodplain.
Whilst a flood compensation basin ('‘basin 3') is indicated on one of the drawings
(0200), no further details, such as level-for-level analysis or how this basin is
hydraulically connected to the floodplain, are provided. There is also a further
objection in principle to the proposed use as a meeting space as this is not a
water compatible use. Despite the fact that there is an existing meeting space in
the building, this planning application must be assessed on its own merits, and
that includes a review of the vulnerability classifications of the proposed building
uses. Carter Jonas’ covering letter dated 21/08/25 states this meeting room is

58 38



removed from the scheme. However the 'hall' shown on the proposed floor plans
would still be classed as 'leisure' and therefore fit into the less vulnerable
category and would not be allowed.

12.106. Section 9.0 of the FRA addresses safe access and egress to the site.
In this section, it is stated that site management would be signed up to EA flood
warnings, and that site would be closed in the event of a severe flood warning
and in adverse weather conditions. This would ensure that no users of the
facilities would be put at risk due to flooding. Should flooding occur without
warning, the building would remain safe and dry, and occupants could remain
there and await rescue. Whilst the safe access and egress is therefore
acceptable, the use in principle however is unacceptable.

Exeter Squash Court

12.107. The Exeter Squash Court building sits wholly within FZ3b - the
functional floodplain - in which development is not usually permitted. The
existing use is a squash court and store cupboard. The proposed use includes a
golf simulator, toilet, seating/viewing area, and lockers in a lobby area. These
uses are not "outdoors sports recreation and essential facilities such as changing
rooms" - i.e. not 'water compatible’. The uses are more akin to "leisure" which is
classed as 'less vulnerable' in the NPPF and not permitted development within
FZ3b. There is therefore an objection in principle to the proposed redevelopment
of this building, coupled with the addition of stairs and ramps within the functional
floodplain. Whilst a flood compensation basin (‘basin 3') is indicated on one of
the drawings (0200), no further details, such as level-for-level analysis or how
this basin is hydraulically connected to the floodplain, are provided.

12.108. The proposal seeks to raise the first floor level from the existing
56.93mAOD to 57.41mAOD, which would then be above the design flood level of
57.09mAOD. Section 9.0 of the FRA addresses safe access and egress to the
site. In this section, it is stated that site management would be signed up to EA
flood warnings, and that site would be closed in the event of a severe flood
warning and in adverse weather conditions. This would ensure that no users of
the facilities would be put at risk due to flooding. Should flooding occur without
warning, the building would remain safe and dry, and occupants could remain
there and await rescue. Whilst the safe access and egress is therefore
acceptable, the use in principle however is unacceptable.

Hertford College Pavilion

12.109. The footprint of the building itself lies within FZ1 and is not at risk of
flooding. However, the new access ramp shown to the south-west and the steps
on the north-west are at the edge of FZ2. Section 9.0 of the FRA addresses safe
access and egress to the site. In this section, it is stated that site management
would be signed up to EA flood warnings, and that site would be closed in the
event of a severe flood warning and in adverse weather conditions. This would
ensure that no users of the facilities would be put at risk due to flooding. Should
flooding occur without warning, the building would remain safe and dry, and
occupants could remain there and await rescue. The existing building use is for
changing rooms, toilets, stores, a meeting space and a veranda, and this is not

59 39



changed by the proposals. The finished floor level would not be changed from
the existing level of 57.81mAOD internally, and 57.78mAOD on the external
veranda. All of these levels are above the design flood level of 57.09mAQOD. As
such there is no objection to the Hertford College Pavilion proposals in terms of
flooding.

Hertford Squash Building

12.110. The Hertford Squash Building sits partially within FZ2/3a/3b. The
existing uses are squash courts, toilets, changing rooms, and stairs to first floor
viewing. The proposal is for team sports changing rooms, toilets, a café, an
administration office, a reception office, and a merchandise display area, a first
floor multi-purpose community room, store and plant rooms. Given that the
building is existing, and that it is possible to exit the building via accessible ramps
into FZ2 (to the south), rather than into FZ3b (to the north), it is considered that
the internal function of the building can be treated as though it were fully within
FZ2 for the purposes of NPPF vulnerability classification. This allows 'less
vulnerable' uses such as cafes, shops, offices, and assembly and leisure
functions. The finished floor level would not be changed from the existing level of
57.42mAOD internally, and 57.22mAOD on the external veranda. All of these
levels are above the design flood level of 57.09mAOD.

12.111. Section 9.0 of the FRA addresses safe access and egress to the site.
In this section, it is stated that site management would be signed up to EA flood
warnings, and that site would be closed in the event of a severe flood warning
and in adverse weather conditions. This would ensure that no users of the
facilities would be put at risk due to flooding. Should flooding occur without
warning, the building would remain safe and dry, and occupants could remain
there and await rescue.

12.112. Officers must however object to the proposals given the addition of
stairs and ramps within the functional floodplain. Whilst the Infrastruct letter
response states that their level for level analysis includes/allows for the stairs and
ramps, as reiterated in the EA comments regarding the floodplain the level for
level compensation method is still not appropriate. The EA highlights that
compensation areas within design flood event extents (volumetric), while level for
level would be expected on edge of floodplain. They note that the network pipe
method of hydraulically connecting compensation areas is not appropriate, and
that whilst a small swale channel should be fine, the top three level for level
bands are proposed as loses so they would not be level for level. These
comments made by the EA relate to the Flood Level Comparison Table 6.3.2
within the FRA.

Padel Enclosure

12.113. The proposed padel enclosure would be located within FZ3b at the
western end, passing through FZ3a, to FZ2 at the eastern end. The FRA,
Section 6.8, has confirmed that the padel enclosure has been designed as
floodable. The drawing (PT-L1 rev B) shows a finished floor level of
57.050mAOD. Whilst the Applicant has tried to justify the impact upon floodplain

60 40



storage, again as noted in the EA comments, the floodplain level for level
compensation method is not appropriate.

12.114. In relation to safe and access and egress, it is stated that site
management would be signed up to EA flood warnings, and that the site would
be closed in the event of a severe flood warning and in adverse weather
conditions. This would ensure that no users of the facilities would be put at risk
due to flooding. Should flooding occur without warning however, the padel
enclosure would not remain safe and dry, and occupants could not remain there
and await rescue as it is a floodable building. A standalone Flood Warning and
Evacuation Plan separate and in addition to the FRA would be required upfront
for the padel enclosure due to the high risk of flooding. Therefore safe access
and egress from the padel enclosure has not been demonstrated.

12.115. In summary, the principle of the proposed uses of the site in flood zone
3b, namely car parks, the golf simulator in the Exeter Squash Court, and the 'hall’
in the Exeter Pavillion are unacceptable. None of these uses are deemed 'water
compatible’ under Annex 3 of the NPPF, and therefore these elements of the
proposal are classed as inappropriate development in accordance with the flood
risk vulnerability and flood zone compatibility table.

12.116. The Environment Agency (EA) noted that the Flood Risk Assessment
does not satisfactorily address their concerns of providing suitable level for level
floodplain compensation and appropriate hazard data to cover safe
access/egress.

12.117. They highlight that the submitted FRA does not comply with the
requirements for site-specific flood risk assessments, as set out in paragraphs 20
to 21 of the Flood Risk and Coastal Change Planning Practice Guidance and its
site-specific flood risk assessment checklist. The EA state the FRA does not
therefore adequately assess whether the development will increase flood risk
elsewhere. In particular, the EA stated that the FRA fails to consider how people
will be kept safe from the identified flood hazards and also fails to take the
impacts of climate change into account.

12.118. The EA states that the FRA needs to demonstrate that any loss of
floodplain storage within the 1% AEP plus an appropriate allowance for climate
change (25%) can be directly compensated for to prevent an increase in flood
risk elsewhere. (Level for level compensation method still not appropriate.
Compensation areas within design flood event extents (volumetric), while level
for level would be expected on edge of floodplain. Network pipe method of
hydraulically connecting compensation areas is not appropriate. Small Swale
Channel should be fine, however. Top 3 level for level bands are proposed as
loses so they would not be level for level).

12.119. In addition, the EA stated that the FRA needs to use the appropriate
fluvial hazard data for the design flood event to demonstrate that safe
access/egress has been considered (local model for proxy 25% CC AEP Event).

12.120. In relation to floodplain storage, the EA noted that any increase in built
footprint or raising of ground levels should be compensated up to the 1% AEP

61 41



plus an appropriate allowance for climate change flood level. This is necessary to
prevent the proposed development reducing floodplain storage and displacing
flood waters, thereby increasing flood risk elsewhere.

12.121. In relation to level for level floodplain compensation, the EA explained
that this is the preferred method of mitigation and should be considered within
the FRA. Level for level floodplain compensation is the matching of floodplain
storage volumes lost with new floodplain storage volume gained through the
reduction of ground levels. They noted that for this to be achievable it requires
land on the edge of the floodplain and above the 1% annual exceedance
probability (AEP) flood level with an appropriate allowance for climate change to
be available. A comparison of ground levels (from a topographical survey) with
modelled floodplain levels would show if land is available above the 1% AEP
flood level with an appropriate allowance for climate change to be used as
compensation.

12.122. The EA recommend that level for level floodplain storage calculations
are provided in a table that sets out the volume of floodplain storage lost (cut)
and the volume of floodplain storage gained (fill) for each of the slices. Typically,
the thickness of a slice should be 100mm or 200mm, dependent on-site specific
considerations. This may vary in the case of large, very flat sites, where 0.05
metres could be used; or in very steep sites with a high range of flood water
levels. Slice thickness should be set to provide 10 to 15 slices in these cases. It
would need to be demonstrated that there would be no net loss in storage
volume for any slice.

12.123. The EA asked for a location plan that corresponds with the table to be
submitted showing where the compensation will be located on site. The location
of the changes in floodplain storage should be clearly identified, demonstrating
the scheme would be hydraulically connected for each slice. The EA noted that it
is not acceptable to propose works several kilometres away or separated from
the site by a significant structure such as a weir, bridge or other obstruction.

12.124. The EA states that excavation of the proposed floodplain compensation
scheme should be completed prior to the construction of development to ensure
floodplain capacity is maintained. If this cannot be achieved, then the applicant
may need to amend the development to ensure that there would be no increase
in flood risk elsewhere (for example by reducing built footprint or amount of land
raising proposed).

12.125. The EA also highlighted that the applicant may require a Flood Risk
Activity Permit (FRAP) to undertake the proposed works as the main river
Peasmoor Brook runs through the site. As submitted, the EA states that it is
unlikely that a permit would be granted. The applicant would need to
demonstrate that the proposed works will not adversely impact on flood risk or
the watercourse.

12.126. Overall the proposals are contrary to Policy RE3 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036, Chapter 14 of the NPPF, and the Flood Risk and Coastal Change
Planning Practice Guidance.

62 42



Drainage

12.127. Policy RE4 states that all development proposals will be required to
manage surface water through Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) or
techniques to limit run-off and reduce the existing rate of run-off on previously
developed sites. Surface water runoff should be managed as close to its source
as possible, in line with the following drainage hierarchy:

a) store rainwater for later use; then:
b) discharge into the ground (infiltration); then:
c) discharge to a surface water body; then:

d) discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain or other drainage
system; and finally:

e) discharge to a combined sewer.

12.128. It also notes that Applicants must demonstrate that they have had
regard to the Oxfordshire County Council guidance, as Lead Local Flood
Authority, for major development.

12.129. Infodrainage calculations submitted within the Infrastruct statement
(5648-EXET-ICS-CO-C-03.003) show the system modelled as surcharged, with
flooded level 56.50mAOD. The Council asked for further information/justification
why this surcharged level has been chosen, rather than the design flood level of
57.09mAOD. The Applicant stated that this is to model the typical river level and
that the premise is that in the design flood event, the site would be flooded and
all SuDS features would be full of river water, and therefore there is no need to
design the system to take roof water in this event. This position has not yet
however been agreed between the Applicant, LLFA and LPA.

12.130. In on-site investigations, groundwater rose to within 200mm of the
surface. This would impact on much of the designed attenuation volume. All
detention/attenuation features should be lined, to avoid reduction in storage
volume due to high groundwater levels. This could be clay-lining, or other
method, in line with standard good practice. It is of further importance that
parking areas are tanked, as it is not possible to achieve the 1m buffer required
to ensure that groundwater quality is not affected by this area of higher pollution
potential. It is however unclear from the various submitted documents whether
the proposed drainage design incorporates lining to all detention/attenuation
features as there are contradictions in the information submitted. Some
information states that this is being changed in accordance with LLFA/LPA
comments, while the Infrastruct response letter states that they disagree with this
approach. Nothwithstanding this, the use of permeable geotextiles for attenuation
features in high groundwater areas however are not appropriate and as such are
unacceptable features of the drainage strategy. In addition there are vague
suggestions of bunding proposed to protect attenuation features in flood risk
areas, however they have not been fully detailed.

63 43



12.131. The scheme includes two headwalls to discharge into the Peasmoor
Brook, the southern-most of which appears on drawing 0200 to sit outside of the
red line boundary. Officers asked the applicant to confirm that they are the
riparian owner, and that the headwall will be positioned within their land
ownership boundary. No confirmation has been provided from the Applicant that
they are the riparian owner of the land where two headwalls are proposed to
discharge into the Peasmoor Brook. The LLFA also noted that there is
insufficient detail on how well this would operate in times of flooding with
reference to levels.

12.132. The FRA states that a Section 23 Land Drainage Consent would be
required for the discharges into the Peasmoor Brook. This watercourse is a
designated Statutory Main River and as such consent to construct outfalls and to
discharge into the river must be sought from the Environment Agency.
Permissions may also be required for other elements of the proposed scheme,
where works are located close the watercourse.

12.133. As such the drainage strategy proposed contains insufficient details for
Officers to ascertain that the strategy would be acceptable.

12.134. Overall the proposals are contrary to Policy RE4 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

e. Highways Safety and Parking

12.135. Policy M1 states that planning permission will only be granted for
development that minimises the need to travel and is laid out and designed in a
way that prioritises access by walking, cycling and public transport.

12.136. Policy M2 states that a Transport Assessment must be submitted for
development that is likely to generate significant amounts of movement, in
accordance with the requirements as defined in Appendix 7.1.

12.137. Policy M2 also states a Travel Plan, which has clear objectives, targets
and a monitoring and review procedure, must be submitted for development that
is likely to generate significant amounts of movement in accordance with the
requirements in Appendix 7.2.

12.138. Policy M3 states that the parking requirements for all non-residential
development, whether expansions of floorspace on existing sites, the
redevelopment of existing or cleared sites, or new non- residential development
on new sites, will be determined in the light of the submitted Transport
Assessment or Travel Plan, which must take into account the objectives of this
Plan to promote and achieve a shift towards sustainable modes of travel. The
presumption will be that vehicle parking will be kept to the minimum necessary to
ensure the successful functioning of the development.

12.139. Policy M3 also notes that in the case of the redevelopment of an
existing or previously cleared site, there should be no net increase in parking on
the site from the previous level and the Council will seek a reduction where there
is good accessibility to a range of facilities.

64 a4



12.140. Policy M5 states that planning permission will only be granted for
development that complies with or exceeds the minimum bicycle parking
provision as set out in Appendix 7.3. It also notes that bicycle parking should be,
well designed and well-located, convenient, secure, covered (where possible
enclosed) and provide level, unobstructed external access to the street.

12.141. Policy RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning
permission will only be granted for development that does not have unacceptable
transport impacts.

12.142. A Transport Assessment (TA) and Travel Plan have been submitted
with the planning application which Oxfordshire County Council as Local
Highways Authority reviewed and made the following comments:

Site Location and Vehicle Access Arrangements

12.143. The site is located north of Edgeway Road. Access to the site is via
Edgeway Road which, from the junction with Ferry Road, is a single track private
road and a Public Right of Way (PROW) footpath. Edgeway Road is a single
track road and PROW without passing places, approximately 3m wide. The
PROW is well-used as can be seen from the survey. There are no verges so if a
car passes there is not much space available for pedestrians and cyclists,
especially as the northern section of the road includes a ditch.

12.144. There is a slight bend in the road and there is therefore no
unobstructed visibility from the Ferry Road junction to the next available area
where two vehicles can pass which is at the farm entrance. This means that two
opposing vehicles would not be able to see each other in time and one vehicle
would have to reverse as there are no passing places. This would be
unacceptable on a busy PROW.

12.145. In addition, the Marston Cycle Path, a well-used cycle track linking
central Oxford to Marston and Headington, crosses Edgeway Road from Ferry
Road. Visibility from the Edgeway Road north arm towards the north-east onto
the cycle path is poor due to the position of a fence. Vehicles travelling south
would therefore struggle to see a fast moving southbound cyclist in time. Any
intensification on Edgeway Road would affect the safety of cyclists on this
important cycle route.

12.146. The Local Highways Authority therefore considered that a barrier would
be required at the junction of Edgeway Road with Ferry Road as any increase in
traffic on Edgeway Road would be unacceptable.

12.147. The Transport Assessment confirms that bollards would be located on
Edgeway Road towards the junction with Ferry Road and there would be a
remote operated system linked to the booking system for future users of the site.
This is considered to overcome the potential issues associated with vehicle
access arrangements. Had the overriding reasons for refusal not applied, a
condition would have been recommended to obtain details of the management of

65 45



the bollard control system to ensure that the impact of the intensification of the
site would be appropriately mitigated.

Pedestrian and cycle access

12.148. The main pedestrian and cycle access to the site would be via
Edgeway Road. The proposals would result in a significant intensification of
person trips to and from the site. The width of the northern section of Edgeway
Road is 3m and there is therefore insufficient space for a vehicle to safely pass a
bicycle. As such a barrier is required as discussed above.

12.149. Notwithstanding the required barrier, there would be an intensification
of Edgeway Road by vehicles as well as pedestrians and cyclists. This would
affect the junction with the Marston Cycle Path and it is therefore considered that
improvements in the form of signage and lining would be required at this junction,
which is private land within the applicant's ownership, to mitigate the
intensification of use.

12.150. The issue is not an intensification of vehicular traffic, but of pedestrians
and cyclists to and from the site, who are having to cross a well-used cycle link.
The intervisibility is only a couple of metres at the junction, therefore, without
mitigation, there could be an increased risk of cycle - cycle or pedestrian- cycle
collisions. The junction is not within the highway boundary but is private land and
understood to be owned by Oxford University rather than the applicants.

12.151. The Applicants confirmed that they are willing to contribute towards an
improvement scheme at this location and will discuss improvements with Oxford
University. Had the overriding reasons for refusal not applied it would have been
conditioned that this is actioned prior to opening of the padel and additional
netball courts, in order to ensure safety of site users.

12.152. The TA states that a 1.5m wide footway lit with bollards would be
provided within the eastern boundary of the site, which would provide a second
pedestrian access connecting to the adjacent Croft Road Playground located
north of the site. A third pedestrian and cycle access would be from the Marston
Cycle Path via a gate. These two additional active travel accesses are
considered necessary to ensure permeability for pedestrians and cyclists.

Sustainable transport connectivity/transport sustainability

12.153. The site is well connected to the local cycle network with the Marston
Cycle Path (OXR11), located south of the site, which is a quiet route off-road and
Ferry Road (OXR9), a quiet route on-road.

12.154. The nearest bus stops are located 600m from the edge of the site. The
padel courts would be located 130m from the entrance and would therefore be
730m from the bus stops. These bus stops are used by the X3 service with a
frequency of 20 minutes.

12.155. The CIHT document Buses in Towns includes recommended maximum
walking distances to bus stops. For single high frequency services this is 400

66 46



metres, the report states: “These maxima are intended to enable the bus to
compete effectively with the car and to benefit a wide range of people with
differing levels of motivation and walking ability.”

12.156. It can therefore be concluded that the site is not within the
recommended maximum walking distance to a bus stop and therefore unlikely to
compete with the car as a mode of travel to the site.

Site Layout

12.157. Access to the site is via the existing gravel car park which would remain
as existing. The cycle store will be located west of the car park adjacent to the
golf simulator. It is considered that this location is not prominent, and signing
would be required to ensure users can find the cycle parking area.

12.158. The emergency access to the padel courts and café is through the car
park. The applicant would need to ensure that this remains unobstructed at all
times.

Trip Generation

12.159. As this is a non-standard use, it is considered that trip generation based
on surveys of the site, or similar sites, and or accurate first principles is key.

12.160. A first principles approach has been used to calculate the anticipated
trips to the sports facilities, however employees have not been included in the
calculation.

12.161. The 2011 Census ‘Location of usual residence and place of work by
Method of travel to work’ dataset has been used to obtain the modal split for
Scenario 2: public trips. Oxford 004 middle super output area (MSOA) was used
for origin and other MSOAs within the Oxford City limits was used for place of
work. This showed a 25% car driver mode share.

12.162. Using Census travel to work data significantly underestimates the
number of single occupancy vehicle trips to and from the site as a large
proportion of travel to work within Oxford will be to the city centre where there is
no parking available and evening travel to leisure facilities is likely to be more car
based than commuting trips.

12.163. The LHA considered that the Parking Management Plan should set out
the parking proposals for event/ competition days.

Car parking

12.164. The site is situated northwest of the Marston South Controlled Parking
Zone with restrictions Monday to Friday 9am - 5pm.

12.165. When parking stress exceeds 80%, vehicles would struggle to find a
parking space and there would be insufficient gaps where two cars could pass
which could lead to congestion and have a negative impact on highway safety,
especially for cyclists. Ferry Road is a designated quiet on-road cycle route and

67 ar



the potential increased parking and vehicles using the road would have a
negative effect on this route.

12.166. In the parking calculations the applicant had not included staff parking.
If staff parking is included, the calculations are as follows:
Weekday Weekend
Spaces 379 379
Occupied 211 203
Available 168 176
Devglopment 71+6 121+6
requirement
On-site Parking 18 18
Parking Stress 71% 82%
12.167. The applicant states that the typically accepted parking stress threshold

is 85%. The applicant mentioned two appeal decisions. Appeal
APP/L5240/W/31/3281590 states in paragraph 29 that “the threshold for
saturated conditions is generally taken to be 85%.”

12.168. The appeal decision confirms that by 85% parking stress is considered
saturated. This development would therefore likely increase the on-street parking
to ‘almost saturated conditions’ and this could significantly impact on local
residents of the area. It is therefore considered that a contribution would be
required for a review of the Marston South Residents Parking Zone.

12.169. The review would include surveys to establish the parking stress
following the additional development on-site, and public consultation regarding
changes to the restrictions. This would include amendments to the restriction
times to help discourage car use and encourage sustainable travel.

Cycle parking

12.170. The applicant proposes to increase the cycle parking to 120 spaces,
including more cycle parking near the padel courts. However, based on the mode
share numbers, this might not be enough. The worst case would be 90 people
arriving by bicycle each hour. If they stay 2 hours, 190 spaces would be required.
In addition, the aim for the Travel Plan is to increase the bicycle model share
from 37% to 41% which would require 200 spaces. Therefore had the overriding
reasons for refusal not applied, a condition would have been recommended for
additional details of cycle parking for at least 200 spaces to be provided to the
Local Planning Authority prior to occupation.

Servicing

68 48



12.171. A draft Delivery and Servicing Management Plan has been submitted
with the application, but this does not include information on the frequency of
deliveries or the management when access is obstructed by a barrier. A
condition for an updated Delivery and Servicing Management Plan has therefore
been included.

12.172. Apart from the refuse vehicle, a 7.5tonne box van is envisaged to be
the largest vehicle associated with the operation of the development. A swept
path analysis has been included in the TA to demonstrate that vehicles can
access and egress the site in forward gear.

Travel Plan

12.173. As the site is expanding, a full Travel Plan is required. This should be
produced prior to first occupation and then updated within 3 months of
occupation. The submitted Travel Plan should meet the criteria contained within
appendix 5 of the OCC guidance document ‘Transport for New Developments —
Transport Assessments and Travel Plans March 2014’. A Travel Plan dated
November 2024 was submitted with this application; however, the document
requires further information to meet the criteria outlined within the
aforementioned appendix 5. Had the application not been otherwise refused this
would have been secured by condition.

Contributions

12.174. The LHA has requested a £45,000 contribution towards a review of the
Marston South Residents Parking Zone and amending the Traffic Regulation
Order. They noted that the Marston South Residents Controlled Parking Zone
(CPZ) is weekdays daytime only and that the peak period of the proposed
development is evenings and weekends. They consider that the development is
likely to increase the on-street parking to almost saturated conditions, and that a
review of the CPZ, which would include surveys to establish the parking stress
and public consultation is therefore considered justified.

12.175. The LHA also requested £1,985 towards a Travel Plan Monitoring. They
noted that the Travel Plan submitted aims to encourage and promote more
sustainable modes of transport with the objective of reducing dependence upon
private motor car travel, and so reducing the environmental impact and traffic
congestion. They also noted that a Travel Plan is required to make this
development acceptable in planning terms.

12.176. The Highways Authority noted that a Travel Plan is a ‘dynamic’
document tailored to the needs of businesses and requires an iterative method of
re-evaluation and amendment. The County Council needs to carry out biennial
monitoring over five years of the life of a Travel Plan which includes the following
activities:

* review survey data produced by the developer

« compare it to the progress against the targets in the approved Travel Plan
and census or national travel survey data sets

69 49



* agree any changes in an updated actions or future targets in an updated
Travel Plan.

12.177. In summary the LHA justified that the Travel Plan monitoring fee is
therefore required to make the development acceptable in planning terms,
because it enables the monitoring to take place which is necessary to deliver an
effective Travel Plan.

12.178. Officers note that during the public consultation comments were raised
regarding the existing level of parking on the site and that additional space has
been created. Having reviewed historical aerial imagery, it appears that there
has for at least 10 years been a hard surface in situ to the south of the Exeter
pavilion and squash courts building. The hard surface has not been laid out as a
car park and there are no line markings and as such there are no restrictions on
how many vehicles could park in this location. The lack of any formal layout for
the car park means that visitors could also simply park on the grass areas
surrounding the hardstanding. It is therefore considered that the exact number of
vehicle spaces on the site at present is difficult to ascertain. Given the area of
hard surfacing is proposed to be marked out formally with parking bays, it is
considered that this would help to reduce informal parking which could currently
take place and as such it would be unreasonable to refuse the application on the
basis of a net gain in parking.

12.179. Had the overriding reasons for refusal not applied, subject to conditions
and S106 contributions, the proposals comply with Policies M1, M2, M3, M5 and
RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

f. Archaeology

12.180. Policy DH4 states that within the City Centre Archaeological Area, on
allocated sites where identified, or elsewhere where archaeological deposits and
features are suspected to be present (including upstanding remains),
applications should include sufficient information to define the character,
significance and extent of such deposits so far as reasonably practical. This
information should include:

a) a Heritage Assessment that includes a description of the impacted
archaeological deposit or feature (including where relevant its setting), an
assessment of its significance and the impact of the proposed development on its
significance, in all cases using a proportionate level of detail that is sufficient to
understand the potential impact of the proposal. The Statement should reference
appropriate records (including the information held on the Oxford Historic
Environment Record); and

b) if appropriate, a full archaeological desk-based assessment and the results of
evaluation by fieldwork (produced by an appropriately qualified contractor. Pre-
application discussion is encouraged to establish requirements). In the City
Centre Archaeological Area where significant archaeological asset types can be
shown to be subject to cumulative impact from development, the desk-based
assessment should contain appropriate contextual assessment of this impact.

70 50



12.181. Paragraph 207 of the NPPF states that in determining applications,
local planning authorities should require an applicant to describe the significance
of any heritage assets affected, including any contribution made by their setting.
The level of detail should be proportionate to the assets' importance and no more
than is sufficient to understand the potential impact of the proposal on their
significance. Where a site on which development is proposed includes or has the
potential to include heritage assets with archaeological interest, local planning
authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate desk-based
assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.

12.182. An assessment of the archaeological implications of the proposed
scheme has been based upon the information in the Oxford Historic Environment
Record and the submitted Archaeological Desk Based Assessment (Oxford
Archaeology 2024).

12.183. This site is of interest because it is located on the edge of the river
Cherwell floodplain, adjacent to the relict channel of the Peasmoor Brook, where
there is general potential for prehistoric and Roman activity. Over the last 10
years parch marks have begun to show up within the floodplain south of Marston
Ferry Road belonging to Iron Age rural settlement. In 2019 an Iron and Roman
settlement was recorded at Swan School on the eastern edge of the Cherwell
floodplain approximately 600m to the north of the current application site in a
comparable location. Furthermore, the available lidar data shows traces of
denuded medieval ridge and furrow across the site. Therefore, in line with the
desk-based assessment the Council requested for an archaeological evaluation
be undertaken.

12.184. Evaluations should be carried out in accordance with a brief issued by
the City Council Archaeologist by an archaeological organisation or archaeologist
recognised as being professionally qualified for this type of work by the Institute
for Archaeologists. A full report should be submitted to the Local Planning
Authority before the application is determined.

12.185. The Applicant has not undertaken an archaeological evaluation and
therefore there is insufficient information to establish the significance of the
heritage assets at this site. The development may have a damaging effect on
known or suspected elements of the historic environment of the people of Oxford
and their visitors, including prehistoric and medieval.

12.186. As such the proposals fail to comply with Policy DH4 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036 and Paragraph 207 of the NPPF.

g. Biodiversity

12.187. Policy G2 states that development that results in a net loss of sites and
species of ecological value will not be permitted. It also notes that compensation
and mitigation measures must offset any loss and achieve an overall net gain for
biodiversity.

12.188. It also notes that sites and species important for biodiversity and
geodiversity will be protected. Planning permission will not be granted for any

71 51



development that would have an adverse impact on sites of national or
international importance (the SAC and SSSiIs), and development will not be
permitted on these sites, save where related to and required for the maintenance
or enhancement of the site’'s importance for biodiversity or geodiversity.
Development proposed on land immediately adjacent to the SSSIs should be
designed with a buffer to avoid disturbance to the SSSIs during the construction
period.

12.189. All species of bats and their roosts are protected under the Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 and The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended). All wild birds, their nests and young are
protected under The Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended).

12.190. Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should
contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment by minimising
impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by establishing
coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future
pressures and incorporating features which support priority or threatened species

12.191. Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is mandatory under Schedule 7A of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by Schedule 14 of the
Environment Act 2021). Developers of major developments must deliver
a BNG of 10%. This means a development will result in more or better quality
natural habitat than there was before development.

12.192. The New Marston Meadows is a Site of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI) which comprises of the fields to the east of the River Cherwell. The
application site lies outside of the SSSI area being located to the south and west
of the site. Natural England confirmed that the proposed development would not
damage or destroy the interest features for which the site has been notified and
raised no objection.

12.193. An initial ecological appraisal, informed by an appropriate desk study,
was completed in November 2023. The appraisal identified the majority of the
site to comprise modified grassland of low ecological value. Other habitats
present include deciduous woodland, scrub, native hedgerows, Peasemoor
Brook, ditches and trees. It is understood all these other habitats are to be
retained and protected from direct and indirect impacts arising from the
development. Two trees T40 and T41 would be lost to the development however
they do not have suitable bat roost features.

12.194. There are limited areas of suitable habitat for reptiles on-site. It is
advised that a Precautionary Method of Works for reptiles is submitted and
complied with as a planning condition.

12.195. All survey work has been carried out to a thorough standard and using
best practice guidance.

12.196. During the initial site appraisal, a number of buildings and trees were
identified as having potential to support roosting bats. Subsequently, three
nocturnal surveys were carried out between May and October 2024. The

72 52



nocturnal surveys confirmed the presence of ten bat roosts across buildings B2,
B3 and B4 of three species, Common Pipistrelle Soprano Pipistrelle and Brown
Long-eared.

12.197. The roosts would be lost under the proposed development. An
appropriate Outline Mitigation Strategy is provided in section 5.4.5 of the
Ecological Impact Assessment.

12.198. The proposed development would only be able to proceed under
licence from Natural England. The Local Planning Authority must consider the
likelihood of a licence being granted when determining a planning application.
This requires consideration of the so-called “three tests” development must pass
to qualify for a licence, as set out in The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended):

a) The purpose of the development must be preserving public health or public
safety or another imperative reason of overriding public interest;

b) There must be no satisfactory alternative; and

c) The development will not be detrimental to the maintenance of the
population of the species concerned at a favourable conservation status in
their natural range.

12.199. In relation to the first test, the proposed development would include
bringing back the existing buildings on site into use since going into disrepair,
and the improvements to the lighting of the site and its active use will address
antisocial behaviour and vandalism.

12.200. In regards to the second test, without undertaking the repair works to
the current buildings these would not be brought back from their state of
disrepair. There is no alternative to providing light other than installing lighting on
the site.

12.201. In relation to the third test, the proposed outline mitigation strategy
provided in section 5.4.5 of the Ecological Impact Assessment by Ecology by
Design will ensure roosting opportunities remain post-development.

12.202. In light of the above Officers consider that the three tests have been
met and considered it likely that a license would qualify and be granted by
Natural England in this case.

12.203. An appropriate Biodiversity Net Gain assessment has identified the site
to have an existing base-line of 16.47 habitat units and 10.96 hedgerow units.
The current proposals would result in a net gain of 14.90% habitat units and
22.24% of hedgerow units. A 10m buffer from the bank-tops of Peasmoor Book
have been implemented to protect it from the development, and therefore as this
habitat is to be retained and protected in full with no encroachment in the riparian
zone, it did not need to be included in the BNG assessment. Officers are satisfied
that the trading rules have been met and the development would provide 10%
BNG on site.

73 53



12.204. Subject to conditions, the proposals comply with Policy G2 of the
Oxford Local Plan 2036, the NPPF, the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and
The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), and
Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as inserted by
Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 2021).

h. Trees and landscaping

12.205. Policy G7 states that planning permission will not be granted for
development that results in the loss of green infrastructure such as hedgerows,
trees or woodland where this would have a significant adverse impact upon
public amenity or ecological interest. It must be demonstrated that their retention
is not feasible and that their loss will be mitigated.

12.206. Policy G8 states that development proposals affecting existing Green
Infrastructure features should demonstrate how these have been incorporated
within the design of the new development where appropriate. This applies to
protected and unprotected Green Infrastructure features, such as hedgerows,
trees and small public green spaces.

12.207. Policy DH1 seeks to ensure that development would be of a high
quality design.

12.208. Two trees (T41 Prunus sp. and T45 Ash) and one group of young trees
(G43, mixed) are proposed for removal to enable development. These trees are
not significant to the character or visual amenity of the area, therefore their
removal would be acceptable, subject to appropriate replacement planting to
meet tree canopy cover criteria.

12.209. Pruning is proposed for 4 trees (T10 White willow, T48 & T81 Ash, T58
White poplar) as well as for 2 groups of trees (G49 mixed and G59 Black hybrid
poplar) and would not affect the long-term health or the visual amenity value of
the trees.

12.210. The Arboricultural Impact Assessment (AlA) and the accompanying
Appendix 2: Preliminary Arboricultural Method Statement (AMS) detail tree
protection measures that mitigate the potential development impact on the root
protection area of the retained trees. Their implementation could have been
secured via condition.

12.211. While the AMS is indicated as ‘preliminary’ it contains all necessary
information, except for the details of ‘a suitably competent and qualified
arboriculturist’ to be appointed as the Project Arboriculturist. These details could
have been secured via condition.

12.212. The proposed landscaping includes 88 new trees and new native
hedge planting on court boundary and on the east boundary. Of the proposed
trees, 38 are on the Exeter College Sports Ground and 50 are on the Hertford
College Sports Ground.

12.213. The proposed trees mix is made up of native trees, except for the Vada
Elm (Ulmus ‘Vada’) cultivar (17 trees, 19%). The choice of a non-native EIm tree

74 54



cultivar is likely made to avoid the use of native species which are susceptible to
the Dutch elm disease (Ophiostoma novoulmi). This cultivar has shown good
resistance to the disease; however, it is a cultivar (effectively all trees are
genetically identical) and the experience with it is limited. This poses a risk as
any health factors would affect all Vada Elms the same. On balance however, as
it represents only 19% of the proposed new trees and all other trees are native, it
is considered acceptable in this case.

12.214. Maintenance and management strategies have been provided as tables
for the first 10 years period and for the schedule of operations throughout a given
year. However, these contain a couple of inaccuracies:

» Stake removal should first be considered 3 years after planting with the
condition that the trees have successfully established (not after 5 as is
indicated).

« Watering requirements should be given in litres per week per tree for the
first 2 years after planting and should be correlated with the stock size at
planting.

12.215. These are minor amendments which could have been addressed via
condition.

12.216. A Tree Cover Assessment has been provided in line with Oxford City
Council’s Technical Advice Note 9: Green Spaces. This indicates the Tree Cover
Baseline was 6% of the site (4364m2) at the time of survey and would be at 8%
of the site (6390m2) after 25 years without development.

12.217. Only two trees and one group of young trees are proposed for removal
to enable development. With the proposed development and tree planting, the
assessment estimates tree cover improvements both immediately following
planting 6% (but 4520m2) and at 25 years following development with 8% tree
cover (7236m2). This meets the major non-residential applications tree cover
criteria and aligns with Policy G7.

12.218. Subject to conditions, the proposals comply with Policies G7, G8 and
DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

i. Health, wellbeing and safety

12.2109. Policy RES states that Oxford City Council will seek to promote strong,
vibrant and healthy communities and reduce health inequalities. Proposals will be
supported which help to deliver these aims through the development of
environments which encourage healthier day-to-day behaviours and are
supported by local services and community networks to sustain health, social
and cultural wellbeing. Measures that will help contribute to healthier
communities and reduce health inequalities must be incorporated in a
development.

12.220. It also states that for major development proposals, the Council will
require a Health Impact Assessment to be submitted, which should include

75 55



details of implementation and monitoring. This must provide the information
outlined in the template provided at Appendix 4.

12.221. Paragraph 96 of the NPPF states that planning decisions should aim to
achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which:

a) promote social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between
people who might not otherwise come into contact with each other — for
example through mixed-use developments, strong neighbourhood centres,
street layouts that allow for easy pedestrian and cycle connections within and
between neighbourhoods, and active street frontages;

b) are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime,
do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion — for example
through the use of well-designed, clear and legible pedestrian and cycle
routes, and high quality public space, which encourage the active and
continual use of public areas; and

c) enable and support healthy lives, through both promoting good health and
preventing ill-health, especially where this would address identified local
health and well-being needs and reduce health inequalities between the most
and least deprived communities — for example through the provision of safe
and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access to
healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling.

12.222. Paragraph 135 (f) of the NPPF also states that planning decisions
should ensure that developments create places that are safe, inclusive and
accessible and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of
amenity for existing and future users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear
of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion and
resilience.

12.223. A Rapid Health Impact Assessment Matrix has been submitted with the
application which aligns with the requirement outlined in Appendix 4 of the
Oxford Local Plan. Overall the assessment concludes there would be no adverse
health and wellbeing impact associated with the proposed development and as
such no mitigation implementation nor monitoring is necessary. Officers are
satisfied that a robust assessment has been carried out and that overall the
development will have a positive health impact.

12.224. In relation to the NPPF, the proposed increase of sports facilities on the
site when coupled with the community space and café would help promote social
interaction. In order to secure the community use a planning condition would
have been recommended for the submission of a community use agreement to
the Local Planning Authority. The introduction of lighting on the site and the
proposed increase of activity which would be generated throughout the year
would help make the site safer and help prevent crime and disorder. Evidence
has been submitted with the application showing that the site currently
experiences various types of crime, and therefore the intensification of the site
when coupled with the additional lighting measures would be positive. In addition,

76 56



the proposals would support healthy lives through the provision of upgraded and
additional green infrastructure and sports facilities.

12.225. The Thames Valley Police Designing Out Crime Officer was consulted
on the application who noted that Secured By Design offers numerous crime
prevention design guides for varying applications. They raised no objection to the
application subject to a condition being placed on any permission which ensures
that Secure by Design principals and/or standards are incorporated into the
development.

12.226. As such the proposals comply with Policy RE5 and paragraphs 96 and
135 of the NPPF.

j. Sustainability

12.227. Policy RE1 states that planning permission will only be granted where it
can be demonstrated that the following sustainable design and construction
principles have been incorporated, where relevant:

a) Maximising energy efficiency and the use of low carbon energy;
b) Conserving water and maximising water efficiency;
c) Using recycled and recyclable materials and sourcing them responsibly;

d) Minimising waste and maximising recycling during construction and
operation;

e) Minimising flood risk including flood resilient construction;
f) Being flexible and adaptable to future occupier needs; and
g) Incorporating measures to enhance biodiversity value

12.228. Policy RE1 also states that an Energy Statement will be submitted to
demonstrate compliance with this policy for new-build residential developments
(other than householder applications) and new-build non-residential schemes
over 1,000m2. The Energy Statement will include details as to how the policy will
be complied with and monitored.

12.229. It notes that for new-build non-residential developments of 1000m2 or
more, planning permission will only be granted for non-residential development
proposals that meet BREEAM excellent standard (or recognised equivalent
assessment methodology).

12.230. It also outlines that planning permission will only be granted for
development proposals of 1,000m2 or more which achieve at least a 40%
reduction in the carbon emissions compared with a 2013 Building Regulations (or
future equivalent legislation) compliant base case. This reduction is to be
secured through on-site renewables and other low carbon technologies and/ or
energy efficiency measures.

77 >



12.231. The proposed development would be over 1,000m2 and as such meets
the requirement for an energy statement to be provided. The application has
been accompanied by an energy statement which outlines how the sustainable
design and construction principles outlined within Policy RE1 have been
considered into the proposals. This includes air source heat pumps and the use
of low water consumption appliances.

12.232. The energy statement submitted outlines that the only new building
proposed larger than 1,000m2 is the padel enclosure, and that this building
would come under the definition of a ‘building with low energy demand’. The
Applicant considers that the proposals on this basis will be exempt from Part L
building regulations, however no evidence has been provided with the application
to confirm this from a building control inspector. It also outlines that the BREEAM
Assessment method cannot be applied to the padel building as does not meet
the definition of a conditioned space designed for continuous occupation by a
building user. It is therefore ineligible for credits that would be required to meet
BREEAM Excellent.

12.233. The Council asked the Applicant to provide evidence from a building
control inspector that Part L Building Regulations do not apply to the padel
enclosure, however the Applicant was not forthcoming with this.

12.234. As such in the absence of any evidence to support this claim Officers
cannot be certain that the proposals would comply with the requirements of
Policy RE1.

12.235. Overall the submission fails to comply with Policy RE1 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036.
k. Air quality
12.236. Policy RE6 states that planning permission will only be granted where

the impact of new development on air quality is mitigated and where exposure to
poor air quality is minimised or reduced. It also states that the exposure of both
current and new occupants to air pollution during the development’s operational
and construction phases, and the overall negative impact that proposals may
cause to the city’s air quality, will be considered in determining planning
applications. Where additional negative air quality impacts from a new
development are identified, mitigation measures will be required to ameliorate
these impacts.

12.237. An Air Quality Assessment was submitted which shows that the
application site is located within the Oxford city-wide Air Quality Management
Area (AQMA), declared by Oxford City Council (OCC) for exceedances of the
annual mean NO2 air quality objective (AQO).

12.238. The air quality baseline desk assessment shows that current air quality
levels at the application site are well below relevant air quality objectives for
NO2, PM10 and PM2.5 concentrations. Therefore, the location of the application
site is considered suitable for its intended use without mitigation.

78 >8



12.239. The impacts of demolition and construction work on dust soiling and
ambient fine particulate matter concentrations have been assessed on the AQ
Assessment for the proposed Application Site. This has identified that the site is
found to be at medium risk for dust soiling activities (Earthworks, Construction
and Trackout). The risk of dust causing a loss of local amenity and increased
exposure to PM10 concentrations has been used to identify appropriate dust
mitigation measures. Provided these measures are implemented the residual
impacts are considered to be not significant which could be controlled via
condition.

12.240. It is considered that pollutant concentrations at the site are predicted to
be below the relevant AQOs and as such additional mitigation is not required for
the operational phase. Air quality should therefore not be viewed as a constraint
to planning, and the proposed development conforms to the air quality principles
of National Planning Policy Framework and the OCC Local Plan.

12.241. Had the overriding reasons for refusal not applied, subject to condition
the proposals comply with Policy RE6 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

. Land Quality

12.242. Policy RE9 states that planning applications where proposals would be
affected by contamination or where contamination may present a risk to the
surrounding environment, must be accompanied by a report which:

a) details the investigations that have been carried out to assess the nature and
extent of contamination and the possible impacts it may have on the
development and its future users, biodiversity, the natural and built environment;
and

b) sets out detailed mitigation measures to allow the development to go ahead
safely and without adverse effect, including, as appropriate:

i.  removing the contamination;
ii. treating the contamination;

iii. protecting and/or separating the development from the effects of the
contamination;

iv.  validation of mitigation measures

12.243. It also notes were mitigation measures are needed, these will be
required as a condition of any planning permission.

12.244. Having reviewed the site plans and design details submitted, coupled
with the historical mapping of the site and the surrounding area, it is considered
that the site and footprint of the proposed development area has not had a
previous potentially contaminative use. The site has only ever previously been in
use as a sports facility and prior to that was agricultural land. Therefore the
potential contamination risks at the site are considered to be very low. No

79 59



specific intrusive contamination risk assessment is therefore considered
necessary at the site.

12.245. However the development proposals are extensive and would include
ground excavation works at many locations across the site. To ensure that any
unexpected contamination encountered during the excavation work is
appropriately dealt with, an informative to remind the applicant of what to do
should any unexpected contamination be found would be recommended.

12.246. Had the overriding reasons for refusal not applied, subject to the
recommended informative, the proposals comply with Policy RE9 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036.

m. Utilities

12.247. Policy V8 states that planning applications (except householder
applications) must be supported by information demonstrating that the proposed
developer has explored existing capacity (and opportunities for extending it) with
the appropriate utilities providers. Planning permission will not be granted where
there is insufficient evidence on utilities capacity to support the development and
that the capacity will be delivered to meet the needs of the development.

12.248. Policy V9 states planning permission will be granted for all new major
developments where:

a) They are served by full fibre broadband capable of gigabit download
speeds; and

b) The full fibre broadband connections are available at the point of releasing
for sale where relevant, and that the cost of the services are at market rates,
preferably offering broadband services from more than one service provider;
and

c) Developers work with a recognised network carrier to design appropriate
duct infrastructure for the installation of fibre broadband by a range of
operators; and

d) Other forms of digital infrastructure, such as facilities supporting mobile
phone broadband, are included wherever possible

12.249. Thames Water were consulted on the application and they confirmed
that having the details that they raised no objection to the proposals.

12.250. Whilst the application comprises of major development, the majority of
the proposals include the upgrade of existing buildings on the site and sports
pitches. Whilst it is acknowledged that a new building is proposed in the form of
the padel enclosure, the use of this building as sports courts would not require
fast broadband.

12.251. As such the proposals comply with Policies V8 and V9 of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036.

80 60



13. CONCLUSION

13.1. On the basis of the matters discussed in the report, officers would make
members aware that the starting point for the determination of this application is
in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 which makes it clear that proposals should be assessed in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

13.2. In the context of all proposals paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires that
planning decisions apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
This means approving development that accords with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or
the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-
date, granting permission unless: the application of policies in the Framework
that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

13.3. The application seeks planning permission for the upgrade of existing pitches
and addition of new sports facilities at Hertford and Exeter College Recreation
Grounds. Permission is also sought for the refurbishment of the cricket pavilions,
alterations to Exeter squash courts for use as a golf simulator, and the change of
use of Hertford squash courts to café, changing facilities, sports hub, reception
area and community facilities. In addition permission is sought for the associated
access, parking, cycle parking, refuse and recycling, new footpaths and
landscaping. The proposals are considered unacceptable due to their design and
impact upon the Green Belt, heritage assets, as well as the impact upon flood
risk and drainage, neighbouring occupiers in relation to noise, and lack of
evidence on compliance with building regulations. As such the proposals are
contrary to Policies DH1, DH4, DH5, G1, G3, RE2, RE3 and RE4 Oxford Local
Plan 2036, Chapters 13, 14, and 16 of the NPPF, and the Flood Risk and
Coastal Change Planning Practice Guidance.

13.4. It is recommended that the Committee resolve to refuse planning permission
for the reasons given in paragraph 1.1.2 of this report with delegated authority
being given to the Direction of Planning and Regulation to finalise the wording of
the reasons.

14. APPENDICES

e Appendix 1 - Site location plan

15. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

15.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in
reaching a recommendation to refuse this application. They consider that the
interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article 1 of
Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and

81 61



freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance
with the general interest.

16. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998

16.1. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on
the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In
reaching a recommendation to refuse planning permission, officers consider that
the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community.

82 62



ADJOINING LAND SHADED BLUE IS
OWNED BY EXETER COLLEGE

€8

ST CATHERINES COLLEGE SPORTS GROUND

EXETER COLLEGE SPORTS GROUND

Joomseed

,\0019

b;icket—
- square-

. xeter
ISquash dourt hardstanding

2 X )
/’ — “\{ r
7 e \ <
. _— . - - P
[} //// Z />)/ \ 19 _ - ;\\\\ \
“\\ //// \\,/// NN\ P /AB /\ \\ -
= N\ 2\ P
\\\/ \\\ )24 P \ N~ _
_ \ \ \
T~ o — \ \
o — 5%
| 33
\ S 2
\ \ \2
|
\\ V2
O\ 2
\

SN
|\ \
5 ‘ \
Aok X
Gsﬂ“a‘e l \ \
BN |
Pedestrian l \ \
navehisel eusihg \(
gates l ha rdsté(]dmg
| \
| .
l
\
Tennis courts
\K Overhead
. “elephone
\ cables
Overhead \
telephone 0
Existing  cable \
hardstandin ~

Overhe3
electric%/\.
cables \

PARK FARM FIELD

Existing

OXFORD CITY WILDLIFE SITE

Overhead
lectricity cabl o0
electricity ca es/

—

pvalon
/ Winarus?

OXFORD CITY WILDLIFE SITE \

\
\

® o= em em em ee es e e «Footpath - Public right of way

SITE AREA WITHIN
RED LINE
78677.80m2
0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 M
Project: Drg Title: © Bruce Mullett. Copyright reserved.
All dimensions to be checked on site before work commences. Do not scale, use figured dimensions, if in doubt ask.
EXETER AND HERTFORD COLLEGE SPORTS GROUND LOCATION PLAN AND Sl 14250 @ A2
O EDGEWAY ROAD, MARSTON EXISTING SITE LAYOUT PLAN —
¢ |is111p04 Title amended to include location plan, telephone cable routes extended OXFORD OX3 0HG June 2024
B G [ iomoorrssrolsavisivootpirpio® Client: The Principal and Fellows, Hertford College and s B o Architecture
A 202 St vestigation The PrInC|pa| and Fellows Exeter CO”ege. e: bruce@brucearchitecture.uk 8 Hertford Street Oxford
Rev No: | Date: Description: 23'04 S L— 1 rev D Reviewed By: bpm t 07851 853042 ) OX43AJ




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 5

Oxford City Planning Committee 18th November 2025
Application number: 25/02197/FUL

Decision due by 28th October 2025

Extension of time TBC

Proposal Sub-division of existing dwelling to create 2 x 1 bed flats

(Use Class C3). Alterations to fenestration. Provision of
private amenity space, bin and bike stores. (amended
description and plans)

Site address 15 Halliday Hill, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX3 9PY — see
Appendix 1 for site plan

Ward Headington Hill And Northway Ward

Case officer Nia George

Agent: Jim Driscoll Applicant: Mr A Rehman

Reason at Committee Applicant is a Councillor

1. RECOMMENDATION
1.1. Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1.1.1. approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the
required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant
planning permission.

1.1.2. agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regulation to:

e finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1.This report considers the proposal to subdivide an existing dwelling to create 2 x
1 bed flats (Use Class C3). It also considers alterations to the fenestration and
the provision of private amenity, bin and bicycle stores.

2.2.This report considers the following material considerations:

¢ Principle of development
e Design
e Neighbouring amenity



¢ Internal Space
e External Space
e Highways and parking
e Bin and bicycle storage
e Drainage
e Biodiversity net gain
e Sustainable design and construction
e Land quality
3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement.
4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
4.1.The proposal is not liable for CIL.

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1.The application site is a two storey semi-detached property located on the
southern side of Halliday Hill in the Northway Ward of Oxford City. The property
is currently in use as a small house in multiple occupation with HMO licensing
dating back to 2014.

5.2.The property has previously been extended by a single storey rear extension as
well as a single storey side extension. The property benefits from a driveway to
the front of the site with access via a dropped kerb.

5.3.The site sits within a residential area which is characterised by two storey
dwellings primarily in pairs of semis.

5.4.See block plan below:



P, N )
£ / /
/) SN/
L 5 '4 AN ‘/
R [/ A
, . : ¢ \, /o v o/ Y4 g
A~ Y Z { ‘\\// / /
£ NN
N a8 O
«,/ -‘\.
P 2 >3
/ N /5 / /G {
VoSl S
g \\\ / N
¥ N
> /
N/ 3
oy /
V. A ) 4 < A
Q (> ~ N
A & // N // N/ oy
; - < V8,
£ y 2 y
/ e \/ / i ; )
< ( /
//’ 4 2 \\\ < ,/
oy 7 7 =
L 7 // / S
> - o X
¢ S { /= Ny a
M ' / / 4 / %] S
/ e, L <
/ / L N
& 4 4 ‘ r ~ N
S / / W
N (_\ 7 / N\
N > — /
Y \ |
5 b, 5 N T-% \ - Z
/4 — A N
7 £ |- | ] V4 A
i \ — o

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020.
Ordnance Survey 100019348

6. PROPOSAL

6.1. The application proposes the subdivision of the existing property into 2 x 1 bed
flats (Use Class C3). In order to accommodate this, alterations are proposed to
the fenestration, as well as the provision of private amenity space, bin and
bicycle storage.

6.2.During the course of the application amended plans were requested by Officers
to allow for the first floor flat to be accessed via a door from the front of the site.
The amended plans received therefore propose one additional door to the front
of the existing side projection at the property. It is these revised plans upon which
the application is considered. The description of works was also updated to
reflect the update to the plans.

6.3. Officers also noted during the course of the application that the existing property
does not have planning permission to be used as a house in multiple occupation,
nor has a certificate of existing use been approved to confirm the use. As such
the description of works was updated to remove the reference to the use of the
building being a house of multiple occupation. Due to the minor update to the
description and plans there was no need to readvertise the application.

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1.The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site:

67/19296/A_H - Garage for private car with vehicle access. Permitted
development 26th September 1967.

87 3



04/00138/0OUT - Outline application (seeking siting and means of access only) for
subdivision of garden and erection of 2 storey 2/3 bedroom detached house.
Refused 30th March 2004.

06/00631/FUL - Two storey side extension to existing dwelling and subsequent
sub-division to form 4 flats (3x2 bedrooms and1x1 bedroom). Provision of 4 car
parking spaces accessed from Gouldland Gardens, bin and cycle store
(Amended Plans). Withdrawn 18th May 2006.

06/01443/FUL - Erection of 2-storey side extension and subsequent conversion
of the resultant building into 4 flats (3x1 bedroom and 1x2 bedroom). Provision of
4 car parking spaces accessed from Gouldland Gardens, provision of bin and
cycle stores. Refused 5th September 2006.

08/02016/FUL - Demolition of existing side outbuilding. Erection of two storey
side extension to provide 2x1 bedrooms flats. Bin and cycle store, provision of 4
off road parking spaces to serve the new flats and the existing dwelling. Refused
1st December 2008.

09/01076/FUL - Erection of two storey detached building to form 2x1 bedroom
flats. Provision of amenity space, parking, cycling and bin storage for new and
existing residential units. Refused 31st July 2009.

10/00177/FUL - Erection of 2x1 bed flats with 2 car parking spaces accessed off
Gouldland Gardens. Refused 22nd March 2010.

13/00550/FUL - Erection of part two storey and single storey side extension
(Amended plan). Approved 22nd May 2013.

14/01694/FUL - Erection of single and two storey side extension. Approved 13th
August 2014.

14/02681/FUL - Erection of two storey building to provide 2 x 1 bedroom flats
(Use Class C3). Provision of car parking space, private amenity space and bin
and cycle stores. Erection of dropped kerb to create a new access. Withdrawn
19th November 2014.

15/00807/FUL - Erection of a two storey building to provide 2 x 1 bed flats (Use
Class C3) with provision of amenity space, carparking and bin and cycle store
(Amended plans received 9/09/2015). Approved 18th September 2015.

17/02482/FUL - Insertion of 2no. rooflights to front elevation. (Retrospective).
Approved 7th December 2017.

8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

8.1.The following policies are relevant to the application:

88 4



National
Planning
Policy

131-141

Framework

Local Plan

DH1: High
quality design
and
placemaking

DH7: External
servicing
features and
stores

Other
planning
documents

61-84

Housing

H1: The scale
of new housing
provision

H14: Privacy,
daylight, and
sunlight

H15: Internal
space
standards

H16: Outdoor
amenity space
standards

Natural
environment

161-186,
201

187-

RE4:
Sustainable
and foul
drainage,
surface and
groundwater
flow

RE9: Land
quality

Transport 109-118

M3: Motor
vehicle parking

M5:
Parking

Bicycle

Parking
Standards SPD

Environmental |z i}

186

161-

RE1:
Sustainable
design and
construction

RE2: Efficient
use of land

RE7: Managing
the impact of
development

RES: Noise
and vibration

RE9: Land

Energy
Statement TAN

89




quality

Miscellaneous S1:
Presumption in
favour of
sustainable

development

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

9.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 10th September 2025.

Statutory and non-statutory consultees

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

9.2.No comments received

Public representations

9.3.No local people commented on this application.

10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

Principle of development

Design

Neighbouring amenity

Internal Space

External Space

Highways and parking

Bin and bicycle storage

Drainage

Biodiversity net gain

Sustainable design and construction

Land quality

a. Principle of development

10.2. Policy H1 seeks to deliver new homes in Oxford by promoting the efficient use
and development of land/sites, including higher densities in appropriate locations.

10.3. Policy RE2 seeks to ensure development makes efficient use of land, and
states that development must make best use of site capacity, in a manner
compatible with the site itself, the surrounding area and broader considerations

90

6



of the needs of Oxford. Policy RE2 also requires that proposals address specified
criteria, including that the built form and site layout must be appropriate for the
capacity of the site.

10.4. The proposal will make efficient use of a plot to deliver one additional dwelling,
creating a higher density of housing on the plot. This is considered acceptable in
this location given it is a conversion project where the proposals have minimal
impact upon the character and appearance of the area.

10.5. As such the proposals comply with Policies H1 and RE2 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

b. Design

10.6. Policy DH1 states that planning permission will only be granted for
development of high quality design that creates or enhances local
distinctiveness. It notes all developments will be expected to be supported by a
constraints and opportunities plan and supporting text and/or visuals to explain
their design rationale in a design statement proportionate to the proposal, which
should cover the relevant checklist points set out in Appendix 6.1.

10.7. It goes onto say that planning permission will only be granted where proposals
are designed to meet the key design objectives and principles for delivering high
quality development as set out in Appendix 6.1.

10.8. Policy RE2 seeks to ensure development makes efficient use of land, and
states that development must make best use of site capacity, in a manner
compatible with the site itself, the surrounding area and broader considerations
of the needs of Oxford. Policy RE2 also requires that proposals address specified
criteria, including that the built form and site layout must be appropriate for the
capacity of the site.

10.9. No extensions to the building are proposed in order to facilitate the subdivision
and the only external changes relate to fenestration detailing and boundary
treatments.

10.10. It is proposed to install an entrance door to the front of the existing single
storey side projection to provide access to the first floor flat. This would be in
keeping with the scale of the existing door at the property. The existing side
projection is set back from the principal elevation of the building, and therefore
the door would appear as a secondary entrance door. Given the existing door at
the property proposed to serve the ground floor flat would retain its canopy
above, it is considered that the impact upon the character of the building would
be acceptable. The additional door would read as a secondary ‘back’ entrance
and as such would not be harmful to the streetscene of Halliday Hill.

10.11. At the rear the existing window at ground floor would be removed and
replaced with a new window and pair of glazed doors. At the rear of the existing
single storey side projection an additional window is proposed, and at the side of
the single storey projection the existing two windows and door would be
removed, being replaced by one door. Each of these changes would be

91 !



considered minor alterations to the property which would be wholly acceptable in
design.

10.12. Fencing is proposed at the side of the property to enclose the outdoor space
serving the first floor flat. This would span approximately 2.2m in width and would
1.8m in height. It is considered that the enclosure of this space would not be
harmful to the character or appearance of the site and would be acceptable when
viewed from the streetscene.

10.13. As such the proposals comply with Policies DH1 and RE2 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

c. Impact on neighbouring amenity

10.14. Policy H14 states that planning permission will only be granted for new
development that provides reasonable privacy, daylight and sunlight for
occupants of both existing and new homes. It also states that planning
permission will not be granted for any development that has an overbearing
effect on existing homes.

10.15. Policy RE7 states that planning permission will only be granted for
development that ensures that the amenity of communities, occupiers and
neighbours is protected.

13 Halliday Hill

10.16. 13 Halliday Hill is a two storey dwelling located to the east of the application
site. Given no extensions are proposed, no openings proposed will face the
neighbour and given the fencing will be located to the west, it is considered the
proposals will have no detrimental impacts in relation to daylight access, outlook,
privacy nor be overbearing upon the occupiers of this property.

15B Halliday Hill

10.17. 15B Halliday Hill is a two storey dwelling located to the west of the application
site. The additional opening to the side of the property would be located at
ground floor level and would face the boundary treatment between the two sites.
In addition the fencing proposed will simply extend up to the existing boundary
fence and would not create any additional sense of enclosure to the neighbour. It
is therefore considered the proposals will have no detrimental impacts in relation
to daylight access, outlook, privacy nor be overbearing upon the occupiers of this

property.
1 Gouldland Gardens

10.18. 1 Gouldland Gardens is a two storey dwelling located to the south-west of the
application site, in which its rear garden backs onto the site. The additional
openings to the rear of the property would be located at ground floor level and
would face the boundary treatment between the two sites. In addition the fencing
proposed will not enclose the boundary shared between the two properties. It is
therefore considered the proposals will have no detrimental impacts in relation to

92 8



daylight access, outlook, privacy nor be overbearing upon the occupiers of this
property.

10.19. All other properties are considered to be located at a sufficient distance away
from the site so as not to be affected.

10.20. In relation to noise and disturbance, whilst it is noted an additional dwelling is
proposed, given the two flats would only provide one bedroom occupancy and
the site can only accommodate three occupants, it is considered that the number
of occupiers would not be detrimental upon the neighbouring occupiers.

10.21. As such the proposals comply with Policy H14 and RE7 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

d. Internal Space

10.22. Policy H15 states that planning permission will only be granted for new
dwellings that provide good quality living accommodation for the intended use. All
proposals for new build market and affordable homes (across all tenures) must
comply with the MHCLG’s Technical Housing Standards — Nationally Described
Space Standard Level 1.

10.23. The National Space Standard for a 1 bedroom, 2 person, 1 storey dwelling is
50sgm. The ground floor flat measures approximately 58sgm and therefore
complies with requirement. The bedroom exceeds 11.5sgm and is at least 2.75m
wide, and therefore is suitable for double occupancy. There is also a store for the
storage of personal belongings within the kitchen/diner/living room. Whilst this
does not meet the 1.5sgm space requirement, Officers consider that given the
flat exceeds the minimum gross internal floor area by approximately 8sgm, that
for this reason there would be sufficient space to store personal belongings.

10.24. The National Space Standard for a 1 bedroom, 1 person, 2 storey dwelling is
39sgm. The studio flat measures approximately 45sgm and therefore complies
with this requirement. Given there is no dedicated bedroom proposed the
proposal does not need to meet any internal standard for such. Whilst no
dedicated store is proposed, Officers consider that given the flat exceeds the
minimum gross internal floor area by approximately 6sgm, that for this reason
there would be sufficient space to store personal belongings.

10.25. All of the habitable rooms in the flats will be served by openings to provide
sufficient daylight access and outlook. In addition it is considered that the flats
have a suitable layout for the layout of furniture and sufficient circulation space.

10.26. As such the proposals comply with Policy H15 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.
e. External Space

10.27. Policy H16 states planning permission will only be granted for dwellings that
have direct and convenient access to an area of private open space (in addition
to bin or bike storage space), to meet the following specifications:



a) 1 or 2 bedroom flats and maisonettes should provide either a private balcony
or terrace of usable level space, or direct access to a private or shared
garden;

b) flats and maisonettes of 3 or more bedrooms must provide either a private
balcony or terrace of useable level space with a minimum dimension of 1.5
metres depth by 3 metres length, or, in the case of ground floor flats, direct
access to a private garden or shared garden with some private space. These
private outdoor areas should allow space for outside dining and/or clothes
drying, with reasonable circulation, which will require a minimum dimension of
1.5 metres depth by 3 metres length;

c) houses of 1 or more bedrooms should provide a private garden, of adequate
size and proportions for the size of house proposed, which will be considered
to be at least equivalent in size to the original building footprint. Where a
directly accessible private outside area is provided, the remaining
requirement for outdoor amenity space could be met by provision of shared
private amenity space. The private outdoor areas should allow space for
outside dining and/or clothes drying, with reasonable circulation, which will
require a minimum dimension of 1.5 metres deep by 3 metres long

d) the following factors will be material in assessing whether adequate space has
been provided:

i. the location and context of the development, in relation to the layout of
existing residential plots, and proximity to public open space; and

ii. the orientation of the outdoor area in relation to the path of the sun;

iii. the degree to which enclosure and overlooking impact on the proposed
new dwellings and any neighbouring dwellings; and

iv. the overall shape, access to and usability of the whole space to be
provided; and

v. clear delineation between public and private space; and

vi. for communal spaces that there is a variety of space, including
provision of space to sit and to play, and that space is adaptable to the
changing needs of residents, being easy to maintain with resilient
materials, but with opportunities for communal gardening or food
growing

10.28. The occupants of the ground floor flat would be provided with direct access to
a private garden at the rear of the property. This would measure approximately
33sgm and would be south-westerly facing. Although the shape of the plot would
result in some areas of the garden being narrow, overall it is considered that the
size of the garden is suitable for a 1 bedroom 2 person flat.

10.29. The occupants of the first floor flat would be provided with direct access to a
private garden at the side of the property. This would measure approximately
14.5sgm and would be west facing. It is acknowledged that the space would be

94 10



only 2.2m wide and would be entirely hard surfaced and enclosed between the
side elevation of the property and the fencing proposed. Nevertheless given that
sunlight would come into the space from the south-west of the site, coupled with
the size of the flat only being a 1 bed studio flat, it is considered that on balance
the outdoor space would be acceptable. In addition the rectangular shape of the
area would ensure that the space is fully useable.

10.30. Fencing is proposed to be erected between the two gardens and at the front of
the side facing garden which would ensure that the two spaces are private for the
occupiers. A condition is recommended that stipulates the fencing must be
installed prior to occupation and retained thereafter.

10.31. As such the proposals comply with Policy H16 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.
f. Highways and parking

10.32. Policy M3 requires that new dwellings that are located within a controlled
parking zone, within a 400m walk of a regular public transport service and within
800m of a local supermarket are car-free. Elsewhere, Appendix 7.3 requires that
dwellings provide a maximum of one off-street car parking space. It also states
that for HMOs the parking standard is to be decided case by case on their merit.

10.33. Policy M3 also notes that in the case of the redevelopment of an existing or
previously cleared site, there should be no net increase in parking on the site
from the previous level and the Council will seek a reduction where there is good
accessibility to a range of facilities.

10.34. Policy RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that planning permission will
only be granted for development that does not have unacceptable transport
impacts.

10.35. The application site is located within the Northway Controlled Parking Zone
and is located within a 400m walk of a regular public transport service and within
800m of a local supermarket. As such the proposals are eligible to be car free.

10.36. The site benefits from an existing driveway at the front of the site which has
access via a dropped kerb. No additional parking is proposed to be created as
part of the proposals and as such there would be no net gain in parking in
compliance with Policy M3.

10.37. To ensure that the proposals do not generate any additional on-street parking
in the area a condition is recommended for the site, including its occupiers and
visitors to be excluded from eligibility for parking permits.

10.38. As such the proposals comply with Policies M3 and RE7 of the Oxford Local
Plan 2036.

g. Bin and bicycle storage
10.39. Policy M5 states that planning permission will only be granted for development

that complies with or exceeds the minimum bicycle parking provision as set out in
Appendix 7.3. This notes that for houses and flats with up to 2 bedrooms, at least

05 11



2 spaces per dwelling would be required. Policy M5 also states bicycle parking
should be, well designed and well-located, convenient, secure, covered (where
possible enclosed) and provide level, unobstructed external access to the street.

10.40. Policy DH7 states that planning permission will be granted where it can be
demonstrated that bin and bike storage is provided in a way that does not detract
from the overall design of the scheme or the surrounding area.

10.41. A bicycle store is proposed on the existing driveway at the site which would
accommodate four bicycles. This would meet the required number of parking
spaces stipulated under Policy M5 as the store would provide two spaces per
dwelling. The location of the store at the front of the site will allow for level,
convenient and unobstructed access to the street.

10.42. The store is proposed to comprise of two Sheffield stands enclosed by a
timber frame. The use of Sheffield stands would allow for convenient use by the
proposed occupiers. The store would measure approximately 2m in depth, 1.45m
in width, and would have a maximum height of 1.45m. It is considered that the
size of the store would be appropriate for the number of bicycles and would not
appear out of keeping within the streetscene of Halliday Hill. A condition is
recommended to ensure that this store is provided on site prior to occupation and
retained thereafter for the storage of bicycles.

10.43. Two bin stores are also proposed on the existing driveway at the site which
would accommodate two wheeled bins and a food caddy each. The location of
the stores at the front of the site would allow for level, convenient and
unobstructed access to the street for bin collection.

10.44. No elevations of the bin stores have been submitted with the application and
therefore Officers cannot assess the proposed design and appearance of the
stores. Nevertheless Officers consider in principle the location is acceptable and
that suitable bin storage can be provided without any detrimental impact upon the
streetscene. Therefore a condition is recommended for details of the bin stores to
be provided prior to occupation and once approved, for the stores to be
implemented on the site and retained thereafter for the storage of bins.

10.45. Subject to conditions, the proposals comply with Policies M5 and DH7 of the
Oxford Local Plan 2036.

h. Drainage

10.46. Policy RE4 states that all development proposals will be required to manage
surface water through Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) or techniques to
limit run-off and reduce the existing rate of run-off on previously developed sites.
Surface water runoff should be managed as close to its source as possible, in
line with the following drainage hierarchy:

a) store rainwater for later use; then:
b) discharge into the ground (infiltration); then:

c) discharge to a surface water body; then:

96 12



d) discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain or other drainage system;
and finally:

e) discharge to a combined sewer

10.47. The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and is not at significant risk of flooding from
any sources. However in accordance with Policy RE4, all developments must be
drained using a sustainable drainage system (SuDS).

10.48. Subject to a condition which requires the proposal to be drained using SuDS,
the proposals comply with Policy RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

i. Biodiversity Net Gain

10.49. As of 2nd April 2024 under Schedule 7A of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990, all minor developments are required to deliver a minimum of 10%
biodiversity net gain (BNG) in habitat units, hedgerow units and watercourse
units (where applicable). There are a series of exemptions, including custom
builds and sites that impact a small area/length of habitat below a given de
minimis threshold.

10.50. The Biodiversity Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 states
that de minimis exemption only applies to development if the following two
conditions are met:

« the development must not impact on any onsite priority habitat; and

« if there is an impact on other onsite habitat, that impact must be on less than
25 square metres (e.g. less than a 5m by 5m square) of onsite habitat with a
biodiversity value greater than zero and on less than 5 metres of onsite linear
habitat (such as a hedgerow)

10.51. The only built forms proposed as part of this application are the addition of bin
and bicycle stores and the erection of new fencing to the side of the dwelling.
The bin and bicycle stores are proposed to be located on the existing
hardstanding at the front of the site, and the additional fencing is also proposed
on the existing hardstanding to the side of the dwelling. As such the proposal
would not impact any on-site habitat and therefore the proposal is considered to
meet the de minimis exemption from BNG requirements.

10.52. As such the proposals are not liable for BNG outlined under Schedule 7A of
the town and Country Planning Act 1990.

j. Sustainable design and construction

10.53. Policy REL1 states that planning permission will only be granted where it can
be demonstrated that the following sustainable design and construction principles
have been incorporated, where relevant:

a) Maximising energy efficiency and the use of low carbon energy;

b) Conserving water and maximising water efficiency;
c) Using recycled and recyclable materials and sourcing them responsibly;

97 13



d)Minimising waste and maximising recycling during construction and
operation;

e) Minimising flood risk including flood resilient construction;

f) Being flexible and adaptable to future occupier needs; and

g) Incorporating measures to enhance biodiversity value.

10.54. Policy RE1 also requires that new build residential dwellinghouses must
achieve at least a 40% reduction in carbon emissions from a 2013 Building
Regulations (or future equivalent legislation) compliant base case. This reduction
IS to be secured through on-site renewable energy and other low carbon
technologies and/or energy efficiency measures.

10.55. New dwellings are also required to meet the higher water efficiency standards
within the 2013 Building Regulations Part G2 water consumption target of 110
litres per person per day.

10.56. Although the proposals involve the creation of an additional dwelling on the
site, it is proposed to do this as a conversion project with no new building being
erected. As such the proposals do not require an energy statement to be
provided and nor do the proposals need to comply with the 40% carbon reduction
requirement.

10.57.In order to ensure that the dwellings meet the higher water efficiency
standards however, a condition and informative are recommended to secure
compliance with Building Regulations.

10.58. As such the proposals comply with Policy RE1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.
k. Land quality

10.59. Policy RE9 states that planning applications where proposals would be
affected by contamination or where contamination may present a risk to the
surrounding environment, must be accompanied by a report which:

a) details the investigations that have been carried out to assess the nature and
extent of contamination and the possible impacts it may have on the
development and its future users, biodiversity, the natural and built environment;
and

b) sets out detailed mitigation measures to allow the development to go ahead
safely and without adverse effect, including, as appropriate:

i.  removing the contamination;
ii. treating the contamination;

iii. protecting and/or separating the development from the effects of the
contamination;

iv.  validation of mitigation measures

98 14



10.60. It also notes were mitigation measures are needed, these will be required as a
condition of any planning permission

10.61. Officers reviewed the site plans and design details submitted with the
application, as well as historical mapping and documentation associated with the
previous use of the site. Officers consider that the risk of significant
contamination being present on the site is likely to be low. The site has not had a
previous potentially contaminative use, according to historical mapping, and it
has always been in residential use following the original development. In addition
there are no landfill sites within 50m of the dwelling.

10.62. The existing building footprint is to remain intact with no extension works
proposed. There are no significant alterations proposed to the existing external
landscaped area which is to be divided into two amenity areas for the new flats.
Therefore the overall extent of groundwork is considered to be negligible for this
development. As a result of this, and the absence of any information to indicate
potential contamination risks, it is considered that there are no land quality issues
associated with the proposals.

10.63. As such the proposals comply with Policy RE9 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.
11. CONCLUSION

11.1. On the basis of the matters discussed in the report, officers would make
members aware that the starting point for the determination of this application is
in accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 which makes it clear that proposals should be assessed in accordance with
the development plan unless material consideration indicate otherwise.

11.2. In the context of all proposals paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires that
planning decision apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development.
This means approving development that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or
the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-
date, granting permission unless: the application of policies in the Framework
that protect areas or assets of particular importance provides a clear reasons for
refusing the development proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in the Framework taken as a whole.

11.3. Therefore it would be necessary to consider the degree to which the proposal
complies with the policies of the development plan as a whole and whether there
are any material considerations, such as the NPPF, which are inconsistent with
the result of the application of the development plan as a whole.

Compliance with development plan policies

11.4. In summary the proposed development is acceptable in principle, providing
dwellings which meet both internal and outdoor space requirements, and the
design would not cause any detrimental harm upon the character and
appearance of the dwelling itself, nor the streetscene of Halliday Hill. The

99 15



proposals would not cause any detrimental impacts upon the amenity of any
neighbouring dwellings, and nor would the proposals cause any impacts in
regards to highways safety, vehicle and bicycle parking, bin storage, drainage,
ecology nor land quality. As such the proposals are considered to comply with
the relevant Policies of the Oxford Local Plan 2036, and the NPPF.

11.5. Therefore Officers considered that the proposals would accord with the
development plan as a whole.

Material considerations

11.6. The principal material considerations which arise are addressed above, and
follow the analysis set out in earlier sections of this report.

11.7. Officers consider that the proposal would accord with the overall aims and
objectives of the NPPF for the reasons set out in the report. Therefore in such
circumstances, paragraph 11 is clear that planning permission should be
approved without delay. This is a significant material consideration in favour of
the proposal.

11.8. Officers would advise members that, having considered the application
carefully, including all representations made with respect to the application, the
proposal are considered to be acceptable in terms of the aims and objectives of
the National Planning Policy Framework, and relevant policies of the Oxford
Local Plan 2036, and that there are no material considerations that would
outweigh these policies.

11.9. Itis recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission for
the development proposed subject to the conditions set out in section 12 of this
report.

12. CONDITIONS

Time limit

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Development in accordance with approved plans

2. The development permitted shall be constructed in complete accordance with the
specifications in the application and approved plans listed below, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Drawing number Description

Location Plan
15HALLIDAY3.1.2 REV 1 Proposed Floor Plans
15HALLIDAY4.1.2 REV 2 Proposed Elevations

100 16



15HALLIDAY5.1.2 REV 3 Proposed Block Plan

Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as indicated on
the submitted drawings and to comply with Policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan
2036.

Materials — as specified

3. The materials to be used in the new development shall be those as specified on
the application form. There shall be no variation of these materials without the prior
written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory visual appearance of the new development in
accordance with Policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

SuDS

4. All Impermeable areas of the proposed development, including roofs, driveways,
and patio areas shall be drained using Sustainable Drainage measures (SuDS). This
may include the use of porous pavements and infiltration, or attenuation storage to
decrease the run off rates and volumes to public surface water sewers and thus
reduce flooding. Soakage tests shall be carried out in accordance with BRE Digest
365 or similar approved method to prove the feasibility/effectiveness of soakaways or
filter trenches. Where infiltration is not feasible, surface water shall be attenuated on
site and discharged at a controlled discharge rate no greater than prior to
development using appropriate SuDS techniques and in consultation with the
sewerage undertaker where required. If the use of SuDS are not reasonably
practical, the design of the surface water drainage system shall be carried out in
accordance with Approved Document H of the Building Regulations. The drainage
system shall be designed and maintained to remain functional, safe, and accessible
for the lifetime of the development.

Reason: To avoid increasing surface water run-off and volumes to prevent an
increase in flood risk in accordance with Policy RE4 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Means of enclosure

5. Prior to first occupation the means of enclosure shown on the approved plans shall
be erected and shall be retained in perpetuity unless otherwise first agreed in writing
by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure adequate privacy for the respective outdoor amenity spaces in
accordance with Policy H16 of the Oxford Local Plan.

Bin storage

6. Prior to occupation of the new dwellings hereby approved further details of bin
storage including elevations to shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The bin store shall accommodate bins for general waste,
recycling and a food caddy. Prior to occupation of the new dwellings hereby

101 17



approved the bin stores shall be provided on site in accordance with the approved
details and retained for this purpose only thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area in accordance
with Policy DH7 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Bicycle storage

7. Prior to occupation of the new dwellings hereby approved the bicycle store shall be
provided on site in accordance with the approved details and retained for this
purpose only thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area and promotion
of sustainable modes of transport in accordance with Policies DH7 and M5 of the
Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Water efficiency

8. The dwelling(s) shall be constructed to meet as a minimum the higher Building
Regulation standard Part G for water consumption limited to 110 litres per person per
day using the fittings approach.

Reason: The site is in an area of serious water stress requiring water efficiency
opportunities to be maximised; to mitigate the impacts of climate change; in the
interests of sustainability; and to use natural resources prudently in accordance with
the NPPF.

Parking permits

9. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the Order governing
parking at 15 Halliday Hill has been varied by Oxfordshire County Council as
highway authority to exclude the dwelling subject to this permission from eligibility for
residents’ parking permits and residents' visitors' parking permits unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not generate a level of vehicular
parking which would be prejudicial to highway safety, or cause parking stress in the
immediate locality, in accordance with Policy M3 of the 2036 Oxford Local Plan.

INFORMATIVES :-

1 In accordance with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework, the Council tries to work positively and proactively with applicants
towards achieving sustainable development that accords with the
Development Plan and national planning policy objectives. This includes the
offer of pre-application advice and, where reasonable and appropriate, the
opportunity to submit amended proposals as well as time for constructive
discussions during the course of the determination of an application. However,
development that is not sustainable and that fails to accord with the
requirements of the Development Plan and/or relevant national policy
guidance will normally be refused. The Council expects applicants and their
agents to adopt a similarly proactive approach in pursuit of sustainable

102 18



13.

14.

development.

Developers are encouraged to maximise the water efficiency of the
development. Thames Water offer environmental discounts for water efficient
development which reduce the connection charges for new residential
properties. Further information on these discounts can be found at:
https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/charges

Due to the nature of your application you will need to apply for Street Naming
and Numbering:

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20000/planning/324/street naming and numb
ering

You can only request a new address or property hame after you have received
approved planning permission for your development: we cannot accept a
street/property naming/numbering application without this permission. For
further information, please contact the team at snn@oxford.gov.uk

APPENDICES

e Appendix 1 — Site location plan

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

14.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in

15.

reaching a recommendation to [approve/refuse] this application. They consider
that the interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article
1 of Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and
freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance
with the general interest.

SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998

15.1. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on

the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In
reaching a recommendation to grant planning permission, officers consider that
the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of community.

103 19


https://www.thameswater.co.uk/developers/charges
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20000/planning/324/street_naming_and_numbering
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20000/planning/324/street_naming_and_numbering
mailto:snn@oxford.gov.uk

This page is intentionally left blank



Location Plan
Site Address: 15, Halliday Hill, Oxford, OX3 9PY

” PlanningPortal

Date Produced: 25-Aug-2025

GOT1

Planning Portal Reference: PP-14273354v1

’ Powered By
< TerraQuest

)“\f”’:h Shelter

Scale: 1:1250 @A4

50

© Crown copyright and database rights 2025 OS 100042766

Metres



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda ltem 6

Application number: 25/00823/FUL

Decision due by 28th May 2025
Extension of time To be confirmed
Proposal Demolition of existing detached garage and existing rear

extension. Erection of a part single, part two storey rear
extension. Erection of a two storey side extension.
(Amended description and amended plans)

Site address 11 Glebelands, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX3 7EL — see
Appendix 1 for site plan

Ward Lye Valley Ward

Case officer Mary Rowe

Agent: C/o Applicant Applicant: Mrs Ajita Jivan

Reason at Committee Delegated Application called in by Councillors Rehman,
Miles, Harley, Stares, Azad and Henwood for reasons of
potential impact on the Lye Valley nature reserve, over
development and massing of site, change of street scene
and loss of semidetached appearance.

1. RECOMMENDATION

1.1. is recommended to:

1.1.1. approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the
required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant
planning permission; and

1.1.2. agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regulation to:
¢ finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such

refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Director of
Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

e and issue the planning permission.
2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
2.1.This report considers a proposal to demolish the existing detached garage and

existing rear extension and the erection of a part single, part two storey rear
extension and two storey side extension.

107 1



2.3  The proposed development is acceptable in regards of its design and would
not cause any detrimental harm upon the character and appearance of the
dwelling itself or the wider street scene. The proposals would not cause any
detrimental impacts upon the amenity of any neighbouring dwellings, and nor
would the proposals cause any impacts in regard to drainage or ecology,
subject to conditions. As such the proposals are considered to comply with the
policies of the Oxford Local Plan, and the NPPF.

2.4  Officers consider that the proposals would be acceptable and that the
development would accord with the policies of the development plan when
considered as a whole and against the range of material considerations and
support the grant of planning permission.

2.5 It must be noted that amended plans were received during the course of the
application amending the design. The rear dormer and front roof light were
removed. It is these revised plans upon which the application is considered.
Due to the minor changes made and the reduction in scale of the proposals, it
was considered unnecessary to re-advertise the application.

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1. This application is not subject to a legal agreement.
4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
4.1.1. The proposal is not liable for CIL.

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1.The application property relates to 11 Glebelands, which is a two storey dwelling
located on the south -western side of Glebelands. The property was originally
semi detached, however, the other half of the semi detached pair, 37 Coverley
Road has extended (09/01855/FUL) with a two storey side extension and this is
now a separate dwelling 37a Coverley Road. As such the application dwelling is
now part of a short terrace. The property is finished in pebble dash render under
a hipped tiled roof. The property is set back from the road with an area of garden
and hardstanding to the front which is used for on-site parking. It currently benefits
from a garage to the side of the plot and a single storey rear extension.

5.2.The property is located on a corner at the intersection between Glebelands and
Coverley Road.

5.3. See block plan below:

108 2



{7y 2 EXISTING BLOCK PLAN
oo/ SCALE- 1:1200

© Crown Copyright and database right 2020.
Ordnance Survey 100019348

6. PROPOSAL

6.1. The application proposes to demolish the garage and rear extension and erect a
part single, part two storey side and rear extension

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1. The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site:

25/00081/FUL - Change of use from dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a house in
multiple occupation (Use Class C4). Insertion of 1no. window to rear elevation.
Provision of bin and cycle storage.. Approved 28th August 2025.

8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

8.1.The following policies are relevant to the application:

109 3



Topic National Local Plan
Planning
Policy
Framework

Design 131-141

DH1 - High quality design and

placemaking
Housing 61-84 H14 - Privacy, daylight and sunlight
Environmental 161-186, RE4 - Sustainable and foul drainage,
187-201 surface and groundwater flow

G2 - Protection of biodiversity geo-
diversity

RE7 - Managing the impact of
development

Transport 109-118 M3 — Motor vehicle parking

Miscellaneous 7-14 S1 - Sustainable development

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

9.1.Site notices were displayed around the application site on 24th April 2025.
Whilst amended plans were received during the course of the application, given
that the amendments removed the rear dormer and front roof light, there was no
need to re-advertise the application given the minor changes and overall reduction
in scale of the proposals.

Statutory and non-statutory consultees

Oxfordshire County Council (Highways)

9.2.No objection

Oxford Civic Society

9.3. Overdevelopment, poor design, inadequate information

Natural England

9.4. No objection is made subject to the design and maintenance of the proposed
Sustainable Drainage System (SuDS) being secured via planning condition.

Public representations

9.5. 11 local people commented on this application from addresses in Coverley
Road, Glebelands, Town Furze.

110 4



9.6.In summary, the main points of objection were:

e Site notice not property displayed in a visible or accessible location.
e This will be for an HMO but this is not mentioned on the application
e Negative impact on the character of the area from too many HMOs

e Substantial side and rear extension is proposed for 8 en-suite bedrooms.
Limited living or communal areas and no shared bathroom.
Overdevelopment of the site

e Out of character with neighbouring properties

e This is a quiet residential area with limited parking and local amenities
e Loss of family housing

e Disruption to families living next door

e Loftis an overdevelopment

e Loss of privacy/overlooking

e Impact on neighbouring gardens

e Inadequate amenity space for 9 adults

e Increased parking pressure

e The usual statement of no residential parking permits will be issued does not
take into account the fact that residents can go to work in their car before
9.00am and return after 5.00 and not be effected by the parking restrictions
leading to problems parking in evenings and weekends

e Additional pressure on antiquated water and sewage system

e The application 25/00081/FUL for a change of use from C3 (dwelling
houses) to C4 (small HMOs) indicates a shift in the property's intended use.
However, the current plans (25/00823/FUL) exceed the typical scope of a
C4 HMO

e Infilling the corner plot would impact the character of the area. Although
many other houses in the local area have been permitted to do this, it is
having a wider impact on the character of the neighbourhood's look and feel
with larger overbearing corner plot buildings

e Impact on Lye Valley

¢ Highway safety

Officer response

9.7. Where the above comments relate to material planning considerations
(including design concerns, impact on neighbouring amenity, flooding) these have
been considered in greater detail within the relevant sections of the officers
committee report below.

111 >



9.8. Concernsraised in regard to the lack of site notice/public consultation are noted.
However, officers visited the site on 24" April 2025 to put up site notices, both in
front of the application dwelling and in Coverley Road. A site visit was also
conducted on this date. In light of this, officers consider that the Council’s duty to
advertise the application in accordance with the Town and Country Planning
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 (as amended) has been
discharged.

9.9. Concerns regarding the potential conversion of the property to an HMO are
noted. Officers note that application 25/00081/FUL has gained permission for
‘Change of use from dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) to a house in multiple
occupation (Use Class C4)’. The current application seeks permission for a
residential extension only. A change of use to a large (Sui Generis) HMO would
be subject to a separate planning application, that would be judged on its individual
merits if that were to occur.

9.10. Concerns regarding the water and sewage system are not material planning
considerations which can be taken into account as part of the determination of this
application for extensions which will not materially impact the water and sewage
system. Nonetheless a SuDs strategy has been submitted which is assessed
further below

9.11. Concerns regarding taxis parking in front of a different property in the area are
noted. However this is not relevant to the current planning application and separate
regulatory regimes deal with taxi licensing.

9.12. Officers note concerns about noise. Separate regulatory regimes exist to deal
with noise concerns.

9.13. Officers note concerns about parking, highway safety and the residents permit scheme.
However, this is an application for a residential extension only.

10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

e Design

e Impact upon neighbouring amenity
e Drainage and impact upon SSSI

e Biodiversity

a. Design

10.2. Policy DH1 states that planning permission will only be granted for development

112 6



10.3.

10.4.

10.5.

10.6.

of high quality design that creates or enhances local distinctiveness, and where
proposals are designed to meet the key design objectives and principles for
delivering high quality development as set out in Appendix 6.

Glebelands comprises of two storey residential dwellings which are
predominantly arranged in pairs of semi-detached properties. There are
however detached properties located between these, and a few short terraces.
The orientation of properties on Glebelands also varies; predominantly they are
orientated parallel to the road, however on the corner plots there are pairs of
semis which are orientated diagonally, facing the junctions between the roads.
The application site is on a corner plot facing the junction between Glebelands
and Coverley Road.

It is proposed to erect a part single, part two storey side and rear extension. The
two storey side extension would extend for approximately 3.5m in width, would
be set back from the principal elevation by approximately 0.35m, would extend
for approximately 7.1m in depth, and would have a hipped roof which would be
set down from the main ridgeline by approximately 0.3m. Behind this, the two
storey element would step in from the side and wrap around the rear of the
property. It would extend for approximately 2.9m in depth, span approximately
4.1m in width, and would be set in from the side extension by approximately
1.8m. It would be sited away from the shared boundary with 37 Coverley Road
by approximately 2.9m. This extension would also have a hipped roof; set down
approximately 1m from the ridgeline of the side extension ridge. To the rear
there would also be a single storey element of the same depth as the two storey
rear extension which would extend to the shared boundary with 37 Coverley
Road. This would have a lean-to roof with an eaves height of approximately
3m, and the maximum height would be approximately 4m

Given the orientation at which the application site sits with the junction, it is
noted that the two storey side extension would be clearly visible from the
streetscene and would considerably close the space which is currently between
the site and No. 9 Glebelands to the south side. Officers have given
consideration to the other corner plots in the area which have similar
orientations to the road and placement within their plots and note that many
properties have already extended to the side. This includes 5 Glebelands, 1 and
2 Inott Furze, 46 Town Furze, 37 and 42 Coverley Road. Having regard to the
context of the site, the fact that the extension would be stepped back and down
from the host dwelling, and that it would have a hipped roof form to match the
existing, that on balance the extension would appear as a subservient addition
to the dwelling that would not be out of character with the local area. Although
the gap between the site and No. 9 would be reduced, it would not be totally lost
as there would still be a partial gap retained. Whilst this would be wider at the
front and closer towards the rear elevation, due to the angled nature of the
corner plot, the separation would be retained which on balance is considered to
ensure that the overall character of the area would not be eroded.

The two storey rear element would be set down and set in from the side
extension, and would not extend the full width of the property, being set away
from the neighbour at 37 Coverley Road. Combined with its hipped roof form,
officers consider that this element would appear as a subservient addition and

113 !



10.7.

10.8.

10.9.

10.10.

10.11.

10.12.

10.13.

would respect the character of the property. Similarly, the single storey element
would be modest in its size, appearing subservient to the host dwelling and
would be considered to relate appropriately to the other extensions. Importantly
when taking all the extensions as a whole, a small part of the original rear
elevation would remain legible so that the dwelling, along with the front
elevation) is not completely overwhelmed with extensions.

The extensions and works to the property would be finished in matching
materials to the existing property. As such it is considered that the extensions
would form an appropriate visual relationship with the dwelling and would not
be out of character in the locality.

It is appreciated that the proposed extensions would considerably enlarge the
property, nevertheless for the reasons set out above it is considered that they
are in this instance acceptable and would not result in any visual harm.

As such, the development would be considered to comply with Policy DH1 of
the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

b. Impact upon neighbouring amenity

Policy H14 states that planning permission will only be granted for new
development that provides reasonable privacy, daylight and sunlight for
occupants of both existing and new homes. Policy H14 also states that planning
permission will not be granted for any development that has an overbearing
effect on existing homes. Appendix 3.7 of the Oxford Local Plan sets out
guidelines for assessing the loss of sunlight and daylight using the 45/25 degree
code.

Policy RE7 states that planning permission will only be granted for development
that ensures that the amenity of communities, occupiers and neighbours is
protected.

The site is located between 9 Glebelands and 37 and 37a Coverley Road
9 Glebelands

9 Glebelands is a two storey detached property located to the south of the
application site. This dwelling is relatively deep having a depth of approximately
11m. The north side elevation that faces towards the application site does not
contain principal windows to habitable rooms. Due to the depth of this property
and its siting within the plot and the orientation of the site, with the application
dwelling to the northern side, when the 45 degree code of practice is applied to
ground and first floor front and rear openings serving the neighbouring property,
the proposal would not contravene this angle. As such it is considered that the
proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon the daylight afforded to the
neighbouring property. Furthermore, currently there is a garage along the
boundary with no. 9 which would be removed as part of the proposals and the
proposed extension would be sited further from the boundary, being between
approximately 1m-1.4m away at the closest points.

114 8



10.14.

10.15.

10.16.

10.17.

10.18.

10.19.

It is appreciated that as a result of the extensions the first floor of the property
would be located closer to the shared boundary with No.9 (noting the garage as
described above is at single storey level). Officers consider however that given
the stepped configuration of the extensions, the different orientations of the
properties, coupled with the fact that the proposal would not extend beyond the
rear of the neighbouring property, as well as the separation distance away from
the boundary at the closest points, that the proposal would not be overbearing
when experienced from the neighbouring occupiers, and would not detrimentally
impact upon outlook.

Two windows are proposed to be located on the side elevation of the property
at ground floor and a further window at first floor which would face towards the
neighbour. Given that these would be sited on the two storey side element and
due to the angled nature of the plots, they would face out towards the streets of
Glebelands rather than directly toward the neighbouring property itself. There
are two windows on the north facing elevation of 9 Glebelands but neither of
these serves a principal habitable room. Whilst it is appreciated that the
openings to the rear would be located closer to the boundary with the neighbour
in comparison to the existing situation, on balance Officers consider that the
openings would not introduce any new views compared to the existing situation
and would not be unusual in a residential setting such as this. It is considered
that the proposal would not result in any detrimental privacy impacts or
overlooking.  However, a condition is suggested to remove permitted
development rights for the insertion of any further windows or openings, in order
to protect neighbouring privacy.

37 Coverley Road

37 Coverley Road forms the other half of the semi detached pair and is a two
storey property located to the north of the application site. This property has
previously been extended with a part two storey part single storey side
extension to form a new dwelling; 37a Coverley Road. As such 37 Coverley
Road now is the middle of a short terrace of three dwellings. 37 Coverley Road
has a single storey rear extension.

The 45 degree angle test has been applied to the ground floor and first floor
rear openings and the proposal would not contravene any of these angles. It is
therefore considered that the proposal would not detrimentally impact upon the
daylight afforded to the neighbouring property.

The proposed single storey rear extension would adjoin the shared boundary
with 37 Coverley Road. Given that it would be a similar depth to the single
storey extension at 37 Coverley Road and because the first floor element would
be set off the boundary by approximately 3m, it is considered that the proposal
would not be overbearing when experienced from the neighbouring occupiers
dwelling, and would not detrimentally impact upon outlook.

Windows in the two storey extension face towards the rear. Whilst they would
be located further into the garden space, they would not introduce new views
over the existing situation and as such would not introduce any new views over
the existing situation. There are no openings proposed on the side elevation of

115 9



10.20.

10.21.

10.22.

10.23.

10.24.

10.25.

the extensions facing the neighbouring property. As such it is considered that
the proposal would not result in any detrimental privacy impacts or overlooking.
However, in order to ensure privacy, a condition is recommended to ensure no
further windows or openings are proposed.

37a Coverley Road

37a Coverley Road is a two storey end of terrace property located to the north
of the application site and separated from the application property by 37
Coverley Road. The majority of windows on this property face towards Coverley
Road.

The 45 degree angle test has been applied to the ground floor and first floor
rear openings serving the neighbouring property and the proposal would not
contravene this angle. As such it is considered that the proposal would not have
a detrimental impact upon the daylight afforded to the neighbouring property.

It is appreciated that as a result of the extensions the application property would
be located closer to the shared boundary. Officers consider however that given
the stepped configuration of the extensions and because the two storey element
would be located approximately 8m away from the shared boundary with the
neighbour, that the proposal would not be overbearing when experienced from
the neighbouring occupiers, and would not detrimentally impact upon outlook.

There are no openings proposed to the side of the extensions facing the
neighbouring property. Whilst it is appreciated to the rear that the openings
would be located closer to the boundary with the neighbour in comparison to
the existing situation, nevertheless Officers consider that the openings would
not introduce any new views compared to the existing situation.

All other properties are considered to be located a sufficient distance away so
as not to be affected by the proposals.

As such, the development would be considered to comply with Policies H14 and
RE7 of the Oxford Local Plan.

Drainage and impact upon SSSI

10.26.

10.27.

10.28.

Policy RE4 states that within the surface and groundwater catchment area for
the Lye Valley SSSI, development will only be permitted if it includes sustainable
drainage systems (SuDS) and where an assessment can demonstrate that
there will be no adverse impact on the surface and groundwater flow to the Lye
Valley SSSI. Policy G2 states that planning permission will not be granted for
any development that would have an adverse impact on sites of national or
international importance (SSSIs).

The site lies within the Lye Valley SSSI catchment for groundwater supply,
modified surface water runoff (via sewers and watercourses), and aquifer
recharge.

A revised drainage strategy including SuDS and a SuDS maintenance plan
have been submitted during the process of the application.

116 10



10.29.

10.30.

10.31.

10.32.

10.33.

10.34.

10.35.

10.36.

10.37.

10.38.

Natural England raise no objection subject to appropriate SuDS mitigation being
secured by condition.

The surface water proposal is for the roof runoff from the full roof area of the
property to be piped to a soakaway in the front garden, for infiltration into the
ground. On-site infiltration testing has been carried out, with an infiltration rate
of 3.5xE-05 m/s. Calculations allow for the 1:100 year storm event plus 40%
allowance for climate change. It has been established through on-site
investigation that groundwater is not found within 1m of the invert of the
soakaway. The soakaway location is shown on the submitted plan, with a
dimension showing the minimum 5m distance required to any building.

Officers note that the geocellular soakaway crates are available in standard unit
sizes and the applicant proposes non-standard dimensions, which are minimum
dimensions required. The Applicant therefore will likely need to provide a
soakaway with greater overall length and width dimensions in order to comply
with these minimum sizes, which would offer further betterment.

The proposed scheme does not include a basement or any structure at a depth
to interfere with groundwater flow, and therefore we consider that the
development will not impact on groundwater flow. A water quality assessment
is submitted to demonstrate that the groundwater quality would not be affected
by the proposals.

The scheme does not propose any outfall into the sewer network or directly into
a stream, and therefore there will be no increase in run-off peak discharge rates
or water quality via this route. The proposed development would therefore not
impact on the surface water runoff entering the Lye Valley via sewers and
watercourses.

The scheme proposes that all surface water will infiltrate into the ground, and
therefore it is considered that the recharge rates into the aquifer that feeds the
Lye Valley would not be affected by the development.

As such Officers are satisfied that the proposals would not adversely impact on
the hydrology of the Lye Valley SSSI, and that the requirements for the
management of surface water can be met through the management plan. The
SuDS and Management Plan can be secured by condition and a further
condition in relation to the size of the geocellular soakaway crates.

Comments made in with regard to sewerage capacity are noted. The Applicant
would likely need to get approval from Thames Water for any new bathrooms
proposed as it may require new connections into the existing systems.

Subject to a conditions, the proposed development would comply with Policies
RE4 and G2 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

c. Ecology

Policy G2 states that development that results in a net loss of sites and species
of ecological value will not be permitted. Compensation and mitigation
measures must offset any loss and achieve an overall net gain for biodiversity.

117 11



10.39. All species of bats and their roosts are protected under the Wildlife and

Countryside Act 1981 and The Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended). These laws make it an offence to deliberately
kill, injure or capture a bat; to damage, destroy or obstruct access to a breeding
or resting place; and to intentionally or recklessly disturb a bat while in a
structure or place of shelter or protection.

10.40. A preliminary ecological appraisal was submitted with the application in which

the existing building was assessed to be of negligible suitability for roosting bats
and no further surveys were recommended. No potential roosting features
(PRFs) were identified externally or internally.

10.41. Officers are satisfied that a robust assessment was undertaken and the

potential presence of protected habitats and species has been given due regard.

10.42. The Local Planning Authority, in exercising any of its functions, has a legal duty

10.43.

10.44.

to have regard to the requirements of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017, which identifies four main offences for development affecting
European Protected Species (EPS):

1. Deliberate capture, injuring or killing of an EPS

2. Deliberate disturbance of an EPS, including in particular any disturbance
which is likely

a) to impair their ability —

i) to survive, to breed or reproduce, or to rear or nurture their young;
or

i) in the case of animals of a hibernating or migratory species, to
hibernate or migrate; or b) to affect significantly the local distribution or
abundance of the species to which they belong.

3. Deliberate taking or destroying the eggs of an EPS
4. Damage or destruction of a breeding site or resting place of an EPS.

Officers are satisfied that European Protected Species are unlikely to be
harmed as a result of the proposals.

Subject to conditions to limit time on development before further surveys are
required and to secure ecological enhancement measures and informatives
reminding the applicant of their duty in relation to bats and wild birds, the
proposal would be considered to accord with Policy G2 of the Oxford Local Plan
2036 and the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 The Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), and the NPPF.

d. Other matters

118 12



10.45. Whilst neighbour objections are noted in relation to increased parking pressure
and highway safety, the application is for an extension to a residential dwelling
only. As such, the application would not materially change the parking demand or
requirements and the proposed on site parking is considered to be sufficient.

11. CONCLUSION

11.1. On the basis of the matters discussed in the report, officers would make
members aware that the starting point for the determination of this application is in
accordance with Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 which makes it clear that proposals should be assessed in accordance with
the development plan unless material consideration indicate otherwise

11.2. In the context of all proposals paragraph 11 of the NPPF requires that planning
decision apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This means
approving development that accord with an up-to-date development plan without
delay; or where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies
which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting
permission unless: the application of policies in the Framework that protect areas
or assets of particular importance provides a clear reasons for refusing the
development proposed; or any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the
Framework taken as a whole.

Compliance with development plan policies

11.3. Therefore it would be necessary to consider the degree to which the proposal
complies with the policies of the development plan as a whole and whether there
are any material considerations, such as the NPPF, which are inconsistent with
the result of the application of the development plan as a whole.

11.4. In summary the proposed development is acceptable in regards of its design
and would not cause any detrimental harm upon the character and appearance of
the dwelling itself or the streetscene of Glebelands. The proposals would not
cause any detrimental impacts upon the amenity of any neighbouring dwellings,
and nor would the proposals cause any impacts in relation to drainage or ecology.
As such the proposals are considered to comply with the policies of the Oxford
Local Plan, and the NPPF.

11.5. Itis recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission for
the development proposed subject to conditions.

12. CONDITIONS
Time Limit
e. The development to which this permission relates must be begun no later than the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans

119 13



2. The development referred to shall be constructed strictly in complete accordance with

the specifications in the application and the submitted plans.

Reason: To avoid doubt as no objection is raised only in respect of the deemed consent
application as submitted and to ensure an acceptable development as indicated on the
submitted drawings in accordance with Policy S1 of the Oxford Local Plan.

Materials as specified

3. The materials to be used in the proposed development shall be as specified in the

application hereby approved. There shall be no variation in these materials without the
prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that the development is visually satisfactory as required by Policy
DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Remove PD for any further windows/openings

4

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015, no additional windows, doors or openings shall be placed
in the side elevation(s) of the extension hereby permitted without the prior written
consent of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining occupiers in accordance with
policy H14 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

Time limit on development before further surveys are required

5

If the development hereby approved does not commence by August 2026, further
ecological survey(s) shall be commissioned to establish if there have been any
changes in the presence of roosting bats, and identify any likely new ecological impacts
that might arise from any changes. The results of the survey(s) shall be submitted to
the local planning authority

Where the survey results indicate that changes have occurred that will result in
impacts not previously addressed in the approved scheme, a mitigation and
compensation scheme will be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority prior to the commencement of development. Works will then
be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme, under licence from
Natural England.

Reason: To ensure bats are protected in accordance with The Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended) and The Wildlife and Countryside Act
1981 (as amended).

Ecological Enhancements

6

Prior to occupation of the development, details of ecological enhancement measures
including at least one bat roosting device, one bee brick and one swift nesting device
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. Details
must include the proposed specifications, locations, and arrangements for any required

120 14



maintenance. The approved devices shall be fully constructed under the oversight of a
suitably qualified ecologist prior to occupation of the approved development Any new
fencing will include holes suitable for the safe passage of hedgehogs. The approved
devices and fencing holes shall be maintained and retained in perpetuity unless
otherwise approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To enhance biodiversity in Oxford City in accordance with paragraph 187 of
the National Planning Policy Framework.

Drainage

7. The development shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the proposed
drainage strategy and plans listed below. The Sustainable Drainage (SuDS)
measures shall be in place prior to first occupation as an House of Multiple
Occupation and thereafter retained and maintained in accordance with the SuDS
Maintenance Plan:

e Wilsham Consulting letter, revision C, dated 23/10/25

e 76/SK101/11, rev B -Surface Water Drainage Plan

e 876, rev C, dated 23/10/25 - Soakaway calculations "front soakaway"
e 876/SK100/11, rev C - Infiltration Crate Soakaway sketch

e SuDS Quality Assessment sheet.

8. Prior to installation of the geocellular soakaway crates, details of larger standard
sized geocellular soakaway crates that exceed the minimum geocellular soakaway
crate measurements set out in the approved drainage strategy under condition 7
and which shall be at the same depth as set out in the approved drainage strategy
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Only
the approved details shall be installed prior to fist occupation as a House of Multiple
Occupation.

Informatives

1 In accordance with guidance set out in the National Planning Policy Framework,
the Council tries to work positively and proactively with applicants towards
achieving sustainable development that accords with the Development Plan and
national planning policy objectives. This includes the offer of pre-application
advice and, where reasonable and appropriate, the opportunity to submit
amended proposals as well as time for constructive discussions during the
course of the determination of an application. However, development that is not
sustainable and that fails to accord with the requirements of the Development
Plan and/or relevant national policy guidance will normally be refused. The
Council expects applicants and their agents to adopt a similarly proactive
approach in pursuit of sustainable development.

121 15



13.

14.

All species of bats and their roosts are protected under The Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and
Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). Please note that, among other
activities, it is a criminal offence to deliberately Kill, injure or capture a bat; to
damage, destroy or obstruct access to a breeding or resting place; and to
intentionally or recklessly disturb a bat while in a structure or place of shelter or
protection. Occasionally bats can be found during the course of development
even when the site appears unlikely to support them. In the event that this
occurs, work should stop immediately and advice should be sought from a
suitably qualified ecologist. A European Protected Species Mitigation Licence
(EPSML) may be required before works can resume.

All wild birds, their nests and young are protected under The Wildlife and
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended). Occasionally nesting birds can be found
during the course of development even when the site appears unlikely to
support them. If any nesting birds are present then the buildings works should
stop immediately and advice should be sought from a suitably qualified
ecologist.

APPENDICES

e Appendix 1 — Site location plan

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

14.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in

15.

reaching a recommendation to [approve/refuse] this application. They consider
that the interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article
1 of Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and
freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance
with the general interest.

SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998

15.1. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on

the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In
reaching a recommendation to [grant/refuse] planning permission, officers
consider that the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of
community.

122 16



ecl

T00M

< ) EXISTING BLOCK PLAN
SCALE- 1:1200

10M

www.oxliving.co.uk

DESCRIPTION

PLANNING

STATUS
P

GENERAL NOTES:

THIS DRAWING IS FOR PLANNING USE ONLY DO NOT
USE THIS DRAWING FOR ANY PURPOSE OTHER THAN
FOR WHICH IT WAS ISSUED. STRUCTURAL DESIGN AND
BUILDING CONTROL APPROVAL IS REQUIRED BEFORE
CONSTRUCTION COMMENCES. THIS DRAWING IS
SUBJECT TO COPYRIGHT DO NOT REPRODUCE THIS
DRAWING WITHOUT PRIOR PERMISSION.

SITE PROPOSED WORK
HHA- DOUBLE SIDE, PART SINGLE PART DOUBLE REAR
11 GLEBELANDS, Oxford OX3 7EL Date Project number Scale (@ A3)
03/03/2025 OXL- 2503 1:1250
SHEET Drawn by DRAWING NUMBER REV
AB
LOCATION PLAN Checked by

AB

OXL-2503-001




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 7

Application number: 25/01749/FUL

Decision due by 6th October 2025

Extension of time 28" November 2025

Proposal Provision of cycle storage (part-retrospective).

Site address 8 Dunstan Road, Oxford, Oxfordshire, OX3 9BY — see
Appendix 1 for site plan

Ward Headington Ward

Case officer Hannah Calow

Agent: Ms And Mr Mary  Applicant: Ms and Mr Mary
And Michael and Michael
Clarkson And Clarkson and
Tappin Tappin

Reason at Committee The application has been submitted by a Councillor.

1. RECOMMENDATION
1.1. Oxford City Planning Committee is recommended to:

1.1.1. approve the application for the reasons given in the report and subject to the
required planning conditions set out in section 12 of this report and grant
planning permission; and

1.1.2. agree to delegate authority to the Director of Planning and Regulation to:

e finalise the recommended conditions as set out in this report including such
refinements, amendments, additions and/or deletions as the Head Director
of Planning and Regulation considers reasonably necessary.

2, EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1.This report considers the retrospective erection of a cycle storage shed with the
curtilage of a Grade Il listed building and within the Old Headington Conservation
Area.

2.2. Officers conclude that the proposed development is acceptable with regards to its
design, its impact on the significance of designated heritage assets, and that it
meets policy requirements for cycle storage. Overall, the proposal is considered to
be in accordance with policies S1, DH1, DH3 and M5 of the Oxford Local Plan,
and policies GSP4, CIP1, CIP3 and TRP5 of the Headington Neighbourhood

125 1



Development Plan 2032. Due regard has been given to the statutory duties set
out in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

3. LEGAL AGREEMENT

3.1.This application is not subject to a legal agreement.
4. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
4.1.The proposal is not liable for CIL.

5. SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

5.1.8 Dunstan Road is a detached property located on the northern side of Dunstan
Road with the front (southwest) stone elevation immediately abutting the
pavement. There is a walled garden to the rear and a large field beyond the garden
which is within the ownership of the applicants.

5.2.The property is in the northwestern corner of Old Headington Conservation Area
and the building is of significance being Grade Il Listed.

5.3.Opposite 8 Dunstan Road is another Grade Il Listed building known as Manor
Farmhouse. The two buildings are prominent in the streetscape and together
create an important pinch point on Dunstan Road that acts as an arrival point for
the built-up part of the village.

5.4.To the north of 8 Dunstan Road is a group of five houses (10 — 18 Dunstan Road)
designed by Ahrends, Burton and Koralek in the 1960’s. The houses are described
as being the most controversial buildings in the Old Headington Conservation Area
due to the experimental architecture employed. However they are set back from
the road and are partially hidden by a front boundary wall with only the roof profiles
visible.

5.5.8 Dunstan Road, originally known as Lower Farm, is noted as a positive building
within the Dunstan Road character area. As a Grade Il Listed building, the property
possesses historic and architectural special interest which is largely derived from
its historic character and appearance as a vernacular farmhouse which is a
reminder of the rural character of Old Headington.

5.6.See block plan below:

126



ETHELRED coumy > ' Sty

© Crown'Copyright alnd' database ‘right 2020.
Ordnance Survey 100019348

6. PROPOSAL

6.1. The application seeks retrospective permission for the installation of a cycle shed
to the rear of the property, which contains two steel Sheffield cycle stands.

7. RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

7.1.The table below sets out the relevant planning history for the application site:

01/00765/L - Listed building consent for external alterations and additions
including new dormers and roof lights on rear roof slopes; insertion of rooflights
on front roof slopes; new roof on outbuilding; bay window, conservatory and
loggia on rear elevation; replacement of existing windows and relocation of front
door. Internal alterations including removal of existing staircase and internal
partitions and wall and installation of new stair case.. PER 12th December 2001.

01/00766/NFH - Alterations and additions including the insertion of new dormers
on rear roof slopes, new roof on outbuildings and bay window, conservatory and
loggia on rear elevation.. PER 12th December 2001.

127 3



02/01597/LBC - Listed Building consent for formation of opening in rear garden
wall and installation of new steel gates and stone steps. Setting back of
vehicular entrance gates.. PER 1st November 2002.

02/01598/FUL - Planning permission for formation of opening in rear garden wall
and installation of new steel gates and stone steps. Setting back of vehicular
entrance gates.. PER 1st November 2002.

06/00596/FUL - Erection of two outbuildings. PER 2nd June 2006.

24/01468/FUL - Erection of a single storey rear infill extension. Removal of 1no.
window and 1no. door. Insertion of 4no. windows and formation of stone
thresholds to the rear elevation.. PER 24th October 2024.

24/01469/LBC - Reconfiguration of internal areas to include the reduction in size
of the ground floor entrance lobby, relocation of a door opening into the TV room
and refurbishment of the kitchen including floor finishes. Floor to be part
excavated for floor build-up. New internal door openings. Insertion of a structural
steel beam.. PER 5th November 2024.

24/02339/FUL - Erection of a glasshouse to rear.. PER 18th December 2024.
24/02364/LBC - Erection of a glasshouse to rear.. WDN 26th November 2024.

24/02339/CND - Details submitted in compliance with condition 3 (Materials) of
planning permission 24/02339/FUL.. PER 11th March 2025.

8. RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY

8.1.The following policies are relevant to the application:

National Local Plan Neighbourhood Plans:
Planning

Policy
Framework
Design 131-141

DH1 — High quality design GSP4 - Protection of the
and placemaking setting of the site

CIP1 - Development respect
existing local character

Conservation/  B{y2rar; DH3 — Designated heritage
Heritage assets

Transport 109-118 M5 — Bicycle Parking TRPS5 - Cycling

[\ EGECITE 7-14 S1 - Sustainable
development

9. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

128 4



9.1. Site notices were displayed around the application site on 19th August 2025 and
an advertisement was published in The Oxford Times newspaper on 16th October
2025.

Statutory and non-statutory consultees

Friends of Old Headington

9.2.No response received

Headington Action

9.3.No response received.

Central North Headington Residents' Association

9.4.No response received.

Barton Community Association

9.5.No response received.
Public representations
9.6.No public representations were received.
10. PLANNING MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS
10.1. Officers consider the determining issues to be:

e Design and Heritage Impact

e Cycle Storage

Design and Heritage Impact

10.2. Policy DH1 states that planning permission will only be granted for development
of high-quality design that creates or enhances local distinctiveness.

10.3. Policy DHS states that permission will only be granted for development affecting
a designated heritage asset if it is demonstrated that due regard has been given
to the impact upon the asset’s significance and its setting and that it is
demonstrated that the significance of the asset and its conservation has informed
the design of the proposed development.

10.4. Paragraph 205 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset 'great
weight' should be given to the heritage assets' conservation. This is irrespective of
whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than
substantial harm to its significance (para -205). Any harm to, or loss of, the
significance of a designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or

129 S



from development within its setting), should require clear and convincing
justification (para 206).

10.5. Development proposals that would lead to substantial harm or result in total loss
of the significance of a designated heritage asset should be refused unless it can
be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm (para -207).

10.6. Where development would lead to less than substantial harm to the significance
of a designated heritage asset that harm should be weighed against any public
benefits the proposed development may offer, including securing its optimum
viable use (para -208).

10.7. Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 require local planning authorities in considering whether to grant planning
permission for development that affects a listed building or its setting or that affects
the character or appearance of a conservation area to have special regard to the
desirability of preserving a listed building or its setting or any features of special
architectural or historic interest which it possesses and to pay special attention to
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of any
conservation area respectively.

10.8. The scale of the shed is very small, and its design is unobtrusive. The materials
are lightweight and the structure removable in the future if necessary. Itis located
near to a boundary wall; this wall is clearly of modern construction and is not
considered to be of any heritage significance. Its location to the rear of the property
also hides it in views from the public realm. The modest appearance of the shed
coupled with the 15.7m approximate distance from the rear of listed building would
not result in any harm to the setting of the listed building.

10.9. As such, there is not considered to be any harm to the significance of the listed
building or its setting, nor the wider conservation area as a result of the proposals.

10.10. Overall, the proposal is considered to be compliant with Policies DH1 and DH3
of the Oxford Local Plan, the NPPF and Policies GSP4 and CIP1 of the Headington
Neighbourhood Development Plan. In coming to this view great weight has been
given to the significance of the heritage assets in line with statutory duties set out
in the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

Cycle Storage

10.11. Policy M5 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 states that bicycle parking should be,
well designed and well-located, convenient, secure, covered (where possible
enclosed) and provide level, unobstructed external access to the street.

10.12. The cycle parking is located within the gravel parking area to the rear of the
property. It is easily accessible from the street and well-located for residents of 8
Dunstan Road.

130 6



10.13. The cycle parking is made from a wooden timber frame with a green sedum
roof. It is not enclosed, however the parking area for the property is gated,
therefore it is considered to be adequately secure.

10.14. The shelter contains two Sheffield stands, which would provide space for up to
4 bicycles.

10.15. Overall, the proposed cycle parking is considered to be compliant with Policy
M5 of the Oxford Local Plan and Policy TRP5 of the Headington Neighbourhood
Development Plan.

11. CONCLUSION

11.1. In summary, the proposed development would not cause detrimental harm to
the design and visual amenity of the host dwelling or the wider locality, in
compliance with Policy DH1 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and Policy CIP1 of the
Headington Neighbourhood Plan 2032. The proposal would not cause harm to the
significance of the listed building or its setting, nor the wider conservation area as
a result of the proposal in compliance with Policy DH2 of the Oxford Local Plan
2036, Policy GSP4 of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan, the NPPF and due
regard has been given to the statutory duties set out in the Planning (Listed
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. Finally, the proposal provides cycle
storage which is in compliance with Policy M5 of the Oxford Local Plan 2036 and
Policy TRP5 of the Headington Neighbourhood Plan 2032.

11.2. Therefore, officers consider that the proposal would accord with the
development plan as a whole.

11.3. Itis recommended that the Committee resolve to grant planning permission for
the development proposed subject to the conditions set out in section 12 of this
report.

12. CONDITIONS
Time limit

1 The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91(1) of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 as amended by the Planning Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Development in accordance with approved plans
2 The development permitted shall be constructed in complete accordance with
the specifications in the application and approved plans listed below, unless

otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority.

Reason: To avoid doubt and to ensure an acceptable development as
indicated on the submitted drawings in accordance with policies DH1 and DH2
of the Oxford Local Plan 2036.

131 4



13. APPENDICES

e Appendix 1 — Site location plan

14. HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

14.1. Officers have considered the implications of the Human Rights Act 1998 in
reaching a recommendation to [approve/refuse] this application. They consider
that the interference with the human rights of the applicant under Article 8/Article
1 of Protocol 1 is justifiable and proportionate for the protection of the rights and
freedom of others or the control of his/her property in this way is in accordance
with the general interest.

15. SECTION 17 OF THE CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 1998

15.1. Officers have considered, with due regard, the likely effect of the proposal on
the need to reduce crime and disorder as part of the determination of this
application, in accordance with section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. In
reaching a recommendation to [grant/refuse] planning permission, officers
consider that the proposal will not undermine crime prevention or the promotion of
community.

132 8



N f
— A =Y

200m

100m
] i
80m Ruskin Hall
b ‘ . (Ruskin College)
. Manlrle:arm : ";-.._{-'"?,'.:.,‘A\\‘.‘i 1
—I - ) House / .‘: \ 4=
60m ‘ . v =S
\ (e -
40m ] L /
/ Orchard End "’/} ) -'
20 B , / == £ X
RN = - i '._.. A /’ //"r (’ = {ILj J — ",’ [ ) >
— - : ’7b ' ‘1{ f ‘ [ Southway | / [,/ PN
— B - saststres 5 - ] | .
20m 40m 60m 80m 120m 140m 160m 180m 220m 240m 260m 280m
Om 100m 200m
Scale 1:1250 (@ A3 size)
fJR \_., Ordnonce

LOWER FARM, 8 DUNSTAN ROAD, OXFORD OX3 9BY - LOCATION PLAN

Licensed Mapping

© Crown copyright and database rights 2024 OS 100054135. Map area bounded by: 454010,207715
454292,207997. Produced on 22 June 2024 from the OS National Geographic Database. Supplied by
UKPlanningMaps.com. Unique plan reference: p8f/uk/1115616/1501314

client scale  1:1250 @ A3 | drawing title

Mary Clarkson

Michael Tappin date  294uy2025 | LOCATION PLAN
project Farawing no.

LOWER FARM, 8 DUNSTAN ROAD, 8DR(LP)001
HEADINGTON, OXFORD, OX3 9BY REVISIONNG T T T T T T T

133




This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	The following minimum standards of practice will be followed:
	Public requests to speak
	Written statements from the public
	Exhibiting model and displays at the meeting
	Recording meetings
	Meeting Etiquette

	3 Minutes
	4 24/02890/FUL Hertford and Exeter College Playing Fields
	Hertford and Exeter College Sports Grounds Appendix 1 - Site Location Plan
	SL-1 rev D-LOCATION PLAN AND EXISTING SITE LAYOUT PLAN 
	1/L-2



	5 25/02197/FUL 15 Halliday Hill
	15 Halliday Hill Appendix 1 - Location Plan

	6 25/00823/FUL 11 Glebelands
	11 Glebelands Appendix 1 - Location Plan

	7 25/01749/FUL 8 Dunstan Road
	8 Dunstan Road Appendix 1 - Location Plan




